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Financial Highlights

%
MBRE I

RESULTS E
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—TE-FTFE T —ET-C — T - =% Eetdaif:d

RMB'000O ~ RMB000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000 IV
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARRTT Gk

Revenue WA 1,594,568 1,768,762 2,018,348 1,879,443 1,748,321
Gross profit EF 137,288 154,998 139,568 141,406 131,341
Profit before tax bR % B s 29,697 39,394 46,958 43,793 36,576
Profit for the year F R 22,597 31,300 33,099 30,183 27,372
Profit attributable to owners VNG =N

of the Company J& 5 % 23,030 31,410 33,173 30,745 27,313

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERARE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
TECEFE —TE-—fF —T--F —T-=F ekl

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 SYI=Eelll  RMB’000
ARBTIT ARBFT AR®FTIT ARE®ETT BNEES

Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBeSEEY 281,483 300,350 229,253 252,572 272,665
Total assets BELE 2221143 2290208 2288592 2325983 2,157,090
Total liabilities BEBE 1,338,668 1,376,433 1,341,718 1348926 1,152,661
Total equity R B 882,475 913,775 946,874 977,057 1,004,429
Equity attributable to owners AR RHA A
of the Company JE 15 7 & 875,642 907,052 940,225 970,970 998,283
KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS FTEHKLER
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-TFE —T-— —E-C —E-= —E-ME
Gross margin (%) EME(%) 8.6% 8.8% 6.9% 7.5% 7.5%
Net profit margin (%) B % (%) 1.4% 1.8% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6%
Gearing ratio BB 0.78 0.76 0.71 0.70 0.55
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Chanhigh Holdings
Limited, | am pleased to present the audited financial results of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The year 2024 marked the conclusion of the “14th Five-Year
Plan,” a period during which China’s economy continued to
explore a path of high-quality development amidst a complex
and ever-changing international environment. Faced with
multiple challenges such as sluggish global economic recovery,
escalating geopolitical conflicts, and a volatile international
trade environment, the Chinese government adhered to the
principle of seeking progress while maintaining stability.
Through a series of policy measures, the government promoted
the optimization and upgrading of the economic structure,
laying a solid foundation for long-term sustainable
development. The construction industry, amid fierce market
competition and industry differentiation, faced significant
challenges, with industry concentration further increasing and
corporate survival pressures notably rising. In this context, the
construction sector, as a crucial pillar of the national economy,
continued to play a key role in stabilizing growth, adjusting
structures, and promoting transformation. Under the strong
leadership of the Board and the management team, the Group
actively responded to market changes, explored new
development paths, and accelerated the transition towards
green, intelligent, and digital transformation, which became the
main theme of industry development.

In 2024, under the strong leadership of the Board and the
management team, the Group closely aligned with national
strategic deployments, focusing on “innovation-driven and green
development” as the core, comprehensively promoting
corporate transformation, upgrading, and high-quality
development. On one hand, the Group continued to deepen its
presence in traditional infrastructure sectors, optimized resource
allocation, improved project management efficiency, maintained
market advantages, and stabilized its core business.
Simultaneously, the Group actively expanded into emerging
fields such as new infrastructure, green building, and smart
cities, exploring new growth points and driving the optimization
and upgrading of its business structure. Despite facing
pressure from declining output value, the Group significantly
mitigated the adverse effects of the external environment by
strengthening internal management, reducing costs, increasing
efficiency, and enhancing technological capabilities. On the
other hand, the Group, with “market expansion and internal
management strengthening” as dual engines and “technological
innovation and talent-driven” as support, continuously improved
its internal management system, enhanced operational
efficiency, and strived to create a more synergistic and efficient
development framework.
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In recent years, competition in the construction industry has
intensified, and industry differentiation has become more
pronounced. To cope with the increasingly severe market
environment, the Group, while consolidating its traditional
business, actively expanded into strategic emerging fields such
as water conservancy projects, ecological environmental
protection, and new energy infrastructure. The Group’s
associated company specializing in water conservancy and
hydropower business, leveraging its excellent project
management capabilities and technological innovation
strengths, once again achieved a 3A credit rating from the
Ministry of Water Resources, further enhancing its brand
influence and market competitiveness. Additionally, the Group
optimized its talent structure, improved its industrial chain
layout, deepened regional cooperation, and worked to broaden
market channels and optimize its business structure,
accumulating strength for future development.

In 2025, the Group will face new challenges and create new
opportunities with a more resilient attitude and flexible
strategies. Although the road ahead is filled with uncertainties,
the Group will steadfastly adhere to the development
philosophy of seeking progress while maintaining stability and
innovation-driven growth, striving to achieve the goals of the
“14th Five-Year Plan,” laying a solid foundation for the
long-term development of the enterprise, and creating greater
value for shareholders and society.

Peng Tianbin
Chairman and Executive Director

28 March 2025

Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

INDUSTRY AND BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the downward pressure on the real estate industry
persisted, and the survival environment for construction
enterprises, especially small and medium-sized ones, became
more challenging. Against the backdrop of the deepening
“14th Five-Year Plan,” national policies continued to focus on
high-quality economic development, with infrastructure
investment further increasing. New infrastructure, green
building, and smart city construction became key development
directions. At the same time, the digital transformation of the
construction industry accelerated, industry concentration
continued to rise, market competition intensified, and enterprise
differentiation became more pronounced. Despite the complex
and volatile external environment, with the implementation of
various economic stabilization policies, construction enterprises
still encountered new development opportunities. The specific
details are as follows:

. Steady Growth in Construction Industry Output Value

According to the National Bureau of Statistics’ 2024
National Economic and Social Development Statistical
Bulletin, the total output value of the national construction
industry reached RMB32.7 trillion, an increase of 3.9%
over the previous year. The construction area of buildings
nationwide was 13.68 billion square meters, a decrease
of 10.6% year-on-year. The added value of the
construction industry for the year was RMB9.0 trillion, an
increase of 3.8% over the previous year. Despite the
continued downturn in the real estate industry, the total
output value of the construction industry maintained
steady growth, and the industry’s pillar status in the
national economy remained firm.
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TEREEERE

qumi FHETETTBRAKATE &
EELEF LERPNDAURECXERNETR
REMEK - E[THRIRSRAHEENS =

T BEERBRFERELESLERR  ARR
BIRENEE—FNK > #EE  RERENE

BWMHER Wﬁégﬁ?‘)ﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁilﬁtﬂﬁﬁ £

%%(%Miﬁubﬂiﬂﬁiﬁ TEERERFER
M5 E S E AR m% LB EE— B -
1§ SNEBIRIRIENE S 15555%’“5?5%%/@&

HEHE M BRELRDDRNEREE
HEBBRmT

BEXMEERTEH

BEBRGARBEMN S _NFHEARE
BEMAERGT AR 2RELRELE
EREREMEEBARENRTEET
FIERE39% HEREFEFEEKETIE

£136.8BF H K » AL TF106% ' &2F
EEERENEAREIOERE T t LFIE

R38% - BERBHETERFETIT B2
¥REBNRBIEEE BEREEBRR
IR )T AR ERE o



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

According to statistics, the total profits of qualified
general contracting and specialized contracting
construction enterprises nationwide in 2024 were
RMB751.3 billion, a decrease of 9.8% over the previous
year. Among them, the profits of state-controlled
enterprises were RMB366.9 billion, a decrease of 8.7%. In
June 2024, the number of construction enterprises
nationwide reached 152,000, an increase of 8.7% year-
on-year, indicating further intensification of market
competition. The total value of new contracts signed by
the eight major central construction enterprises in 2024
was RMB16.4 trillion, an increase of 6.9% year-on-year,
accounting for 50.0% of the overall construction market,
reflecting the continued increase in industry concentration
and the more prominent market dominance of leading
enterprises.

According to the Fifth National Economic Census Bulletin
released in December 2024, as of the end of 2023, the
number of employees in construction enterprises was
approximately 51.16 million, a decrease of 11.9%
compared to the end of 2018. The total annual real estate
investment decreased by 10.6%, and various data in the
real estate industry continued to show a downward trend.
The growth in the number of construction enterprises
contrasted sharply with the decrease in the number of
employees, further highlighting the difficulty in labor
supply and the increasing survival pressure on small and
medium-sized construction enterprises. However, with
policy support, the trend of the construction market tilting
towards infrastructure became more evident. In 2024,
national fixed asset investment increased by 3.2% over
the previous year, with infrastructure investment growing
by 4.4%, becoming an important driver of construction
industry growth.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENWR DN (&)

10

Construction Industry Business Activity Index
Rebounds

According to the construction industry business activity
index for the vyear, the industry showed a trend of
continuous decline followed by a fluctuating rebound,
reflecting the resilience of the construction industry in a
complex economic environment. In December 2024, the
construction industry business activity index was 53.2%,
an increase of 3.5% month-on-month but a decrease of
3.7% year-on-year. The annual average remained in the
high expansion range, indicating that the construction
industry maintained a strong expansion momentum
despite macroeconomic pressures. The rebound in the
new orders index, employment index, and business
activity expectations index indicated a recovery in market
demand. Overall, driven by both policy support and
market demand, the construction industry maintained
strong resilience. The continuous push in infrastructure
investment provided significant support for the
construction industry, but the downturn in the real estate
industry and labor supply challenges remained key issues
for the sector.

Smart Construction Drives Industry Transformation and
Upgrading

This year marks the conclusion of the “14th Five-Year
Plan” and the formulation of the “15th Five-Year Plan.” In
2024, the construction industry made significant progress
in the field of smart construction. With the deep
integration of new-generation information technology and
the construction industry, smart construction has become
an important direction for industry transformation and
upgrading. The aging problem in the construction
industry remains severe, with challenges such as labor
shortages and high labor costs persisting. Smart
construction, through the application of digital and
intelligent technologies, provides new solutions for the
industry. Smart construction not only optimizes various
stages of building construction but also simplifies
construction processes through factory prefabrication and
on-site assembly, significantly improving construction
efficiency. The widespread application of intelligent robots
and automated equipment further enhances the
automation level of construction, improves workers’
working environments, and effectively alleviates labor
supply issues in the construction industry.

CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED &8#ZRERAF
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

In 2024, the “14th Five-Year Plan” continued to guide the
construction industry towards green and intelligent
development. Industry leaders, through resource
integration and technological innovation, further increased
market concentration, intensifying competitive pressures
and accelerating the survival of the fittest. In this context,
enterprises must focus on high-quality development,
relying on innovation, technology, and talent as driving
forces to accelerate the transition to smart construction.
By integrating design, research and development,
production, and construction resources across the
industrial chain, the “construction industry+” model, which
combines smart construction and smart building, has
become a new path for enterprise transformation.
Emerging fields such as smart construction, green
building, and digital management present new
opportunities and challenges for construction enterprises.

In the future, with the continuous maturation and
application of smart construction technologies, the
construction industry will undergo more profound
changes. Enterprises need to closely follow technological
development trends, actively embrace digital
transformation, and enhance efficiency, reduce costs, and
strengthen competitiveness through smart construction,
thereby securing a favorable position in the fierce market
competition and injecting new momentum into the
sustainable development of the industry.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

12

Policy Dividends Boost Water Conservancy
Construction

In 2024, the state continued to thoroughly implement the
“14th Five-Year Plan,” comprehensively advancing the
rural revitalization strategy and further increasing support
for agricultural, rural, and water conservancy
infrastructure construction. The Central Document No. 1
explicitly proposed accelerating the construction of
modern water conservancy facilities and promoting high-
quality development of water conservancy, injecting
strong momentum into the water conservancy engineering
market. In 2024, national water conservancy construction
investment is expected to exceed RMB1.3 trillion,
reaching a new historical high, making water
conservancy projects an important tool for stabilizing
growth and benefiting people’s livelihoods. Leveraging its
municipal, construction, and water conservancy and
hydropower qualifications, as well as its comprehensive
capabilities in undertaking large-scale infrastructure
projects, the Group actively seized policy dividends and
deeply participated in national water conservancy
projects. The Group’s associated company specializing in
water conservancy and hydropower business maintained
its 3A credit rating from the Ministry of Water Resources,
further consolidating its competitive advantage in the
water conservancy and hydropower market, aligning
closely with national industrial development layouts.

In terms of technological innovation, the Group actively
responded to the national call for promoting the deep
integration of the construction industry with new-
generation information technology, accelerating its layout
in smart water conservancy and smart construction. The
Group’s technology sector made breakthrough progress in
projects such as building structure monitoring and water
conservancy and hydropower smart monitoring, gaining
practical experience in applying cutting-edge
technologies such as big data, the Internet of Things,
and artificial intelligence to engineering projects. In 2024,
the Group closely followed market trends, further
expanded its business scope, and achieved new
breakthroughs in green building, smart cities, and
ecological environmental protection, presenting a positive
development trend with higher project quality, greater
technological content, and stronger market
competitiveness.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

In the future, the Group will continue to be guided by
national strategies, deepen its presence in the water
conservancy engineering market, strengthen technological
innovation-driven development, and promote the
transformation and upgrading of its business towards
high-quality, intelligent, and green development,
contributing greater strength to the realization of rural
revitalization and high-quality water conservancy
development.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the vyear, the annual revenue of the Group was
approximately RMB1,748.3 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 7.0% over last year. The revenue was mainly
generated from: 1) landscape construction, 2) municipal works
construction, 3) building works, and 4) others, and accounted
for 5.6%, 46.4%, 45.2% and 2.8%, respectively.

In 2024, the Group successfully received more than 10
corporate honors, including the National Water Conservancy
Construction Market Credit Entity AA Rating, Engineering
Construction Integrity Model Enterprise, Zhejiang Province
“Contract-Honoring and Creditworthy” AAA Rating, Zhejiang
Province Private Enterprise Economic Headquarters Enterprise
Honor, Ningbo City Green Space Adoption and Management
QOutstanding Unit, Ningbo City Top 100 Service Enterprises
(47th place), Ningbo City Top 100 Competitive Enterprises
(83rd place), Yinzhou District Outstanding Construction
Enterprise, and Yinzhou District “Great Tripod” High-Quality
Development Award. Nine projects won the Zhejiang Province
“Qianjiang Cup” Quality Engineering Award, Zhejiang Province
Safety Production Standardized Construction Site, Zhoushan
City “Haishan Cup” Quality Engineering Award, Ningbo City
“Camellia Cup” Excellent Landscape Engineering Gold Award,
Ningbo City Structure Quality Award, and Ningbo City Municipal
(Landscape, Rail) Engineering Safety Production Standardized
Management Site. One project won the Ningbo City “Six Haves
and One Good” Red Construction Site “Construction Pioneer”
title. The Group added three invention patents. The Yinzhou
District Craftsman Innovation Studio was established. One QC
achievement won the “Ningbo Construction Cup” Excellent
Quality Management Group Achievement First Prize and the
Zhejiang Province Municipal Industry Association Excellent
Quality Management Group Achievement Release First Prize. By
focusing on creating “quality projects” and “standardized
construction sites,” the Group rigorously improved project
quality management and technological innovation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company believes that risk management is essential to the
Group’s efficient and effective operation. The Company’s
management assists the Board in evaluating material risk
exposure existing in the Group’s business, including investment
risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk etc., and participates in
formulating appropriate risk management and internal control
measures, and to ensure its implementation in daily operational
management.

IMPORTANT RELATIONSHIP
Our Employees

The Group had a total of 405 employees as at 31 December
2024. For the Year, employee benefits expense were RMB40.6
million. Set forth below is a breakdown of the number of our
employees by functions as at 31 December 2024:

[ B o

ARBRE RRERHAREENZEURELY
BHTHEE -ARANERERHEFSFMEA
SEXGHREHNERRR  B8REERR - F
TRk ERBESERS  W2EHETSENE
B IE RARREGIEN  ARERERTEEEE
Brhg=EinEEEE-

BEEBR

B8

RZE-_MFE+_A=+—H  K"EFHEF405
HEE -NAFE EEBINFAZAARE4L0.6
BEL  UTHIRZZE-_WF+=—A=+—H
BPRBREE DB B ABRRAE -

Number of

employees
Function g8 EBE A
Administrative and human resources TTBA AT E IR 40
Engineering I 56
Finance and internal audit 7% R N B At 21
Operational management EEERE 28
Procurement e 9
Project management and technical team 18 B B 18 K& B i B B 213
Quality and safety BHEWLE 31
Senior management SREIRE 7
Total WEr 405

We believe that our long-term growth depends on the
expertise, experience and development of our employees. The
salaries and benefits of our employees depend primarily on
their type of work, position, length of service with us and local
market conditions. In order to improve our employees’ skills
and technical expertise, we provide regular training to our
employees. We have in-house training programs to train our
new joiners, mainly focusing on skills like construction
technique and working procedures. The goal of the training
programs is to train our employees and to identify talent, with
the aim of providing upward mobility within our Group,
fostering employee loyalty and incorporating customised
mentoring, coaching and training.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

During the Year, we did not experience any material labour
disputes, strikes or other material labour conflicts, receive any
complaints, notices or orders from relevant government
authorities or third parties, or receive any claims from our
employees relating to social insurance or housing provident
funds that could materially impaired our business operation or
reputation. We made contributions to social insurance and
housing provident funds in accordance with the applicable laws
and regulations. The details in relation to retirement benefit
scheme are disclosed in notes 4.20 and 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Our Suppliers

For the Year, we made procurement from 3,312 suppliers
across the PRC. Our suppliers are corporate entities or sole
proprietors who are principally engaged in the supply or
trading of plants and saplings and/or construction materials
and/or leasing of equipment and machineries in the PRC. It is
our policy to maintain multiple suppliers and seek quotations
from at least three suppliers for purchase of major raw
materials to avoid over-reliance on any single supplier. In
addition, to minimize cost and delivery time and given that
certain standardised construction materials such as cements
and steels are readily available in the PRC, we tend to make
procurement from local suppliers which are in close proximity to
the project sites whenever practicable. Our procurement
department maintains a list of qualified suppliers. Such list of
qualified suppliers are selected based on criteria such as price,
quality, record of timely delivery, proximity to the project site,
supply capacity and customer service. During the preparation
of budget for each project, potential price fluctuations of raw
materials are accounted for and any anticipated increase in
costs will be taken into consideration and could be passed to
our customers, to the extent feasible.

Our Customers

Our customers comprise state-invested enterprises, local
governments, property owners and developers in private sector,
entities that manage or operate construction projects and
construction companies who act as the main contractor of the
project and sub-contract a pre-defined section of the project to
us. For the Year, we had 173 customers, of which 112 were
state-invested enterprises or local governments, and the
remaining customers were private enterprises. As we secure
projects from major customers mainly through tendering and we
are awarded contracts mostly on a one-off basis, the
composition of our five largest customers varied from
period-to-period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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PROSPECTS

In 2024, the construction industry exhibited the overall
characteristics of “infrastructure stabilizing growth, real estate
weak recovery, and technology promoting transformation.”
State-owned enterprises and regional leaders performed
prominently, while private construction enterprises generally
faced multiple pressures. Large central enterprises and local
state-owned enterprises dominated the market with their
capital, technological, and policy advantages. Intensified
market competition squeezed the survival space of non-leading
private enterprises, and rising cost pressures further
compressed profit margins, particularly in traditional building
construction. Additionally, the urgent need for industry
transformation, with high application thresholds for green
building and smart construction technologies, has placed the
entire industry in a phase of “scale contraction and profit
pressure.” Against this backdrop, under the strong leadership
of the Board of Directors and the management team,
Chanhigh’s cadres and employees rose to the challenge,
united their efforts, continuously broadened channels, optimized
structures, and took multiple measures to tackle key business
areas, achieving commendable results.

2025 is a crucial year for fully implementing the spirit of the
20th National Congress of the Communist Party of China and
achieving the goals of the “14th Five-Year Plan.” China will
continue to adhere to the principle of seeking progress while
maintaining stability, balancing development and security, and
promoting sustained economic recovery and improvement. The
construction and water conservancy industries, as important
pillars of the national economy, will further accelerate green,
intelligent, and digital transformation under the guidance of
national strategies, contributing to the realization of the “dual
carbon” goals and sustainable development. At the same time,
the deepening of the rural revitalization strategy will provide
more opportunities for rural water conservancy construction
and infrastructure improvement. The government’'s overall
requirements for this year’s work in the construction and water
conservancy sectors focus on infrastructure construction, rural
revitalization, green and intelligent transformation, water
conservancy reform, and ecological environmental protection.
These policy directions offer new development opportunities for
the construction and water conservancy industries while also
posing higher demands on enterprises’ technological innovation
and management capabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

In 2025, China’s infrastructure investment will commence the
final phase of the “14th Five-Year Plan” with a total scale of
RMB12.8 trillion, of which at least RMB2 trillion in special bond
funds will be allocated to digital and intelligent infrastructure,
injecting strong momentum into new infrastructure and industrial
upgrading. Water conservancy construction investment is
expected to exceed RMB1.5 trillion, becoming a key area of
national investment. Meanwhile, intelligent and green
development will become important directions in the
infrastructure and water conservancy sectors, contributing to the
realization of the “dual carbon” goals and sustainable
development. Starting from 2024, Ningbo City will fully
implement the “1115” project (i.e., implementing 10 major
special projects, advancing 10 landmark projects, building 100
major projects, and completing over RMB500 billion in
comprehensive transportation investment), with a total
investment exceeding RMB700 billion over the five years to
2029.

Looking ahead to 2025, a new journey has begun. The Group
face challenges with greater confidence and more
pragmatic measures, actively exploring new development
opportunities. The Group will continue to build on traditional
infrastructure, with water conservancy construction as a new
growth point and technological innovation as a breakthrough,
adhering to market orientation, innovation-driven development,
and efficiency-centered operations. We will further optimize our
business structure, enhance management efficiency, and strive
to maintain a firm foothold in the fierce market competition. At
the same time, the Group will actively promote green
development and digital transformation, fulfill social
responsibilities, contribute to the realization of the “dual
carbon” goals, and make greater contributions to the high-
quality development of China’s economy and the
comprehensive progress of society.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue of the Group decreased by 7.0% or RMB131.1 million
from RMB1,879.4 million for last year to RMB1,748.3 million for
the Year. This mainly due to the fact that for the Year the
decrease in revenue of landscape construction segment,
building works segment and others segment offset the increase
in revenue of municipal works construction segment, and led to
overall decrease in the Group’s total revenue.

The revenue recognised during the Year for projects completed
during the Year and in progress as at 31 December 2024 as
compared with that of last year is tabulated as follows:

B %% B
PN

REBHKAREFHARK1,879.48E LA
7T0%FARBIBIIEETEAFTFENARE
1,74838B &L BT EHRAFERMER S
e EZETITRSBREMDYIRANTEREET
MHRIEEZSBRANEF  FEAEEEER

ABFTTFE -

AEEERNBENR T -_=F+_A=+—
B IEAETTNIRE AR E—FEARLL - 7
S (I N

2024 2023
—E-ME =
No. of No. of No. of No. of
projects projects projects projects
completed in progress completed in progress
during the as at the during the as at the
Business segments ES % Revenue year year end Revenue year year end
FEERE FE R
FRTR PEET FENTHK MHEEST
L'ON HEHEE EHEE WA HRE#E HAHE
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBF T
Landscape construction EMER 97,476 15 19 187,077 19 23
Municipal works construction — H Ti2i2H 811,663 96 75 691,265 40 78
Building works BEIR 790,719 7 20 942,411 12 25
Others A 48,463 16 29 58,690 16 31
Total st 1,748,321 134 143 1,879,443 87 157
As compared with that of last year, the revenue for the Year EEFML » AFEWRATIE7.0%  BEEEH
decreased by 7.0% and the number of projects for the Year =1&N118.4% - WARIEEHELEEHITBT
increased by 18.4%. The overall fluctuation in revenue and MW THEZEHZEAFE : (\EMERDBEREE WA

number of projects was mainly due to the net effect of (i)
landscape construction segment of which the revenue and
number of projects for the Year decreased by 47.9% or
RMB89.6 million and 19.0% respectively; (ii) municipal works
construction segment of which the revenue and number of
projects for the Year increased by 17.4% or RMB120.4 million
and 44.9% respectively; (iii) building works segment of which
the revenue and number of projects for the Year decreased by
16.1% or RMB151.7 million and 27.0% respectively; and (iv)
others segment of which the revenue and number of projects
for the Year decreased by 17.4% or RMB10.2 million and 4.3%
respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Landscape construction

The Group recorded a decrease in revenue from the landscape
construction segment, from RMB187.1 million for last year to
RMB97.5 million for the Year, representing a decrease of 47.9%
or RMB89.6 million. The decrease was mainly due to decrease
in number of projects for the Year as compared with that of last
year.

Municipal works construction

The Group recorded an increase in revenue from the municipal
works construction segment, from RMB691.3 million for last year
to RMB811.7 million for the Year, representing an increase of
17.4% or RMB120.4 million. The increase was mainly due to
increase in number of projects for the Year as compared with
that of last year.

Building works

The Group recorded a decrease in revenue from the building
works segment, from RMB942.4 million for last year to
RMB790.7 million for the Year, representing a decrease of
16.1% or RMB151.7 million. The decrease was mainly due to
decrease in number of projects for the Year as compared with
that of last year.

Others

The Group recorded a decrease in revenue from the others
segment, from RMB58.7 million for last year to RMB48.5 million
for the Year, representing a decrease of 17.4% or RMB10.2
million. The decrease was mainly due to decrease in average
contract value and number of projects for the Year as
compared with that of last year.

Cost of services rendered

Cost of services rendered decreased by 6.9% or RMB120.2
million from RMB1,731.4 million for last year to RMB1,611.2
million for the Year. Generally, the decrease in cost of services
rendered was in line with the decrease in revenue for the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit decreased by 7.1% or RMB10.1
million from RMB141.4 million for last year to RMB131.3 million
for the Year. Gross profit margin of the Group remained stable
at approximately 7.5% as compared with that of last year.

Other income, other gains and losses

Other income, other gains and losses increased by 29.8% or
RMB5.6 million from RMB18.8 million for last year to RMB24.4
million for the Year. The increase was mainly due to a gain
arisen from termination on concession rights.

Administrative and other operating expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses slightly increased by
1.3% or RMBO0.8 million from RMB61.8 million for last year to
RMB62.6 million for the Year.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs decreased by 17.9% or RMB5.0
million from RMB27.9 million for last year to RMB22.9 million for
the Year, which was mainly due to decrease in interest rates
and average borrowing balances.

Income tax expense

The Group’s income tax expense decreased by 32.4% or
RMB4.4 million from RMB13.6 million for last year to RMB9.2
million for the Year. The decrease was mainly due to decrease
in profit before income tax and increase in income not taxable.
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Net Current Assets

The table below sets forth selected information for current
assets and current liabilities as at 31 December 2024 and

2023, respectively:

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEEN WD (&)

RBEEFE

TREIIN -_F-_WFR-_FT_=F+-_A=+1
—HMRBEENRRBABHNEEER

2024 2023
—E_MEF —E-=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR Tt ARET T

Current Assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables 25 Kk E A EWFIA 371,186 616,393
Contract assets BHEBEE 1,158,228 1,175,371
Restricted bank deposits ZIRHIRITIER 117,898 —
Bank and cash balances R1TNMIR® R 439,665 416,098
2,086,977 2,207,862

Current Liabilities RBEaE
Trade and bills payables ZE SR RERENEE 385,840 406,624
Accruals and other payables FEET B R K E fh FE 7 58 41,397 64,014
Contract liabilities BRNEaE 39,769 66,733
Lease liabilities HEARE 332 301
Borrowings EE 548,700 573,700
Current tax liabilities BNERT B B & 136,420 135,012
1,152,458 1,246,384
Net current assets RBEEREE 934,519 961,478

The Group’s net current assets decreased by 2.8% or RMB27.0
million from RMB961.5 million as at 31 December 2023 to
RMB934.5 million as at 31 December 2024. The decrease was
end trade and other
receivables as a result of continuous debt collection effort put
in by the management during the Year.

primarily due to decrease

BE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The following table sets forth an analysis of trade and other

BEZRHEMEYRRE

TREHNARZZE-_WFER T -_=F+_A=+

receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 indicated: —HES R HEMEWRFIEN DT
2024 2023
—E-lmE =%
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Trade receivables, retention receivables EREZER ERRE S
and bills receivables EWEE
Trade receivables EUYE 5 RN 214,407 301,138
Loss allowance ESE R (88,723) (75,702)
125,684 225,436
Retention receivables FEYURE S 52,630 40,851
Loss allowance 5B B (286) (100)
52,344 40,751
Bills receivables FEWER 2,586 3,786
Loss allowance E B R G (2,586) (2,624)
— 1,162
178,028 267,349
Other receivables H R
Construction contracts performance BESHBHARERR
guarantees and deposit for tender KIZRES 56,712 34,832
Receivables for demolition expenses paid in & IE {1718 318
advance = 32,075
Amount due from an associate JE U Bt 8 > S 5RTR 20,379 28,403
Others Hty 55,542 52,830
132,633 148,140
Loss allowance &5 18 B (16,455) (18,320)
116,178 129,820
Prepayments and deposits FEARMES
Advance to suppliers and other prepayments 815 {H & B K2 H 78 1 5% 76,882 219,128
Rental deposits HeERe 98 96
76,980 219,224
371,186 616,393
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The trade and other receivables decreased by 39.8% or
RMB245.2 million from RMB616.4 million as at 31 December
2023 to RMB371.2 million as at 31 December 2024. The
decrease was primarily due to the fact that more effort was put
into receivables collection.

The following table sets forth the aging analysis of trade
receivables, based on the contract terms for the work certified,
net of allowance for bad and doubtful debts, as at
31 December 2024 and 2023:

EEEFWR DM (&)

B REMEWFIBER T =F+_A=1—
AW AR®616.48 &LH 139.8% 3 A R
245 2BHELE_ET_NF+_-_A=+—HHA
REITI2CEEL - RO EZEARBAETESZE S
1 g e U 3R e

TREVWAE-_NER T -_=F+_A=+
—HERAOERCRBEIREL KR REZR
BENE ZERFTBRE DT

2024 2023
—EE —E-=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARKETT

0 to 90 days 0ZE90X 41,844 87,250
91 to 180 days 91E 180k 14,753 4,892
181 to 365 days 181E 365K 2,818 41,430
Over 1 year but less than 2 years 1F A EBEDR2F 9,620 26,413
Over 2 years but less than 3 years 2F LA FBDRR3E 10,823 28,440
Over 3 years 3FM 45,826 37,011

125,684 225,436

The table below sets forth a summary of average turnover days
of trade for the years indicated:

TRBFIRARE AE SRR T AR
BE -

2024 2023
—E-NEF —F=
Average turnover days of trade receivables” & 5 & U 8 F 15 [F 8 K 2O 36.7 46.6

Note (1) Average turnover days of trade for the year is derived by
dividing the arithmetic mean of the opening and closing
balances of trade for the relevant period by revenue and
multiplying by 365 days.

Biat(1) FRE SR FIEF I EEREIZEE S
R ER ) K HA K B 5 B U 5 0B e U 2= 4
R R BT B R A S B IR LAB65 K
FTEAE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

6%
774 EEENwR D (&)

The average turnover days of trade decreased from 46.6 days ‘&5 EWRFEFHEE XS HEFER46.6 K
in last year to 36.7 days in the Year, mainly due to the fact ZEARFEEMI6.7K TEANAEEETEERA
that management put more effort to collect trade receivables ® %% HLBKE 5 EIEIE -

during the Year.

The aging analysis of retention receivables is as follows: EWRE € BRER DT

2024 2023
—E_ME —E =4
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®EF T

Not yet due REIHA 37,697 30,127
Within 1 year 1F R 3,558 1,510
Over 1 year but less than 2 years 1FE A BB R2F 2,205 2,154
Over 2 years but less than 3 years 2F LA FBADRR3E 8,884 6,960

52,344 40,751

*‘_ The following table provides information about the subsequent TXRRBETHE-_T-_AF_-_A-+/\BABER
settlement as at 28 February 2025 on trade and bills —“ZE-MNE+-F=+—BHNE5EKRFIEMNE

receivables as at 31 December 2024: WEBBREKREES
Subsequent
Gross carrying settlement
amount as at up to
31 December 28 February
2024 2025
R-ZB-F Bz
+=—A=+-—8 —B-RE
RE£¥E —A=-tNBHZ
R{E H% W
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR%T AR¥ T

Trade and bills receivables: ESBRWRERERSEE

0-90 days past due 0Z 90K 7 41,844 34,476
91-180 days past due 91 & 180K HA 14,753 9,604
181-365 days past due 181 & 365k 1 & 2,818 2,818
Over 1 year but less than 2 years past due 14 LA {8 24 i Hf 9,620 9,620
Over 2 years but less than 3 years past due 2% LA 18 A 34F i1 Hf 10,823 4,079
Over 3 years past due 3F LA E@ER 45,826 8,532

125,684 69,129
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Contract assets/liabilities EHEE EGHEE
The following table sets forth an analysis of contract assets/ TFTHRHEINZZE-_WFER-_TE-_=F+=-A=+
contract liabilities as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. —BAENEE AHBaENDI:
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETFTT
Contract assets BREE 1,158,228 1,175,371
Contract liabilities BRNEaE (39,769) (66,733)
1,118,459 1,108,638

As compared with that as at 31 December 2023, contract

HBE-_F_-_F+-_A=+HFEMAL &

assets, net as at 31 December 2024 slightly increased by Z T _WNF+_-_A=+—HWANEEFEM

approximately RMB9.8 million.

Trade and bills payables

The table below sets forth, as at 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the ageing analysis of trade and bills payables based on the

EIMARE

BEEMNE

9.8A&ETT °

RERENRE

TREIIN T -_WFR T
—BEREE RIRHIRY BN E 5K

=#+-A=+

date of receipt of goods and services: FERTEBRRER DT
2024 2023
—E-OF —TE=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFTT
0 to 90 days 0£90H 60,002 96,355
91 to 180 days 912 180H 25,900 39,593
181 to 365 days 181£365H 83,419 83,214
Over 1 year but less than 2 years 1F A EERAEB2F 74,766 77,132
Over 2 years but less than 3 years 2F LA LB HIBIF 43,015 55,606
Over 3 years 3FM 98,738 54,724
385,840 406,624
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The trade payables decreased by 5.1% or RMB20.8 million
from RMB406.6 million as at 31 December 2023 to RMB385.8
million as at 31 December 2024 because cost of services
rendered decreased as a result of decrease in revenue in the

BSENFER_SE_=F+_A=1T—HHA
R#406.6EELHAI51%HARE208EET

E-T_NFE+-_A=+—HMARK38587H
B AARNFERATHREBIRHBRHEKNAT

Year. [ o
The table below sets forth a summary of average turnover days FREHIRFRFERNNE FEN FE LY FHEX
of trade payables for the years indicated: HE
2024 2023
—E-@ImF —T=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFT
Average turnover days of trade payables” & 5 E BTG HEXHO 89.8 80.8
Note (1) Average turnover days of trade payables for the year is  A7:£(1) FEANE HENRBTHRAERERE
derived by dividing the arithmetic mean of the opening BB S ENRERRAREHNE

and closing balances of trade payables for the relevant
period by cost of service rendered, excluding depreciation
and multiplying by 365 days.

The average turnover days of trade payables increased from
80.8 days in last year to 89.8 days in the Year, mainly due to
slow-down of payments.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES AND COMMITMENTS
Capital expenditures

For the Year, the Group incurred capital expenditures totalling
RMBO0.3 million in relation to property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets.

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no significant capital
commitments.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

INDEBTEDNESS
Borrowings

The following table sets forth total debts as at 31 December
2024 and 2023:

Bank borrowings HRITHE K

EEEFWR DM (&)

&R
(CEEN

TREIR - E-_NER T -_=F+-_A=+
—BHREELRLE

2024 2023
—EoE T =4
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARKETTT

548,700 675,702

The average interest rate for bank borrowings as at
31 December 2024 was 4.08% per annum.

Except as disclosed above as at 31 December 2024, the
Group did not have any outstanding loan capital issued or
agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts, loans or other similar
indebtedness, liabilities under acceptances (other than normal
trade bills) or acceptable credits, debentures, mortgages,
charges, finance leases or hire purchases commitments,
guarantees, material covenants, or other material contingent
liabilities.

R mE+= A=+ - ARTERFLFH
K R4.08% °

BREXH#EREN  RZEZWFF+ A =+—
B AEBTETMAEHAEEEEHTRAEZHET
BOTEREAR BITEY  BERRHEHMBEUEGE
H - ARBE(—KREEZRERIN KATEXHE

FEEERBEER o EE g A
B ER BALASIHEMEASIREE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENWR DN (&)

KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

The following table sets forth key financial ratios for the years/
as at each of the dates indicated:

Gross profit margin (%)™ EFI (%)

Net profit margin (%)@ 4 F 2R (%)@
Return on equity (%)® R 7S [B1 3 2 (%)@
Return on total assets (%)@ 425 E B R K (%)@
Current ratio® mEN L E O
Gearing ratio® B &L KO

Net debt to equity ratio® FRERERILEO

CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED R/BZERERAT

FEUHLER
TREINSATREE AN EF LR

For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=t+—BLEFE

2024 2023
7.5 7.5
1.6 1.6
2.7 3.1
1.3 1.3

As at 31 December

R+=RA=+—H
2024 2023
—®-lmEF —F-=F
1.8 1.8
0.5 0.7
0.3 0.4



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Notes:

(1)  Gross profit margin for the year was calculated based on gross
profit divided by total revenue for the respective year and
multiplied by 100%.

(2)  Net profit margin for the year was calculated based on profit for
the year divided by total revenue for the respective year and
multiplied by 100%.

(3) Return on equity for the year was calculated based on the profit
for the year for the respective year divided by total equity as at
the respective year end and multiplied by 100%.

(4) Return on total assets for the year was calculated based on the
profit for the respective year divided by the total assets as at the
respective year end and multiplied by 100%.

(5)  Current ratio was calculated based on the total current assets as
at the respective year end divided by the total current liabilities
as at the respective year end.

(6)  Gearing ratio was calculated based on the total borrowings as at
the respective year end divided by total equity as at the
respective year.

(7) Net debt to equity ratio was calculated based on net borrowings
(being total borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents) as at
the respective year end divided by total equity as at the
respective year end.

Return on equity

The return on equity decreased from 3.1% for last year to 2.7%
for the Year, primarily due to the decrease in profit for the
year.

Return on total assets

The return on total assets for the year remained unchanged at
1.3% as compared with that of last year.

MEEJEA—-J-EI%& *ﬁ- (IILE.)

Ktit -

(1) EFEEENRIZRENRASEE WA BRU
100%5T & o

(2) FEAMNREFEZIHRUASFERSLE B
FLA100% T & -

(8) FEBRALBRRESFEFEZFNNGRUSFESF
RIEZRAAEE - BRIA100%5E -

(4) FEREELRERSIFELAFBRUSEEFR
BELE  BRIAI100%HE

(5) RIUERERIFEFARDEELEGRASEE
FRRBDABELFNE -

(6) BIEH $EX¢F¢X%ﬁ@$%M%¢E¢X
S BETE

(7) FEFEABHEILLRESFEEFROFMEE
CHBRBE LB SEEBYNEREE)BRUSE
EERERSBRETE -

% 7[5 3} =

ABHREHEFN3ABRDERFEN2.7%
FERRAFEFERD -

MEELRREK
AEEREERNBREAREFRITN1.3% -
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENWR DN (&)

Current ratio

The Group’s current ratio as at 31 December 2024 remained
unchanged at 1.8 as compared with that as at 31 December
2023.

Gearing ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 December 2024 improved
from 0.7 as at 31 December 2023 to 0.5 primarily due to
decrease in borrowings balance as at 31 December 2024.

Net debt to equity ratio

The Group’s net debt to equity ratio slightly decreased from 0.4
as at 31 December 2023 to 0.3 as at 31 December 2024
primarily due to decrease in borrowings balance as at 31
December 2024.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not hold any
significant investments.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the part headed “USE OF NET
PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING” in the section headed “Report
of the Directors”, the Group had no future plan for material
investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2024.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

There was no charge on group assets as at 31 December
2024,

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISKS

The Group is exposed to various types of financial risks
including credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
Given the Group’s operation is mainly in the PRC and the
functional currency is RMB, the exchange rate risk is
insignificant.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables, and cash and bank balances. In order to
minimise credit risk of trade and bill receivables, the Directors
have delegated a team to be responsible for the determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures. In addition, the Directors review the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debt regularly to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are recognised for irrecoverable
debts.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The
Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history. The Directors
closely monitor amounts due from related companies. The
Group has limited credit risk on cash and bank balances
because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group does not provide any other guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term. Please refer to note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements for details on the analysis based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s financial
liabilities.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from its bank
deposits and bank borrowings. These deposits and borrowings
bear interests at variable rates varied with the then prevailing
market condition. Given the base interest rate of The People’s
Bank of China is expected to remain stable in the foreseeable
future, the relevant risk is considered insignificant.

EEENWR DM (&
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Directors and Senior Management
EENEREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Peng Tianbin (¥ X&), aged 44, is an executive Director
and Chairman of the Company. He was appointed as a
Director on 1 April 2016 and then was redesignated as an
executive Director on 15 March 2017. Mr. Peng TB was the
vice general manager of Chanhigh Construction from 2001 to
2005, and was appointed as the chairman of CHHG in 2005.
Mr. Peng TB is responsible for overall management, corporate
policy making and strategic planning of the Group’s business
operations. He is currently the general manager, director and
legal representative of CHHG.

Mr. Peng TB obtained a diploma in computer application* (31 &
H M) in July 2000. He joined the Group in 2001, and has
since then obtained over 20 years of experience in the
landscape and public work construction industry.

Mr. Peng TB is the son of Mr. Peng DS, an executive Director,
and Ms. Wang SF, a non-executive Director, and the brother of
Mr. Peng YH, an executive Director and chief executive officer
of the Company.

Mr. Peng Yonghui (¥ k&), aged 43, is an executive Director
and chief executive officer of the Company. He was appointed
as a Director on 1 April 2016 and was redesignated as an
executive Director on 15 March 2017. He is responsible for
overall management, financial operation and internal
management of the Group. Mr. Peng YH manages the Group’s
administrative, human resources and financial departments. He
is also in charge of bank financing and other related matters of
the Group.

Mr. Peng YH obtained a diploma in highways and urban roads
engineering from Changsha University of Science and
Technology* (K T KE) in June 2004, and a degree in civil
engineering from Wuhan University of Technology* (EU£IE T X
&) in June 2006 through an online course. Mr. Peng YH
obtained an Executive Master of Business Administration from
Tsinghua University in June 2017, and was appointed by
Tsinghua University School of Economics and Management as
an alumni entrepreneur mentor in August 2018. He has the
qualifications of senior economist and senior engineer. Mr. Peng
YH joined the Group in April 2004.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Mr. Peng YH is the son of Mr. Peng DS, an executive Director,
and Ms. Wang SF, a non-executive Director, and the brother of
Mr. Peng TB, an executive Director and chairman of the
Company.

Mr. Peng Daosheng (#3B%4), aged 69, is the founder of the
Group and an executive Director. He was appointed as a
Director on 1 April 2016, and then was redesignated as an
executive Director on 15 March 2017. Since the Group was
established, Mr. Peng DS was responsible for its business
development and quality control. As Mr. Peng TB and Mr. Peng
YH joined the Group, they gradually took over the day-to-day
business operations. Mr. Peng DS is now mainly responsible
for setting the Group’s business directions and focus. He is
currently the director and legal representative of Chanhigh
Construction.

Mr. Peng DS obtained a bachelor’s diploma of civil engineering
from Changsha University of Science & Technology* (K23 T
K£) in June 2004. He has over 20 years of experience in the
landscape and public work construction industry. In January
2001, Mr. Peng DS established Chanhigh Construction and
acted as the general manager. In April 2005, CHHG was
established and Mr. Peng DS was appointed as the president
of CHHG.

Mr. Peng DS is the spouse of Ms. Wang SF, a non-executive
Director, and the father of Mr. Peng TB, an executive Director
and chairman of the Company, and Mr. Peng YH, an executive
Director and chief executive officer of the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Wang Sufen (E%£%), aged 63, was appointed as a
Director on 1 April 2016 and was then redesignated as a
non-executive Director on 15 March 2017. Ms. Wang SF is
responsible for providing objective advice and judgment to the
Board in relation to major business decisions.

Ms. Wang SF has over 20 years of experience in the trading
business. In October 1994, she established YZTB, which
specialises in trading, and is the legal representative and
general manager of such company.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
EEREREERE (&)

Ms. Wang SF is the spouse of Mr. Peng DS, an executive
Director, and the mother of Mr. Peng TB, an executive Director
and chairman of the Company, and Mr. Peng YH, an executive
Director and chief executive officer of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Lap Ip (BRI %), aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 16 July 2024. He is
currently a partner of a Hong Kong law firm. Before joined the
legal practice, Mr. Chan worked in Big-4 accounting firms for
over 20 years, and banking and finance related business for
over eight years. He is highly experienced in accounting,
financial management, Hong Kong and China taxation, and
Hong Kong commercial laws.

Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor's degree in business studies
from City University of Hong Kong in 1988, a postgraduate
diploma in English and Hong Kong law from The Manchester
Metropolitan University in 2003, and a postgraduate certificate
in laws from City University of Hong Kong in 2005.

Mr. Chan is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since 1992. He admitted as Solicitor of the
High Court of Hong Kong in 2021.

Mr. Shi Weixing (& £), aged 62, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 15 March 2017.

Mr. Shi graduated from Tongji University* ([R7&KXE) with a
bachelor's degree in architecture (structural engineering) in July
1984. He obtained a master’s degree in structural engineering
from Tongji University in May 1987, and a doctorate degree in
engineering from Tongji University in September 1990. Mr. Shi
is currently a professor at Tongji University.

Mr. Yang Zhongkai (#%{P&l), aged 50, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 15 March 2017. He is
currently the Chairman of partners conference (A E A& E)
of King & Ray Law Firm (XZEE B EEDEAT).
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Mr. Yang studied in Nankai University. In October 2009,
Mr. Yang obtained a Master of Arts (International Relations in
Economy and Trade) from Flinders University through one of its
offshore programs. Mr. Yang obtained an Executive Master of
Business Administration from Tsinghua University in June 2017.

Mr. Yang has been serving as the Chairman of partners
conference of King & Ray Law Firm since December 2018.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tong Tai Alex (%2%), aged 51, is the chief financial officer
and the company secretary of the Company. Mr. Tong joined
the Group in December 2015 and is in charge of the finance
department. He is responsible for overseeing financial
management and regulatory compliance, as well as reporting
obligations of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Tong
worked in an international CPA firm for approximately 15 years.
Mr. Tong is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He is also a member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountant.

Mr. Jiang Libo (33¥), aged 52, is the general manager of
Chanhigh Construction. Mr. Jiang graduated from Jiangnan
University* (CTFAZ) majored in engineering management,
and the professional technical titles of senior engineer and
senior economist. He joined Chanhigh Construction since
September 2007. He is also the vice chairman of Ningbo Safe
Production Association* (ZEMELE2EEWHE), the tutor of
master postgraduate students in Ningbo University* (ZE/fFAE),
the vice chairman of Ningbo Civil Construction Entrepreneurs
Association* (EETMREPERIBE), the vice chairman of
Ningbo Landscape Architecture Association* (Z% & S B #
&), the executive vice chairman of Ningbo Technological
Innovation Association* ()& M EHLAIFT1% ) and the executive
director of Ningbo Entrepreneurs Association* (% > ¥ XK 1
&), having been awarded the Excellent Project Manager of
Chinese Society of Landscape Architecture* (REIESEHES
E55TA B #38), the Advanced Worker of Zhejiang Landscape
Architecture* (NI EERBEMNSEGSEETIERE), the Excellent
Professional Manager of Ningbo Municipal Industry* (2§ m
BiTEEF B EKIE), the Most Influential Entrepreneur of
Ningbo Construction Industry* (R ERERAFENPER),
the Excellent Entrepreneur of 17th Session in Ningbo (28K~
tEEFDLER) and the Excellent Construction Entrepreneur in
Yinzhou District* (Z0M[REFEEE P ER).
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
EERSREERE (B

Mr. Yang Jiannan (% #®), aged 56, is the head of quality
control department of the Group. Mr. Yang is responsible for
overseeing the quality of production and construction safety of
the Group. Mr. Yang graduated from Zhejiang Agricultural
University* (HT/T 22 K&) (predecessor of Zhejiang University)
with a bachelor’s degree in engineering. Mr. Yang worked in
Ningbo Rongshan Sports Ground Engineering Limited* (288 48
BB IS e E TR AR A7) before joining the Group in August
2010.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tong Tai Alex (%2%), aged 51, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Group on 25 June 2016. For further
details about Mr. Tong’s biography, please refer to the
sub-section headed “Senior Management” above.
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The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group principally provides landscape, municipal works and
building works construction and maintenance services to its
customers. In addition, the Group undertakes renovation works
and provides other services such as provision of maintenance
and heritage building restoration services. During the Year, the
Group provided construction services mainly to state-invested
enterprises and local government. The analysis of the revenue
of the principal activities of the Group for the Year is set out in
notes 7 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND RESULTS

A review of the business of the Group is provided in
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 8 to 31 and
“Chairman’s Statement” on page 6. A discussion on the
Group’s future business development is provided in the
sub-section headed “Prospect” of section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 16 of this
annual report. An analysis of the Group’s performance using
financial key performance indicators is provided in the
“Financial Highlights” on page 5 of this annual report.

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 135 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend a dividend for the Year.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 31 March 2017.
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In line with the change in use of net proceeds from the Listing

BARNRHHA-Z—tF+_-_ANBNRAER

as described in the Company’s announcement dated ¥R EHRAEFREFEMRENENR  FTRHEHIA

8 December 2017, the following table sets forth the Group’s

use of net proceeds up to the date of this report:

SEHEAREBHMBERIBFRAE

Adjusted Remaining
allocation of Utilised amount amount as at
use of up to the date the date of
proceeds of this report this report
RABRMBRE BELREEH RARE B H
AESE EBALE HEAE R
(HK$ million)  (HKS$ million)  (HK$ million)
(B8%ET) (B8%ET) (B8%ET)
Acquisition of construction companies possessing WERTBIAR (BFEERRY 195.8  120.2 (Note 1) 75.6
first-grade qualification and certificates in municipal ANEIBE RKBKIER) AES (Kiat1)
projects, including but not limited to highway REERFENERRA]
projects and water projects
Acquisition of or strategic investment in architectural WES BT ENRI=AMNA 91.4 7.5 (Note 2) 83.9
design firm(s) in the Yangtze River Delta possessing BHEREERTEENRE (KiiE2)
first-grade qualification in architectural design RET AR
Acquisition or establishment of a new inspection centre WS — R EEi@E - DT 7.9 — 7.9
accredited with the qualification(s) to carry out AR L ARR R %
inspection, analysis and testing on the incoming HREEERETRERR
materials to be used for construction, and/or FEFREB PO
inspection and supervision of construction works
General working capital —REEES 20.2 20.2 —
Total i 315.3 147.9 167.4

38

CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

RBERERAE



Notes:

1. The Group acquired several construction licenses including a
First-Grade General Contractor for Water Works and Hydropower
Projects Qualification, a Second-Grade General Contractor for
Highway Construction Projects Qualification along with a Second-
Grade General Contractor for Water Works and Hydropower
Projects Qualification and a First-Grade General Contractor for
Housing Construction Projects Qualification in the PRC at a
consideration of RMB76,000,000, RMB13,600,000 and
RMB13,500,000 respectively, totaling RMB103.1 million (HK$120.2

million).

2. The Group acquired an A-Grade Landscape Construction Design
Qualification at a consideration of RMB6.7 million (HK$7.5
million).

The remaining net proceeds of approximately HK$167.4 million
are currently held in bank deposits and it is intended to apply
in the manner consistent with the proposed allocation in the
Company’s announcement dated 8 December 2017. These
remaining net proceeds are expected to be utilised by the end
of 2026.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the Group’s purchases from the largest supplier
accounted for 2.4% of its total procurements, and purchases
from five largest suppliers accounted for 6.6% of its total
procurements.

For the Year, the Group’s revenue contributed by the largest
customer accounted for 12.4% of its total revenue, and revenue
contributed by the five largest customers accounted for 39.5%
of its total revenue.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
their respective close associates or any shareholders who own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any
beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers
or five largest suppliers during the Year.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the major subsidiaries of the Company as at
31 December 2024 are set out in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 5 of this
annual report. This summary does not form part of consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Year are set out on page 138 in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
Cayman Islands Companies Law and the Articles of
Association, amounted to RMB415,990,000.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as
at 31 December 2024 are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors for the Year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Peng Tianbin (Chairman)
Mr. Peng Yonghui (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Peng Daosheng

Non-executive Director:

Ms. Wang Sufen

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Fan Rong (resigned on 19 April 2024)
Mr. Chan Lap Ip (appointed on 16 July 2024)
Mr. Shi Weixing

Mr. Yang Zhongkai

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles of Association, at
every annual general meeting of the Company one-third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 32 to 36 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received a confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors and the Company
considers such Directors to be independent in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTER OF
APPOINTMENTS

Except for Mr. Chan Lap Ip, each of the executive Directors,
non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company
on 30 March 2023 for a term of three years. Mr. Chan Lap Ip
has entered into a service contract with the Company on 16
July 2024 for a term of three years. For the executive Directors
and the non-executive Director, the service contracts, may be
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party to the other. For the independent
non-executive Directors, the service contracts may be
terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing
served by either party to the other.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than those transactions disclosed in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements, no Director or entity
connected with a Director or the Controlling Shareholders had
a material interest in, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the Year.

42 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED R/BZERERAT

EERBEHAREER

BRERZZESEES  BHITES  FFRTEERB
UHHITERER T _=F=A=FTHEAR

AR VRBEX  FHRAR=F RUXEED
RZZE-_MFELA+RNBEARRQFTIRBES
W FHAR=F -ARATESENIFNTE
= AHEM-STAS—HELETIR=ZEAZ
EBAMTARILE - BRBUIIFATES  RHES
WA RER—TAS—HTEETLR—EAEER
AT LA -

MEEETUARA TR —FARLNEE

ERERIN MR IEZRBAL -

O&

EERERBRRREARS  ZHHEHNZ
i

B A ISR 36 RE 22 ERHIN
MEEENEEEAH ERIERBERERR
BERAFERNRTREFMEMBRATRITHT
MEREEXBMEBEZNTMARS - R
BHTHRAEANERS -

MIE =] n’J

AEE BEIUIFEEHEEERZELEARRT
IBRERNBEABDEBZEHK -



EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 405 full-time
employees. The Remuneration Committee was set up for
reviewing the Group’s emolument policy and structure for all
remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the
Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance of the Directors and senior management
and comparable market practices. The emolument policy of the
Group would also make reference to the comparable market
practices with reference to the qualifications of the employees.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 14 and 13 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

CHANGES TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS

Up to the date of this annual report, there were no changes to
information which are required to be disclosed and had been
disclosed by the Directors pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e)
and (g) of Rule 13.51 (2) of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at the date of this annual report, the interests and short
positions of the Directors and the chief executives of the
Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into the
register maintained by the Company, or (ii) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

EERTETHRAEREARAREEEEZE
B HERORESPZEERAR

RAFERERY EERARREBRITHAER
RARARSZEEMBEBZE(EERES RSB
ERBIEXVER) 2 Bty - BB RfEHT - #A
(VRBEESF AT GRGIEXVEBET RSO BEMS
ARANBRzEEAR (BREBRERESF K
HMERABBIHRX  REREFIRESER
EEmIORR) - H(NVREEF LG GHIZE
B52F BN ARRIAFEZ Bt Nz e
KRR - (i) RBIRET ARG AR R MBI
Pz tEm FORBIAT -

Long positions in ordinary Shares REBRNEFE
Approximate
shareholding
Number of percentage
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares (%)
B R E
EEpE ERtE RGO EE B2 (%)
Mr. Peng YH Trustee of the PYH Family Trust and 451,170,000 72.95%
the PTB Family Trust (Note 1)
KB E CZXBRIEEFERZRBRIEETENZEAN (BT 1)
Interests of spouse (Note 2) 1,610,000 0.26%
I dikss (Hitz)
Beneficial owner (Note 3) 214,000 0.03%
EnlAANHE3)
Mr. Peng TB Interests under section 317 (Note 4) 452,994,000 73.24%
TR EE ENTIRTEER (Hat4)
Mr. Peng DS Interests under section 317 (Note 4) 452,994,000 73.24%
TEERE BINTIET = (K75t 4)
Ms. Wang SF Interests under section 317 (Note 4) 452,994,000 73.24%
TEFLL ETIR TR (A 774)
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Notes:

(1) Vast Base is owned by Mr. Peng YH as trustee of the PYH Family
Trust and TEUR is owned by Mr. Peng YH as trustee of the PTB
Family Trust. Mr. Peng YH being the trustee of the PYH Family
Trust and the PTB Family Trust, is therefore deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by the PYH Family Trust and the
PTB Family Trust under the SFO.

(2) 1,610,000 Shares are held by the spouse of Mr. Peng YH.
(8) 214,000 Shares are held by Mr. Peng YH in his own capacity.

(4)  Pursuant to the Acting-in-Concert Confirmation, each of Mr. Peng
DS, Ms. Wang SF and Mr. Peng TB is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares in which Mr. Peng YH is interested, by virtue of
section 317 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report,
none of the Directors and the chief executives of the Company
had or was deemed to have any interest or short position in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) that was required to be recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time
during the Year and up to the date of this report were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company and
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors, or their respective spouse or children under 18 years
of age, to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEZgWmE (&

A

Wit

(1) EREHZKEREERNITAZELLEE
B MARERZRERKEETOETAZKES
ERA - TR EE - BB REERRER
BMRIEEFENZTFEA - B REE S RS G
WERAREZKERIEETEREZRBKIEEFTT ﬁ
s AR R DA - i

(2)  1,610,000R% B 7 d1 7k 8 S A B BLAB 5 A - ,,
(8) 214,000 M EBZXKBEENEBAGEES - i

(4) RE-BTHERE BERE  TEFLE 3
R R FEERIBE S RS ROIE 317 IRER »
RREKBEEEFAENEHROTEEES -

B EXFBEESN  RAFERE AL AAT
FEREBITMABBENAR T XL EE
(R R EH RIS EOEXVE) 2Bl - A8
GES TLF EECRY SP vy bt
EARNEGNSE0EREARE S BRM
PO+ IR U A < BIZA N A 2 B BB A2 2 4
R EAA -

EEWBEROES 2EF
RAFEREMREEN  RAFEREARE

B SERTEAEERNREZTENEBIAK
m 18R F AL A B AR R R A siE 57 S\
B BN - RETFEBITEBBEN : A7
REEAHBARNMETIREMNSETARES
B2 REARM 185 F R SEMEME AR
BRAERZ Y ZRTHT5

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 F# 45



Report of the Directors (Continued)
%%éﬁﬂ: (nﬁ)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at the date of this annual report, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, the following persons (not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO:

Long position in the ordinary Shares

Name of substantial
Shareholder Nature of interest

TERRBEE BB BEME

Vast Base Beneficial interest (Note)
&2 BEatkn (M)

TEUR Beneficial interest (Note)
PN EmEn (M)
Note:

Vast Base is wholly-owned by Mr. Peng YH as the trustee of the PYH
Family Trust. The PYH Family Trust is a discretionary trust set up by
Mr. Peng YH whose beneficiaries are Mr. Peng YH and his
descendants who carry the “PENG (&)” surname. On the other hand,
TEUR is wholly-owned by Mr. Peng YH as the trustee of the PTB
Family Trust. The PTB Family Trust is a discretionary trust set up by
Mr. Peng YH whose beneficiaries are Mr. Peng TB and his
descendants who carry the “PENG ()" surname. Under the SFO,
Mr. Peng YH as a trustee of the PYH Family Trust and the PTB Family
Trust is deemed to be interested in all Shares held by Vast Base and
TEUR under the PYH Family Trust and the PTB Family Trust.
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Save as disclosed above, and as at the date of this annual
report, the Directors were not aware of any persons (who were
not Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had an
interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required,
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

For the Year, none of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the
Group are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements. These related party transactions were not regarded
as connected transactions or were exempt from reporting,
annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the Cayman Islands Companies Law,
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding the
Shares.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the
Company that he/she/it has complied with the non-competition
undertakings that he/she/it provided to the Company on
15 March 2017 pursuant to the Non-competition Deed. The
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the status
of compliance and confirmed that all of these non-competition
undertakings have been complied with by the Controlling
Shareholders during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors had any interest in any
businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group persists in maintaining good corporate governance
and operating in compliance with the laws and integrity
through abidance by relevant laws and regulations, industry
regulations and business ethics. For the Year and up to the
date of this report, the Company had not been and was not a
party to any material legal, arbitral or administrative
proceedings, and the Company was not aware of any pending
or threatened legal, arbitral or administrative proceedings
against the Company or any of the Directors which could have
a material adverse effect on the Company’'s operations or
financial condition.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

During the Year, coping with the external and internal
uncertainties and changes, the Group gained valuable
experience, which will help the Group to face and overcome
challenges of the future. The Group’s sustainable development
depends on the supports and efforts of all the parties involved,
including the employees, the customers, the suppliers, the
business partners and the Shareholders, and in particular the
efforts and contributions and dedication of all staff of the
Group.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group faces certain risks and uncertainties in its operation
which, if material, may affect the financial results of the Group.

As most of the operations of the Group are conducted in
the PRC, any material change in the PRC’s political,
economic and social conditions, laws, regulations and
policies may have a material adverse effect on the Group

The industry in which the Group is operating its business is
subject to the laws and regulations in the PRC. Any change in
existing laws and regulations or their interpretation that may
affect the business or operations of the Group could lead to
additional compliance costs or costly and time-consuming
changes to its operations, either of which could materially and
adversely affect the business, financial conditions and results of
operations of the Group.

Further, the PRC economy has been transformed to a more
market-oriented economy. The PRC government has
implemented economic reform measures emphasising
responsiveness to market forces in the development of the PRC
economy. Yet, the PRC government continues to play a very
significant role in regulating industries by imposing industrial
policies. Despite the implementation of such reforms, the Group
cannot predict whether changes in the PRC’s political and
social conditions, laws, regulations and policies will have any
adverse effect on the current or future business, financial
conditions and results of operations of the Group.
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The failure to obtain or renew the qualifications and
certificates necessary for the business operations of the
Group would materially and adversely affect the ability of
the Group to conduct or expand its business

The Group are required to maintain requisite qualifications and
certificates to conduct its business. The Group must comply
with the conditions imposed by the relevant authorities to
maintain its qualifications and certificates. Any suspension or
revocation of these qualifications or certificates may have a
material adverse impact on its business and operations. In
addition, the Group cannot assure that qualifications or
certificates necessary for its business operations will be
granted to or renewed in a timely manner, or at all. If the
Group experiences delays in obtaining, or are unable to obtain,
such required qualifications or certificates, its operations and
business and its overall financial performance will be materially
and adversely affected. The Group may also not be able to
commence new business line if the Group fails to obtain the
requisite qualification or certificates. Further, any change in the
qualification requirements or certificate conditions may lead to
additional compliance costs or result in costly and
time-consuming changes to its operations in order to fulfil the
new requirements or conditions.
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The Group does not have long-term commitments with its
major customers and the Group generate its revenue mainly
on project-basis which is not recurring in nature

The relationships between the Group and its customers are
mainly contract-based with reference to particular project(s). In
cases where its customers are local governments, they may
form a project company for commencing and managing a new
project and organising the tendering process. As such, its
major customers do not have long-term commitments with the
Group and can vary from period-to-period. In addition, the
relationship between the Group and its major customers are
non-exclusive and largely dependent on goodwill. The results of
operations of the Group will continue to depend on (a) its
ability to continue to secure projects from its customers, in
particular, the state-invested enterprises and local governments
which are major group of its customers; and (b) the financial
condition of its major customers. The Group cannot assure that
its major customers will be able to continue to maintain strong
financial position. If their financial condition significantly
deteriorates, they may reduce the number and scale of new
projects, thereby reducing business opportunities to the Group.
Furthermore, the Group cannot assure that it will be able to
maintain or improve business relationships with its existing
customers and any of them may terminate their respective
business relationships with the Group at any time. Any material
difficulty in securing projects from its customers, termination or
significant reduction in the number or contract value of the
projects secured from them could cause its revenue and profit
to decrease significantly. If any of the foregoing events occurs,
the financial conditions and results of operations may be
materially and adversely affected.

Revenue of the Group derived from such projects is mainly
project-based which is not recurring in nature. In the tendering
process, the Group has to prepare and submit a tender bid
and sign construction contract for new project only if the bid is
successful. The tenderer sets its own assessment process and
selection criteria over which the Group has limited control or
influence. The contract is not necessarily awarded to the lowest
priced bid and the tendering process can be highly
competitive, especially for high-profile or lucrative project. As
such, the Group cannot assure that every bid submitted by the
Group in the tenders will be successful. In the event that the
bid for major contract is not successful, the Group may lost
opportunity to elevate its corporate profile and generate new
revenue source, and the business and results of operations of
the Group may be materially and adversely affected.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

With respect to the environmental protection in the process of
engineering and construction contracting, according to such
laws and regulations as the Environmental Protection Law of the
PRC ((R#EARILMEIIRIFRZEL)), the Energy Conservation
Law of the PRC ((PEARELFMEEGHFHEEIRIZE)), the
Environmental Impact Evaluation Law of the PRC ({(A#E A R
MBEIREFEFEXL)), the Law of the PRC on the Prevention
of the Environmental Pollution of Solid Waste (& # AR HEHE
BBREWSARENGE)), the Regulations on the
Environmental Protection of Construction Projects (%8 B ir
BAREZIEIEM)) and the Regulations on the Administration of
the Final Acceptance of the Environmental Protection Facilities
of Construction Projects ((Z2RIBERBRER MR THRE R
¥ 7E)), the construction of any project that causes pollution to
the environment must comply with the PRC government’s
regulations on environment protection relating to the
construction projects. The PRC government has implemented a
mechanism for the evaluation of environmental impact of
construction projects. A construction enterprise shall adopt
measures to control environmental pollution and damages
caused by dust, waste gas, sewages, solid waste, noises and
vibrations at the construction site in accordance with the
environmental protection and work safety laws and regulations.
For details of the Company’s environmental policies and
performance, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 74 to 122 of this annual report.
For the Year, the Company has complied with the relevant
environmental laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter
into any agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the
Year or subsisted at the end of the year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Article of Association, every Director or other officers
of the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages, and expenses, which he/she
may incur or sustain in or about the execution of his/her duties
in his/her office. As at the date of this annual report, all
Directors were covered under the liability insurance purchased
by the Company for its Directors.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Other than those donations disclosed on page 112 of the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report included in this
annual report, for the Year, the Group did not make any other
significant charitable and other donations.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There was no significant subsequent event up to the date of
this annual report.

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.20 OF THE LISTING
RULES

The Directors are not aware of any circumstances resulting in
the responsibility of disclosure under Rule 13.20 of the Listing
Rules regarding the provision of advance by the Company to
an entity.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review
and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting system, the
preparation of financial statements and internal control
procedures. It also acts as an important link between the Board
and the external auditor in matters within the scope of the
group audit.

The annual results for the Year of the Company have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having
made specific enquiry to all Directors, the Directors have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
during the Year and up to the date of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard
of corporate governance practices. Information on the
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 55 to 73
of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to
the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital, the prescribed minimum percentage
of public float approved by the Stock Exchange and permitted
under the Listing Rules, are held by the public during the Year
and up to the date of this report.

AUDITOR

RSM Hong Kong resigned as auditor of the Company on 13
December 2024. Linksfield CPA Limited has been appointed
as auditor of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024 on 16 December 2024.

Linksfield CPA Limited shall retire in the forthcoming AGM and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of RSM Hong Kong as auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Peng Yonghui
Director

Ningbo, the PRC
28 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high
standards of corporate governance. The Board believes that
effective corporate governance and disclosure practices are not
only crucial to the enhancement of the Company’s
accountability and transparency and investors’ confidence, but
also critical to the Group’s long-term success. The Company
has adopted the CG Code as its own code on corporate
governance.

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in
the CG Code for the Year, except that the Director, Mr. Peng
Tianbin (chairman of the Board and chairman of the Strategy
Committee), did not attend the annual general meeting on
13 June 2024 due to business engagements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties with its written terms of reference as set out
below:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Corporate Governance Report
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THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the
Group, oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors
business and performance. The Board has delegated the
authority and responsibility for day-to-day management and
operation of the Group to the senior management of the Group.
To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the
Board has established four Board committees including the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Strategy Committee. The Board has
delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set out
in their respective terms of reference. All Directors have carried
out duties in good faith and in compliance with applicable laws
and regulations, and have acted in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders at all times.

Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Peng Tianbin (Chairman)
Mr. Peng Yonghui (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Peng Daosheng

Non-executive Director

Ms. Wang Sufen

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Lap Ip
Mr. Shi Weixing
Mr. Yang Zhongkai

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

For the Year and up to the date of this report, the Company
has been in compliance with the requirements under Rules
3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors with at least one independent non-executive Director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will
be immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s
performance. Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board
diversity policy to ensure that the Company will, when
determining the composition of the Board, consider Board
diversity in terms of, among other things, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge and length of service. The Board diversity policy
sets out the approach towards achieving diversity on the
Board. Pursuant to the Board diversity policy, all Board
appointments will be based on merits and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the board, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity of the Board.

As each of the independent non-executive Directors has
confirmed his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, the Company considers all of them to be
independent parties.

Save as disclosed in the Directors’ biographies set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this
annual report or otherwise in this annual report, none of the
Directors has any personal relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationship) with
any other Director and chief executive of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors and
non-executive Director, have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
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Independent non-executive Directors and non-executive
Director have the same duties of care and skill and fiduciary
duties as the executive Directors. They are expressly identified
as such in all corporate communications that disclose the
names of the Directors.

Through active participation at Board meetings and taking the
lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interests,
non-executive Director makes various contributions to the
effective direction of the Company.

Independent non-executive Directors are experienced
professionals with expertise in respective areas of construction
industry and related technical know-how, accounting and
finance. With their professional knowledge and experience,
independent non-executive Directors advise the Company on its
operation and management; provide independent opinion on
the Company’s connected transactions; and participate in
various committees’ meetings of the Board; and provide
adequate checks and balance to protect the interests of the
Group and the Shareholders as a whole, and to promote the
development of the Group. Independent non-executive
Directors are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Strategy Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to
disclose the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organizations and other significant commitments
as well as the identity and the time involved to the issuer, the
Directors have agreed to disclose their commitments and any
subsequent change to the Company in a timely manner.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as
well as his/her responsibilities under relevant statutes, laws,
rules and regulations. The Company also arranges regular
briefings and seminars to provide Directors with updates on
latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.
The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The company secretary of the Company
has from time to time updated and provided written training
materials relating to the roles, functions and duties of a
Director.

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, the
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

For the Year, according to the records of the Company, all
Directors received the training in the form of written materials
and briefing/seminars, in respect of updates on corporate
governance, laws, rules and regulations, and industry specific.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
performed by different individuals. Under the organization
structure of the Company, Mr. Peng TB and Mr. Peng YH
perform Chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer
respectively. The chairman focuses on the Group’s strategic
planning while the chief executive officer has overall executive
responsibility for the Group’s development and management.
This is in compliance with the abovementioned code provision.
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The chairman has a clear responsibility to ensure that the
Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities in
the best interests of the Company and all key and appropriate
issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. He
takes responsibility for ensuring that the Board receives, in a
timely manner, adequate information which must be accurate,
clear, complete and reliable.

The chairman is also responsible for ensuring that good
corporate practices and procedures are established and
encourages all Directors to make a full and active contribution
to the Board’s affairs, to voice their concerns or different views
and ensure that the decisions fairly reflect the consensus. A
culture of openness and debate is promoted to facilitate the
effective contribution relations between the independent
non-executives Directors and the non-executive Director. The
chairman holds, at least annually, meetings with the
independent non-executive Directors in the absence of the
Executive Directors.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Except for Mr. Chan Lap Ip, each of the executive Directors,
non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors has signed a service contract with the Company for a
term of three years commencing from 31 March 2023 subject
to termination as provided in the service contract. Mr. Chan
Lap Ip has signed a service contract with the Company for a
term of three years commencing from 16 July 2024 subject to
termination as provided in the service contract.

The appointments of executive Directors, non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors are subject
to the provisions of retirement and rotation of the Directors
under the Articles of Association and the applicable Listing
Rules.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not
terminable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association.
The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
Board composition and making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-election of Directors and succession
planning for Directors.
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In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than,
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation and shall be
eligible for re-election and re-appointment provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years at every annual general meetings and any
new Director appointed to fill a causal vacancy or as an
addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself for re-election
by Shareholders at the next general meeting after appointment.

Board Meetings

The Company intends to hold Board meetings regularly, at least
four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals.
Notices of not less than fourteen days will be given for all
regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an
opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda for a
regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committees meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given. The agenda and accompanying
board papers are dispatched to the Directors or Board
Committees members at least three days before the meetings
to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the papers
and are adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors
or Board Committees members are unable to attend a meeting,
they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given
an opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior
to the meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept by the company
secretary with copies circulated to all Directors for information
and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committees meetings
are recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered
by the Board and the Board Committees and the decisions
reached, including any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft
minutes of each Board meeting and Board Committees meeting
are/will be sent to the Directors for comments within a
reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection by the
Directors.
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All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company secretary with a view to ensure the Board
procedures and all applicable law, rules and regulations, are

followed.

For the Year, four Board meetings were held. The attendance
record of each Director for Board meetings, Board Committees
meetings, AGM and a conference between the Chairman and
independent non-executive Directors is set out in the table

below:

Executive Director:
HITEF -

Mr. Peng Tianbin
TRBEE

Mr. Peng Yonghui
TKBE

Mr. Peng Daosheng
TEERE

Non-executive Director:
HMTEE -

Ms. Wang Sufen

TR L

Independent Non-executive Director:
BUHRNTEF -
Mr. Chan Lap Ip
(appointed on 16 July 2024)
BRI S
(RZZE-WMF+ A+ BEEE)
Mr. Shi Weixing
MR 2 &
Mr. Yang Zhongkai
BIrelL kL
Mr. Fan Rong
(resigned on 19 April 2024)
BEREE

(RZZ-—mEM A+ AEHT)
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding the Directors’ securities transactions.

All Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with
the required standards set out in the Model Code and the
Company’s code of conduct during the Year and up to the date
of this report.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance
with written guidelines on terms no less exacting than the
required standards set out in the Model Code. Each of the
relevant employees has been given a copy of the written
guidelines.

No incident of non-compliance with these guidelines by the
relevant employees was noticed by the Company.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the
Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those
that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. The Board and the Directors could have
recourse to seek independent professional advice in performing
their duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to
access and to consult with the Company’s senior management
independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the
Group are delegated to the senior management. The delegated
functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the
Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by the management.
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The remuneration of Directors and senior management by band
for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HK$)
AR (BT

0-1,000,000

EEREREERTH
AEREENSREREZHFMRAREDWMT

Number of persons
A

10

Further particulars regarding Directors’ and chief executive’
remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required
to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules
are set out in notes 14 and 13 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely
Mr. Chan Lap Ip (chairman), Mr. Shi Weixing and Mr. Yang
Zhongkai, all of them are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include but not
limited to the following:

(1) to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor;

(2) to make recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the external auditor, and any questions of its resignation
or dismissal;

(8) to review the Company’s annual report and accounts, half-
year report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly
report) before submission to the Board, with focus on
significant adjustments resulting from the audit,
compliance with accounting standards and compliance
with the Listing Rules and legal requirements in relation to
financial reporting;
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

(4) to consider any significant or unusual items that are, or
may need to be, reflected in the reports and accounts, it
should give due consideration to any matters that have
been raised by the Company’s staff responsible for the
accounting and financial reporting function, compliance

officer or auditors;

to review the Company’s financial controls, and unless
expressly addressed by a separate Board risk committee,
or by the Board itself, to review the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems; and

(6) to discuss the risk management and internal control
systems with management to ensure that management
has performed its duty to have effective systems.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

For the Year, two Audit Committee meetings were held. At the
meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the annual report for
last year with external auditors, the interim results for the Year,
the activities of the Group’s internal control and risk
management functions and the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit functions, and also reviewed and approved the
arrangement of the annual audit work and then proposed the
recommendations to the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members,
including two independent non-executive Directors namely
Mr. Yang Zhongkai (chairman), Mr. Shi Weixing and one
executive Director namely Mr. Peng TB.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include but
not limited to the following:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on
such remuneration;

2. to review and approve management’'s remuneration
proposals with reference to corporate goals and
objectives of the Board;
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EREE ()

to consult with the Chairman and/or chief executive officer
of the Company about the Remuneration Committee’s
proposals for other executive Directors;

to determine the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management. These
include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or
termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/
her own remuneration; and

to report back to the Board on their decisions or
recommendation, unless there are legal or regulatory
restrictions on their ability to do so (such as a restriction
on disclosure due to regulatory requirements).
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The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

For the Year, one Remuneration Committee meeting was held.
At the meeting, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and
determined remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management, and thought that the remunerations of whom were
reasonable and appropriate. The Remuneration Committee also
assessed the performance of executive Directors and approved
the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members,
including two independent non-executive Directors namely
Mr. Shi Weixing (chairman), Mr. Yang Zhongkai and one
executive Director namely Mr. Peng YH.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the
following:

1. to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

2. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

3. to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or reappointment of Directors and the succession
planning for Directors, in particular the chairman and the
chief executive officer; and

5. to review the Board diversity policy.
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The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or
incumbent on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and
ability to commit time and effort to carry out the duties and
responsibilities. The recommendations of the Nomination
Committee will then be put to the Board for decision. The
written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Board adopted a board diversity policy which recognises
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse and inclusive
Board, and aims to enhance diversity at Board level
continuously, in order to achieve and maintain good corporate
governance, a sustainable growth and a competitive edge.
Board diversity is considered from a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to educational
background, professional expertise, industry experience,
management function and length of service. These aspects are
considered in determining the optimum composition of the
Board. The Board believes a diversified board improves
effectiveness and enables better decisions to be made due to
the lowered risk of bias. The Nomination Committee continues
to take these measurable objectives into account when making
recommendation of candidates for appointment to the Board.

For the Year, one Nomination Committee meeting was held. All
the members of the Nomination Committee attended the
meeting. At the meeting, the Nomination Committee reviewed
the board diversity policy, the procedure for the selection,
appointment and reappointment of directors, the structure, size
and composition of the Board, the independence of
independent non-executive directors and considered the
qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for re-election at
the AGM. The Nomination Committee is of the view that the
current composition and structure of the Board comply with the
applicable regulations and the Board is experienced and have
diversified perspectives and views.
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Strategy Committee

The Strategy Committee comprises three members, including
two executive Directors, namely Mr. Peng TB (chairman),
Mr. Peng YH, and one independent non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Chan Lap Ip.

The principal duties of the Strategy Committee include but not
limited to the following:

1. to review, study and advise the Company’s business
strategies, and monitor the progress of the application of
the net proceeds from the Global Offering and
implementation of the Company’s business strategies;

2. to research and recommend on the long term development
strategy of the Company; and

3. to research and recommend on other significant matters
affecting the development of the Company.

The written terms of reference of the Strategy Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

For the Year, two Strategy Committee meetings were held. At
the meetings, the Strategy Committee reviewed and advised the
Group’s business strategies, and monitored the use of the net
proceeds from the Global Offering.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the Year which give a true and fair view
of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of the
Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry
out an informed assessment of the Company's financial
statements, which are put to the Board for approval. The
Company provides all members of the Board with monthly
updates on the Company’s performance, positions and
prospects.
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The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company is set out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on
pages 123 to 134 of this report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board oversees the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and review its effectiveness on an annual
basis. The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of
the Board for maintaining an adequate internal control and risk
management system to safeguard Shareholder investments and
Company assets. The Board has ensured the adequacy of
resources, staff qualification and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions.

The Group’s internal audit department plays a major role in
monitoring the internal governance of the Company. The major
tasks of the internal audit department are reviewing the
financial condition and internal control of the Company, as well
as identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks of the
Company and conducting comprehensive audits of all
significant subsidiaries of the Company on a regular basis.

The Board considers that the existing internal control system is
reasonably effective and adequate.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit services in respect of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year,
and non-audit services in respect of the review of the
condensed consolidated financial statements for the six months
ended 30 June 2024, provided by the Auditor and the then-
auditor of the Group during the Year amounted to RMBO0.80
million and RMBO0.35 million respectively.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tong Tai Alex (%2), the company secretary of the
Company, is responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters and ensuring that the Board policies and
procedures, as well as the applicable laws, rules and
regulations are followed.

Mr. Tong took not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during
the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance for its Directors and senior management. The
insurance covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses
and liabilities for any legal action against them arising out of
corporate activities.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and
strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which will
enable Shareholders and investors to make the informed
investment decisions.

The AGM provides opportunity for the Shareholders to
communicate directly with the Directors. The Chairman of the
Company and the chairperson of the Board Committees will
attend the AGM to answer Shareholders’ questions. The Auditor
will also attend the AGM to answer questions about the
conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the
Auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor
independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing
a two-way relationship and communication between the
Company and the Shareholders and maintains a website of the
Company, where up-to-date information on the Company’s
business operations and developments, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are
available for public access.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company currently does not have any dividend policy in
place and the Board does not expect to formulate any specific
dividend policy in the near future. The declaration of dividends
is subject to the discretion of the Board and the approval of
the Shareholders. The Directors may recommend a payment of
dividends in the future after taking into account operations and
earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial
condition, contractual restrictions, capital expenditure and
future development requirements, shareholders’ interests and
other factors which they may deem relevant at such time. Any
declaration and payment as well as the amount of the
dividends will be subject to the Company’s constitutional
documents and the Cayman Islands Companies Law, including
the approval of the Shareholders. Any future declarations of
dividends may or may not reflect the Company’s historical
declarations of dividends and will be at the absolute discretion
of the Directors.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange in a timely manner after each general meeting.

72 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED B/EEZERERAF

IR S BR

AR B I S BREE ] BB B B SRR I A
SHEEMABOREEE REEKRAHES
SWMEREWALBRLE -EFHEEERE
BRAN  BAFRNESG BRYBKAR &
HIBR I ~ BEARFI T R AR RBERF R » IRz A
RERNEANERSBRNEMERR  RAR
IR RS o AR M B R MR AN BA BB B
THRYANTAARANERERX M MASES
REPENRE - BREGRELAE - BREMK
BERAEEHAGETERRARBBENKRE
Sk WHHEFTERBBERE -

iz SR A

REREEROEREERN  ERRERREHINZ
REE(BEEEEMNES) BUELRERE
$ o

EERRARERENMMARZRBRE LTHRAA
BEFARR MBREERBESBRRAGHER
BB AR R MBS P A s Ao o



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a
general meeting of the Company according to the Articles of
Association. Any one or more members holding as at date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or any one of the company
secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting of the Company to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about
the Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the
headquarters of the Company at 17th and 18th Floors, Cang
Hai Industry Building, No. 3388 Cang Hai Road, Yinzhou
District, Ningbo City, Zhejiang Province, China (email address:
chanhigh@chanhigh.com.hk).
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R - HERERERE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The ESG Report summarises the Group’s policies, measures
and performances on the key ESG issues.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report illustrates the Group’s policies and
performances regarding the environmental and social aspects
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

REPORTING SCOPE AND BOUNDARIES

The ESG Report covers the Group’s core and material business
namely provision of services of municipal work and landscape
construction and the related services in Zhejiang Province, the
PRC and Hong Kong, including:

o Chanhigh Hong Kong Limited;
o Zhejiang Chanhigh Construction Limited; and

o Zhejiang Hai Sui Xin Mao Construction Management

Limited.
There was no material change in the reporting scope in the

Year. If the scope and boundaries of the specific contents
vary, they are noted in the relevant section of the ESG Report.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

REPORTING BASIS

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG
Guide to summarise the ESG performances of the Group. The
Group has complied with the disclosure requirements of the
“comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Guide. The
ESG Report is prepared on the basis of the four reporting
principles — materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency:

o “Materiality” Principle: The Group determines material ESG
issues by stakeholder engagement and materiality
assessment.

. “Quantitative” Principle: Information is presented with
quantitative measure, whenever feasible, including

information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions
used and provision of comparative data.

° “Balance” Principle: The ESG Report identifies the
achievements and challenges faced by the Group.

o “Consistency” Principle: The ESG Report uses consistent
methodologies for meaningful comparisons in the
following years unless improvements in methodology are
identified.

The information contained herein is sourced from official
documents and statistics of the Group, as well as the
combined control, management and operations information
provided by the subsidiaries in accordance with the Group’s
relevant policies. The ESG Report is prepared and published in
both English and Chinese. In the event of contradiction or
inconsistency, the English version shall prevail.

REVIEW AND APPROVAL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring the
integrity of the ESG Report and to the best of their knowledge,
the ESG Report addresses all relevant material issues and fairly
presents the ESG performance of the Company. The Board
confirms that it has reviewed and approved the ESG Report.
The ESG Report was reviewed and approved on 28 March
2025.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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FEEDBACKS

The Group respects your view on the ESG Report. Should you
have any opinions or suggestions, you are welcome to contact
us by emailing to the following address:
chanhigh@chanhigh.com.hk.

ABOUT THE GROUP

The Group principally provides landscape and municipal works
construction and maintenance services to its customers. In
addition, the Group undertakes building works and renovation
works, and provides other services such as the provision of
maintenance and heritage building restoration services.

The Group has attained various qualifications and certifications,
the details are as follows:

o the First-Grade General Contractor for Municipal Public

Works;

° the First-Grade General Contractor for Housing
Construction Projects;

o the First-Grade Professional Contractor for Building

Renovation Projects;

o the First-Grade Professional Contractor for Historic Building
Projects;

° the First-Grade Professional Contractor for Urban and
Street Lighting Projects;

° A-Grade Landscape Construction Design;

° A-Grade Municipal Public Work Supervision;

o A-Grade Housing Construction Projects Supervision;

o the Second-Grade General Contractor for Highway
Projects;
° the Second-Grade General Contractor for Water Works and

Hydropower Projects;

° the Second-Grade Professional Contractor for

Environmental Construction Projects;
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

° the Second-Grade General Contractor for Mechanical and
Electrical Engineering Projects;

° the Second-Grade Professional Contractor for Foundation
Construction Projects; and
Steel

° the Second-Grade Professional Contractor for

Structure Construction Projects.

BOARD STATEMENT

On behalf of the Group, our Board is pleased to present the
ESG Report for the Year. The Group endeavours to put
sustainable development of our business as the top priority of
our long-term development goals, and incorporates
climate-related issues and ESG elements into our long-term
business strategic planning. As the most important leading role
of the Group, the Board holds the ultimate responsibility to
oversee, manage and monitor the Group’s ESG issues and
progress.

The Group has formalised an interdepartmental ESG working
group to coordinate different departments and enhance their
mutual cooperation, to ensure that performance is consistent
and stakeholders’ expectations can be met. We work together
to realise our sustainable development goals as a team. More
details of the Group’s ESG governance structure are disclosed
in the “ESG Governance Structure” section of the ESG Report.
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As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group has set clear
short-, medium- and long-term sustainable development vision
and goals to achieve ongoing emission reduction progress
according to governmental requirements of different countries
and regions. Relevant emission reduction targets and
corresponding strategies are established and sustainable
development factors have been incorporated into our strategic
planning, business model and other decision-making
processes. The Board of Directors regularly monitors and
reviews the effectiveness of management, including reviewing
the Group’s ESG performance and adjusting corresponding
action plans. Effective implementation of ESG policies relies on
the collaboration of different departments and following the
recommendations given by the Stock Exchange.

The Group strives to ensure the establishment of appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems to
supervise the identification and assessment of ESG and
climate-related risks and opportunities, and to respond to the
challenges and impacts of different times.

The Board of Directors will continue to review and monitor the
environmental, social and corporate governance performance of
the Group and provide material, reliable, consistent and
comparable environmental, social and corporate governance
information to its stakeholders for making contributions to
create a better environment.

Looking ahead, the Group will closely follow the national
policies and capture opportunities arising from various
circumstances, so as to realise the “Dream of Chanhigh” and
open a new chapter of Chanhigh.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group has established a systematic ESG Governance
structure. The Board endeavours to support the Group’s
commitment to fulfill its environmental and social responsibility
and has the overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy
and reporting. It is also responsible for evaluating and
determining the Group’s ESG-related risks and ensuring that
appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal
control systems are in place.

The interdepartmental ESG Working Group reports directly to
the Board and is responsible for monitoring the implementation
of ESG initiatives and corresponding performance. It is also
responsible for the communication with external consultants
and the preparation of the ESG Report.

The Board regularly reviews the Group’s ESG performance and
goals, and examines and approves the Group’s annual ESG
Report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group recognises the participation of its stakeholders is
vital for the Group and its sustainability goals. The Group
believes that stakeholder engagement has a significant level of
influence in developing sustainable development strategies and
fulfilling social responsibilities which is the basis for the
Group’s strategy formulation and decision-making.
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The Group has established various engagement channels for its
stakeholders to understand their concerns regarding the
Group’s operations. The identified key stakeholders and the
corresponding engagement channels are as follows:

Stakeholders
FoE

Government

B

Shareholders and
Investors
BRREEREE

Employee

’E

Issues of Concern
el

° To comply with laws
o  ETER

° Proper tax payment
o HEETIE
° Promote regional economic

development and employment
e  REBEKLEERMHME

o Low risk

. 1K 3 B

o Return on investment

o 1% & B 5

° Information disclosure and
transparency

o & AT 5E I id B

° Protection of interests and fair

treatment of shareholders
. RIBREEZD RN FHEF

AEBCRURREBREL  UWTBEHHEHN
SEEEZHRT CHRENTEHNHEMEED
BERBIT

Engagement Channels

BRERE

o Corporate events

. (SR

o Annual, quarterly, interim reports,
ESG Reports and other published
information

. FEEHS - FEHE  PHRERE
Fi B ERRE LR ARER

° Corporate events

. [EELAEE

° Annual general meeting and other
shareholder meetings

e BREAFRGRHMBRRERRE

o Annual, quarterly and interim
reports and other published
information

J FERE  FTERSRPHBEAR
Hip A& R

o Website of the Company and the
Stock Exchange, respectively

o AR X A e B A% B A8

° Email

. EH

° Working environment ° Training, seminars, briefing
o THEIRIR sessions

o Career development opportunities  ® BZIl - g kETg

o BEERKE . Cultural activities

. Self-actualisation o AEIEED

o BRER . Intranet and emails

° Health and safety
o fEEEZ 2
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Stakeholders
E560E

Client
TR

Suppliers
33

Peer Industries

CEVE ¥

Community
HE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Issues of Concern
REXEE

° Comply with laws and high-quality

services
. BFEENAES@ERE
o Stable relationships
. = E B &
° Information transparency
s [EREH
° Integrity
s HE
° Business ethics
. BRER
° Fair competition

. NFHIR

. Quality and price
. BEEER

o Supplier evaluation

o HEMFE

° Experience sharing
° Iz« gﬁ/\ =

o Cooperation

s  AfFlE

° Fair competition
. ATEF
o Community involvement

. HEZ2H@
o Social responsibilities
. BT

Engagement Channels
BERE

Website, brochures, annual,
quarterly reports and other
published information

Mk EEM - FERE  FTERS
DA R EAth 2 R & R

Email and customer service hotline
BE %K - R

Social communication channels
MATERREE

Feedback forms

85 %=

Site visit

BHRER2H

Supplier rating system
T/\FE?%%D /\//L
Supplier conference
HEBRS

Site visit
FinRRELH

W\

Conference meeting
TEEE
Exhibitions

RE

Corporate events

[EREAEE)

Volunteering service

& LRH

Charity and social investment
BERMERE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group has conducted an internal and external materiality
assessment to determine the materiality of ESG issues in the
ESG Report. The Group’s management has conducted surveys
with the identified key stakeholders. They have expressed their
opinions and recommendations on the related issues related to
the Group’s operations.

Consolidating the results from internal and external materiality
assessment, the Group has prioritised the issues based on the
importance of the issue to the business and the importance to
stakeholders (refer to the chart below). The Group determines
the extent of disclosure for specific issues in the ESG Report
by reference to the corresponding materiality. Based on the
materiality matrix, the Group believes the most pertinent issues
in the Year include the following:

EEMFME

AEBDETRBRIMNBEZ LG  AEER
BHEEAWMETHNRERE HEMhEREEZE
2 -AEEEEECHCEENTIZRNEL
TTHRN TESHECHESELERBNZ
BEXTERMER -

BBEANMMINFEZUFEHER  AEE
REBZEUEBNEENNERFHENEE TR
ETHEBENEERF (2ETER) - AEERB
SERERNEREREETRALGE ARSI
ERENRERE - REEENEREE - AEEH
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Customer
satisfaction
BEFME

Anti-corruption
training for
management and
employees
EEEMNETHN
e

Development and
training of staff

ST HERNE

Diversity and equal
opportunities

SHRMNTERE

Employment
practices

EEHEE

CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Business ethics
BMEER

Intellectual
property
HiBERE

Communication and
connection with
local community

EHE B
BEME

Compliance with
regulations on
marketing, product
and service labelling
BIMSEERER
MRS R LR

REBERAERAR

Safety of
projects/services/
products
BB BR#%
EmZE

Contributions
to the society
HtEER

Customers’ privacy
and confidentiality
EFEHIFAR
MRER

Responsible supply
chain management
BEEN
e

Quality of
projects/services/
products
BAE R

o e
EmmE

Occupational
health and
safety of staff
ETHHBEER
M=z2

Environmental
regulation
compliance

BFRIFER

Anti-discrimination

KRR
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Materiality Matrix & 2 445 &

B HERERERE (B

TIRE

confidentiality
B F 8L FR
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Impact on the Group
HAEENTE
1 Air emissions 11 Employment practices 21 Customer satisfaction
RRIT R (e BEEWEE
2 Greenhouse gas emissions 12 Diversity and equal 22 Intellectual property
BEREEEN opportunities of staff G EE e
BIZTERTEHSE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

The Group has been accredited with 1SO14001:2015
Environmental Management System (in respect of the
construction of municipal engineering, construction
conservation of landscaping and correlative management
activity). The Group is also committed to complying with
requirements stipulated in local environmental laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the Law of the PRC on
Environmental Protection, the Law of the PRC on Prevention
and Control of Water Pollution, the Law of the PRC on
Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution and the Law of
the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution Caused by Solid Waste. During the Year, the Group
was not aware of any material non-compliance with the relevant
environmental laws and regulations.

According to our business development expectation, we have
set clear emission reduction targets, aiming to reduce all our
emissions (including air pollutants, greenhouse gases,
hazardous and non-hazardous wastes, and sewage), energy
consumption (including electricity and heat), consumption of
resources (including water and paper) by 3% before 2026 and
20% before 2036 from the base year of 2021. Our long-term
target is to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050 in Hong Kong
and by 2060 in PRC.

The Group always focuses on municipal and urban landscape
projects and offers its customers sophisticated construction
services. The most significant environmental aspects of the
Group’s operations are wastes, noise, spillage of chemicals and
fossil fuels and uses of resources. The Group has developed
corresponding control procedures including:

° Environmental management plan;

° Waste management procedure;

° Noise control procedure; and

o Material management system.

Management approaches on various environmental impacts are
explained in the following sections.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Emissions

The Group’s operations generate emissions to air, water
and land, which cause impacts on the environment. The
Group has developed a set of policies and measures to
minimise environmental impacts from the construction
works undertaken by subcontractors. For instance, the
Group has adopted new technology and
environmental-friendly processes, recycled used water
and construction waste.

Air Pollution Emissions

In general, dusts are generated from construction
activities and material transportation. Volatile organic
compounds (VOCs) are generated from the spraying
process. Inorganic compounds, such as nitrogen oxides
(NO,) and sulphur oxides (SO,) are generated from the
use of mobile vehicles. The Group has adopted different
measures on the construction sites to mitigate the
generation of dusts and particulate matters (e.g. applying
protective cover on the site, water spraying and
plantation). During the Year, the Group’s main source of
air pollutant emissions was generated from the vehicle
fleet that consumed liquified petroleum gas. The Group
has acquired a plug-in hybrid electric vehicle,
demonstrating our commitment to reducing air pollutants
and greenhouse gas emissions. Moving forward, the
Group will refine the data collection system and continue
to monitor if there is any significant impact on air quality
from the Group’s operations.

Air Pollutants' 2 ZERERY 2 Unit
B
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) RELWINO,)  kgTFie
Sulphur oxides (SO,) e ¥ (s0,) kgT5%
Particulate Matter (PM) 27 FERL(PM) kgT 5%

! The emissions amount was estimated with reference to
“Technical Guidelines for Air Pollutants Emission Inventory
of Road Vehicles (Trial)”, “National Standard of liquefied
petroleum gases of the PRC”, the “Energy Statistic
Manual” issued by the International Energy Agency and
“How to prepare an ESG Report Appendix 2" issued by
the Stock Exchange.

2 Data were estimated based on the following assumptions:
(1) all mobile vehicles are passenger cars with seating
capacity of 9 or less; (2) the emission standard is National
V; and (3) the average fuel consumption per 100km is
14.5 litres.
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2024 2023 2022
—EBINE =—ZB-=f Z—ZEZ=fF
6.51 7.00 8.42
0.02 0.03 0.03
0.71 0.78 0.94
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CHERERERS (B)

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions

Regarding the Group’s operations, GHG emissions were
mainly generated from fuel consumption of mobile
vehicles and purchased electricity in offices and projects.
The Group has developed procedures to control GHG

BEREHK

FLAN SR B 08 2 R ERBEHPERE
25}5E&%@ﬁ%ﬁ‘]%ﬂﬁﬁ&ﬂ#“*&ﬁ
BESMNEE N - AREE B E IR AR
BERORFRE L RIR ERBHEM - AAEH AT A

emissions from energy consumption. The details can be

2BERNBI# -

referred to the section headed “Use of Resources”.

Greenhouse
Gas Emissions?® BERBHR Unit 2024 2023 2022
By —E-NEFE ZE=Z= —E-=
Scope 14 #E1 tonnes CO,-
equivalent
W —S(LREE 59.07 58.17 69.92
Scope 2° #[E2° tonnes CO,-
equivalent
S EE 126.30 181.11 249.96
Total GHG Emissions BRER tonnes CO,-
equivalent
B Atk EE 185.38 239.28 319.88
Intensity® S tonnes CO,-
equivalent/m?
L= =N
2/ FHK 0.05 0.05 0.07
8 The GHG emissions are calculated based on “Methodology 8 BRERBHERENHEEREEAZTERN
for Accounting and Reporting of Greenhouse Gas BREMmE(TEAEMITEREBETRE
Emissions from Enterprises in Other Industries (Trial)” BERE A A e (Fl17)) - R
issued by National Development and Reform Commission BRI AT &E’\](EPSE%;%]%%;:EZ%
of PRC, “GHG Protocol Tool for Energy Consumption in BRETA(210R)) - PEARRRS AR
China (Version 2.1)" published by World Resources ﬁﬁEl’\J<<2019/JEH3FI§EEPIu:niﬁk?é%%ﬁ%a?
Institute, “Results of Emission Reduction Project China P A 2 ~ (2021 BETE B P B @ 18 E
Regional Grid Baseline Emission Factor in 2019”, “Results MEEZBERAZ) - <<2021?€j7:%1t
of Emission Reduction Project China Regional Grid ﬁ)ﬁ#ﬁﬁl?)&(m% ERBYAEL R
Baseline Emission Factor in 2021”, “2021 Electricity CO2 WEER BERIE) <<PCC;FM§2§}§%
Emission Factor” and “Guidelines for Corporate Accounting FRFHERE) <<IPCCﬂ1I%x5§%ﬁ//Z
and Reporting of Greenhouse Gas Emissions Power A WE)  BRE RGOS EEE
Generation Facilities” issued by the Ministry of Ecology WwE) B Fﬁ?‘ﬁﬁﬁ’]@ﬂﬁ?ﬁ@%iﬁ #t
and Environment of the People’s Republic of China, “IPCC g RERRERR2) BB 5&%&95%%
Fifth Assessment Report on Climate Change”, “IPCC Sixth et m) IR B AR RT H ) RCBIBR 2R E
Assessment Report on Climate Change”, “Sustainability — AMEMERE) - A0 BERENR
Report” issued by the Hong Kong Electric, “How to BRIEEN  EANEBEEZRE - I
prepare an ESG Report Appendix 2” issued by the Stock TEEER -

Exchange, ““Low Carbon Living Calculator” published by
Environment and Ecology Bureau of Hong Kong and
“International Energy Agency — Oil Information database
documentation”. Emissions from construction projects,
which are borne by subcontractors, are not included as
they are not accessible by the Group.

4 Scope 1 refers to direct emissions from operations that are
owned or controlled by the Group. The fuel combustion of
mobile vehicles and plug-in hybrid electric vehicle is
calculated in Scope 1. As the beginning and end inventory
of CFC-12 is unknown, the emission from the refill of 75kg
of CFC-12 during the year cannot be estimated. We will
continue to enhance our data collection.

5 Scope 2 refers to “energy indirect” emissions resulting from
the generation of purchased or acquired electricity
consumed within the Group.

6 The total area of operations of the Group in 2022, 2023 and
2024 are 4,920 m?, 4,451 m? and 3,691 m? respectively.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

During the Year, fuel combustion of mobile vehicles
(Scope 1) and purchased electricity (Scope 2) remained
the major sources of GHG emissions from operations. The
total GHG emissions decreased by about 22.5% and the
GHG emissions per square meter of operations remained
unchanged compared to 2023. This reduction is primarily
attributed to the implementation of energy-saving
measures and a decrease in Scope 2 emissions.

Moving forward, the Group will continue to keep track of
the GHG emissions incurred by business activities and
refine the data collection methods. The Group
encourages its employees to communicate through
telephone and wireless communications in the ordinary
course of business to minimise GHG emissions that may
be produced during their business trips by vehicle and
plane. Besides, the Group encourages the utilisation of
environmental-friendly machinery and equipment such as
quieter construction equipment and higher energy
efficiency plants. The Group also emphasises the proper
disposal of the equipment which does not comply with
the emission standards.

B HERERERE (B

NEE - PRREBE (SBE1) MINEE 7 (88
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CHERERERS (B)

Waste Management

The Group has established “Waste Management
Procedures” to manage the storage, handling and
disposal of wastes generated by the Group’s operation. In
general, the Group actively promotes the “3R” principles
(i.e. reduce, reuse and recycle) and prioritise our efforts
in reducing the waste generation at the source. In the
case that waste could not be reused or recycled, it is
collected and stored at designated location for further
handling by external parties. In addition, staff need to
send discarded office consumables such as electric
lamps, bulbs, and waste paper to the administration
department for replacement, in order to ensure
quantitative control and effective resource management.
The Group also strives to promote a paperless office by
encouraging employees to use e-office and implementing
an electronic document information system. During the
Year, the Group’s main source of waste was generated
from the toner cartridges waste produced in the offices.
Additionally, 0.02 tonnes of office paper was recycled in
this Reporting Period. Moving forward, the Group will
improve and enhance the existing data collection system
to monitor and reduce waste disposal.

Unit
By
Hazardous Waste’ BEEEEY tonnes
L7
Hazardous Waste BEEEEYEE® kglemployee
Intensity® NTIEE
Non-hazardous Waste® mEREEYS tonnes
148
Non-hazardous Waste BEREZYZTE  tonnes/employee
Intensity® NTIEE
7 The figure covered the toner cartridges waste produced in

the offices of the Group. Waste produced from
construction projects, which are borne by subcontractors,
are not included as they are not accessible by the Group.

8 The total number of employees of the Group as at the end
of December 2023 and 2024 are 545 and 405
respectively.

o The figure covered waste paper, food waste and other
domestic waste produced in the offices of the Group.
Waste produced from construction projects, which are
borne by subcontractors, are not included as they are not
accessible by the Group.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Use of Resources

The Group has always attached great importance to the
efficient use of resources, to protect the environment and
to improve operational efficiency. We generally utilise
various resources such as electricity, fossil fuel, water
and paper in our operations. The Group has provided
certain guidelines regarding the efficient use of resources
in the employee manual and required its employees to
enhance their cost-consciousness and to use office
supplies, water and electricity in an efficient manner. The
Group does not consume any packaging materials in the
ordinary course of business as the Group is not a
consumer goods manufacturer. To reduce raw material
consumption, the Group’s construction team makes use of
materials available at the project site to build the
landscapes on-site. For instance, dirt dug out from the
construction site will be used to create the rockery.

Apart from written guidance, the Group has implemented
initiatives on efficient use of resources, for example:

° giving priority to the use of environmentally friendly,
energy-saving electrical appliances and equipment,
and gradually phasing out high energy consumption
and low energy efficiency facilities and equipment;

o reducing the standby energy consumption of office
equipment such as computers, printers and
photocopiers;

o keeping doors and windows closed when air
conditioners are in use, and maintaining the
temperature at 25.5°C inside offices;

° utilising natural light in offices and installing energy-
saving lamps;

o turning off all lights, computers, office equipment and
air conditioners when they are idled;
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BE - #HERERERE (8

90

o cultivating the water-saving habits of staffs, such as
turning off water taps after use and setting up
water-saving signs in water-using areas;

° strengthening the frequency of inspections to
minimise dripping and leaking from water pipes and
taps; and

° implementing the 3R principle, which is “Reducing,
Reusing and Recycling”, in the ordinary course of
business.

Energy Consumption®  HBEJRH € Unit

By
Direct Energy HERBERE kWh in '000s
Consumption F & F F B
Indirect Energy Mg R B kWh in "000s
Consumption FEF BB
Total Energy &5t kWh in *000s
Consumption TEFEE
Intensity EmE kWh in '000s/m?
TERFRE
F 7K

Direct energy consumption refers to the fuel consumed by
mobile vehicles while indirect energy consumption refers
to electricity consumption and fuel consumption by a
plug-in hybrid electric vehicle. The total energy
consumption decreased by 5.4% compared to 2023. This
reduction is primarily attributed to the implementation of
energy-saving measures and decrease in indirect energy
consumption. Moving forward, the Group will continue to
monitor the energy consumption situation with the aim of
reducing overall energy usage.

0 The calculation of energy consumption is based on
“Methodology for Accounting and Reporting of Greenhouse
Gas Emissions from Enterprises in Other Industries (Trial)”
issued by National Development and Reform Commission
of PRC, “China Energy Statistics Yearbook — Appendix 4”
issued by National Bureau of Statistics Energy Statistics
Division, “International Energy Agency — Oil Information
database documentation” and “How to prepare an ESG
Report Appendix 2" issued by the Stock Exchange. It
includes the data from office operations only. Data for
projects were not available.

1 The total area of operations of the Group in 2022, 2023 and
2024 are 4,920m?, 4,451m? and 3,691 m? respectively.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Water Consumption'?

The main source of water consumption is domestic uses
in the office area. The water is supplied by the property
management company. Therefore, there is no issue in
sourcing water. The Group actively promotes water
conservation by prominently displaying “Saving water”
labels in the office area and construction sites. In
addition, we prioritise employee education among those
who engage in water wastage, raising their awarenesses
towards water-saving and recycling. To prevent water
running, bubbling, dripping and leaking, the Group
arranges specialists to conduct inspections and replace
any water-saving appliances that do not meet the
required standards. The performance indicator related to
water consumption is as follows:

Unit
B

KEFEE md
oK
md/employee

MK EER

Water Consumption

Intensity3 YRS

During the Year, water consumption was decreased by
about 24.3% compared to 2023. Moving forward, the
Group will continue to keep track of the water
consumption and implement water-saving measures, in
order to minimise overall water usage.

2 It includes offices in Zhejiang Province only. No water
consumption data is available on the office in Hong Kong
now. The data collection process will be refined in the
future.

= The total number of employees of the Group in 2022, 2023
and 2024 were 529, 545 and 405 respectively.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group has insisted on operating its business in an
environmentally friendly manner at all times and
implemented various measures to minimise the impact of
its production and operation on the environment. In the
procurement and selection of materials used in its
projects, such as paint, the Group evaluates chemical
components of the products to determine if they meet the
safety and environmental protection requirements. The
Group also assigns its specialists to the construction sites
to supervise the compliance of environmental protection
requirements by the construction teams of its
subcontractors. The Group mainly undertakes construction
projects on landscape improvement and living
environment improvement, which may have a certain
impact on the surroundings and people living around the
area during their construction. The external
subcontractors will take active measures to minimise the
impact. For example, the construction team adopts the
following approaches to reduce its impact on the
environment and its consumption of natural resources:

° applying noise-reduction machines in noisy
conditions and adopting automated and hermetic
technologies to reduce mechanical noise;

° filling landscape ponds with rainwater and irrigating
landscape plants with an approved natural water
source nearby as much as possible in the course of
construction; and

° transplanting existing trees in the construction sites
to specific locations and replanting them when the
project is nearly completed.

CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED B/EEZERERAF
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Climate change

Climate change is one of the biggest global challenges
faced by the society nowadays, and we must act now for
our climate and our communities. In recent years,
extreme weather, such as strong winds and heavy
rainfall, as well as tides and floods, have become the
focus of news. Logistics and supply chains are
particularly vulnerable. Heavy rainfall, rising tides, and
floods can cause serious damage to assets such as
buildings, warehouses, and goods in storage, resulting in
financial losses. In response to unpredictable situations,
the Group has internal guideline detailing the emergency
response mechanism to ensure the staff’'s safety.
Moreover, the impacts on project duration caused by the
climate change can be offset through construction
scheduling. Although such incidents are beyond
everyone’s control, the Group believes that all
stakeholders should work together to address climate
change, which will also be regarded as one of the most
significant risks to the world in the coming years.

Recent geopolitical developments have introduced a
multitude of new challenges. However, it would not deter
our commitment to climate action. The pace of change
has expedited around the world, underscoring the
importance for us to accelerate its transition to a
low-carbon economy.

In response to the Paris Agreement, the Hong Kong
Government issued the “Hong Kong's Climate Action
Plan”, and formulated various plans and actions, setting
out the vision of “Zero-carbon Emissions, Liveable City,
Sustainable Development”. The government has
determined to set medium-term goal as halving Hong
Kong’s total carbon emissions from 2005 levels before
2035. Additionally, PRC announced the national “3060”
Carbon Peak and Carbon Neutrality Target, aiming to
peak carbon dioxide emissions by 2030 and strive to
achieve carbon neutrality by 2060. The Group understand
that climate change may have significant impacts on our
operations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIR - B REBRRE (8

94

The Group has identified a series of climate-related risks
and opportunity relevant to our assets and services which
are significant to us. These transition and physical risks
are discussed in the sections below.

Risks

[ B
Short term (01 year) o Physical risks — increase of
H(0-14F) frequency and severity of

extreme weather
o BERERR — BinRKAIEENEE

iy
. Physical risks — flooding
° E%ﬁﬂ’gﬁ/\ //ﬂgﬁ

o Securing the skills and capability
required to implement climate

strategy
. BHUEE RIR KT H R R EE
Hla
Medium term (5 years) o Transition risks —
FHA(54F) Implementation of low-carbon

policies for the operation

o BERR — REEEFETEBRBE

° Transition risks — Supply and
demand for certain services may
change as climate related risks
and opportunities are
increasingly taken into account

o BERR — BERKARENER
FMHBRE S E R - FLERBED
HEAREEBEER(

CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED R/BZERERAT

AEBEB B — R ERPEE KRR
BERAEENORIEEBRRMES - &
LOREMERERSEATED PR

Opportunities
i

o New services to help
communities decarbonise

o EEIEBIMIE D RRS

Technologies to enhance the

performance of operation and

energy efficiency

o AIRTHE S ML IR E 8O R Bl

o Transitioning to low carbon
economy market to meet
government decarbonisation

targets
o EERISERCETISNERF
E’U /)EX ﬁ}u’u H *ﬁ:

Improving resource efficiency —
reduce operating costs

o HEBRME — BEELKA



Medium to long term
(5+ years)

PREI(GFIUAL)

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Risks

2 B

Transition risks — Potential new
regulation and policies which
could affect the operational
costs

WERR — BENFERMBE
AIRE B E A

Transition risks — Development
and use of emerging
technologies may increase the
operational costs, and reduce
the Groups’ competitiveness
BERR — HERTE R ENE
AR RE I IE SR A - WFEIRA
SEMBEFE N

Transition risks — the Group
reputation may be impacted due
to changing customer or
community perceptions of said
the Group’s contribution to or
detraction from the transition to
a lower-carbon economy
BWERRE — AREPILREAR
SE Y ERQBEEE N B RSOR
BB EBREE  REEREA

N2 =z || B2 BB
eI E

We are prepared to address the threats climate change

poses both to our business and to the communities we
serve. The Group essentially plans to respond to local
government initiatives and follow local governments’
emission reduction requirements. We aim to reduce our
emissions by 3% before 2026 and 20% before 2036 from
the base year of 2021. Our long-term target is to achieve
carbon neutrality by 2050 in Hong Kong and by 2060 in
PRC. We are committed to continuously improving our
energy efficiency, applying professional knowledge to
improve on-site efficiency and maintain efficient
management support, in order to safeguard the Group’s
reputation.

Opportunities
wia

° Transitioning to low carbon
economy market to meet
government decarbonisation
targets

o BAREBRKETS  NERBUT
it fix B 12

o Advancement in green building
technologies — increase
revenue through low emission
construction

s MERERMES — B
2 EE LA DA

° To work as a pioneer in the
industry and build up the
relevant reputations
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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SOCIAL ASPECTS

The Group is committed to upholding a high level of corporate
social governance. We recognise the significance of
constructing a safe and healthy work environment, as well as
establishing and maintaining our project quality and social
credibility. In the meantime, the Group devotes itself to
preserving the sustainable development of its business and
community. To promote this business model, the Group has
established a 5-year human resources plan to exhibit prudence
in managing its operations and is cautious in executing
decisions made by the management team.

The Group’s 5-year human resources plan involves the
following main steps:

Demand and
Supply Forecast

Situation

Assessment
B

Analysis

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
B1 Employment

The Group is dedicated to promoting fair and ethical
labour policies. We have established human resource
systems related to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, leave
application, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination
and other benefits and welfare, and circulated such
policies to all employees. The Group has consistently
complied with the requirements set out in relevant laws
and regulations, including but not limited to the Labour
Law of the PRC, the Social Insurance Law of the PRC and
the Trade Union Law of the PRC. During the Year, the
Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations.

96 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED R/BZERERAT
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Policies Concrete Plan

EREZEE S 7 AL pg TSl

EEREILER
B1 1E{&

AREBEHNEBRFMARNE THR -
REBREITANBERER B HM
K iEfE - BEEEA - TR - KRB
FERE ZRLELBER REREENE
Ao AREEETRE NEE—EHER
BTERAREIANESR  BEATRR
(PEARAMBESEE) - (hEARKM
BiHgRBZMPEARKMETSE
E) o AEE - ARBEYAMEEEMEKR
TREBHEBAREREMR -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Remuneration, Compensation and Dismissal

The employee remuneration policies were determined with
reference to factors such as salary information available
in local markets, overall salary standards in the industry,
inflation level, operational efficiency of the Group and the
employees’ qualification, position, length of service and
performance. The employee remuneration package
comprises basic salary, allowance, bonus and other
compensation. The dismissal of employees follows the
procedure as set out in the “Labour Contract
Management Policy”.

Recruitment and Promotion

The Group recruits talents through graduate programmes
and experienced hiring. Departments propose annual
recruitment plan based on their needs. The Group has
established an employee promotion policy and conducts
regular performance appraisals for employees.

Working Hours and Rest Periods

The Group implements five-day workweek in the
Company’s headquarters. Specific position works
nonstandard hours. The Group’s statutory holidays are
implemented in accordance with national regulations,
including sick leave, marriage leave, maternity leave,
nursing leave, bereavement leave, lactation leave,
work-related injury leave, etc.

B HERERERE (B
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Antidiscrimination

As stated in the Group’s Employee Handbook, we ensure
that employees are treated fairly in matters including
hiring and promotion, regardless of their gender and age.

Employee Benefits and Welfare

The Group participates in social insurance and housing
provident fund for applicable employees according to the
national laws and regulations. Related social insurance
includes pension insurance, medical insurance, maternity
insurance, unemployment insurance and work injury
insurance.

Moreover, the Group provides monetary rewards on major
holidays such as the Mid-Autumn Festival and birthdays.
The Group also communicates with the employees
through different channels, e.g. corporate email, instant
message mobile applications such as WeChat, employee
gathering, labour union and team exploration activities.
During the Year, the Group organised several employee
engagement activities to foster a positive relationship
among employees and the Group. These included crafting
succulent terrariums on Woman’s Day, making wormwood
massage hammers at the Dragon Boat Festival,
distributing heat relief supplies during summer, tree
planting, and organising Chinese medicine consultations.

CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED R/BZERERAT
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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AN

.

Employee BT

Employee Profile as at 31 December R+t=ZA=+—BEI®HR 2024 2023
—E_-_ME —E-=

By Gender R R

Male B 276 371

Female Z 129 174

By Age Group RER

Below 30 305 AT 70 87

30-50 30-5073% 268 367

Above 50 508 A 67 91

By Employment Type REEESE

Full time 25 405 545

Part time I 0 0

By Geographical Region % 1t 15

Hong Kong &5 1 1

The PRC H 404 544

Total a&t 405 545

Employee Turnover Rate" BImAE" 2024 2023 ‘_%
—B-mE —E=-= )

By Gender &M Bl

Male S 49% 36%

Female 2z 26% 19%

By Age Group RE®R

Below 30 30T 66% 53%

30-50 30-507%% 38% 28%

Above 50 505 M 30% 22%

By Geographical Region % 1t 15

Hong Kong e 0% 0%

The PRC H 41% 31%

Overall A&t 41% 31%

1 Turnover rate equals to the number of employees left during 1 RARENFEETHBEEBRIUELRE

the corresponding year divided by the number of T&H-

employees at the end of the corresponding year.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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100 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Health and Safety

The Group has been in strict compliance with relevant
laws and regulations, including but not limited to the Work
Safety Law of the PRC, the Emergency Response Law of
the PRC and the Regulation on Work-Related Injury
Insurances. The Group has established a management
system which has been accredited with 1SO45001:2018
Occupational Health and Safety Management System (in
respect of the construction of municipal engineering,
construction conservation of landscaping and correlative
management activity). In the Year, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with the health and
safety laws and regulations and there was no case of
work-related injury or fatality.

The data of the Group’s work-related injuries and fatalities
of the past three reporting year are listed as below:

Number of work-related fatalities IkTEE

Rate of work-related fatalities AT =
Number of work injuries IEEHE
Lost days due to work injury TEEBIERRHE

The Group has formulated a safety work management
handbook for the safety work management of other
parties such as the project departments and other
departments of the Group. The project departments are
not only in charge of organising and implementing the
safety work in detail, but also responsible for supervising
and monitoring the execution of safety requirements by
construction teams of the subcontractors as per the
requirements in the handbook.

The Group has developed an employee manual which
provides guidance in respect of employees’
responsibilities for their health and safety at the
workplace.

REBERERAT
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

B2-1 Work safety management system

The Group has in place stringent internal safety policies
to ensure work safety operations and compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations in the PRC. The quality and
safety department is responsible for overseeing the
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC and Hong Kong, including but not limited to
conducting regular reviews and inspections of safety
performance, conducting reviews of any material
accidents, and ensuring that the Group maintains the
necessary licenses, approvals and permits to operate.

The Group implements a multi-tiers work safety
management system. The general manager, being the first
tier, is responsible for formulating and overseeing the
implementation of safety standards and reporting the
status to the Directors. The quality and safety
department, being the second tier, together with the
general manager, deputy general manager, head of the
quality and safety department and project managers are
responsible for the coordination and organisation of the
safety management of the Group. The project team,
being the third tier, comprises safety officers, workers and
group leaders are responsible for preparing and updating
project logbook and inspecting safety management of the
projects. The Group continuously strengthens the
monitoring of operation safety of staff via the safety
management system.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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B2-2 Safety training

B3

102 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

The Group organises vocational training regularly and it is
the policy that all on-site staff and workers are required to
attend not less than four days of training covering the
Group’s safety policies and measures, relevant legal
requirements, equipment operations, prevention measures
and company protocols in the event of accidents. In
addition, all employees of the Group are required to
attend a safety seminar and pass an examination
covering the Group’s production safety guidelines, safety
knowledge and protocols on an annual basis.

The Group’s safety management system includes a
reporting and recording system for safety accidents of our
construction sites. All safety accidents must be reported
to the general manager of the Group immediately.
Personnel from the responsible project team are required
to inspect the site immediately to oversee the handling of
the accident and ensure evidence of the accident has
been kept intact. Investigation of the accident will be
conducted to find out the cause as well as establishing
accountability and to identify improvement measures.

Development and Training

The Group believes that its employees are valuable
assets. Competition for excellent employees is fierce in
the construction service industry in the PRC, and the
Group offers competitive remuneration to attract and retain
the talented ones. Regular reviews of employee
remuneration are carried out in order to retain
outstanding employees and attract valuable external
talents.

RBERERAT
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

The Group emphasises the development of our
employees and tries our best to help them to realise their
career goals while making efforts to meet business
targets. The Group monitors its employees in the
construction sites for safety purpose and regularly
provides them with safety and skill training. The Group
also has corresponding requirements in place for
construction site safety management.

The Group will keep upgrading the professional
development platform and assessment systems for our
employees, roll out the tailor-made leadership and
know-how training programmes and offer them with better
promotion opportunities that meet their needs and
expectations.

Training Activities

The Group has organised a wide range of training
programmes for staff members at all working levels,
including first aid training and fire safety system training,
striving to support the professional and personal
development of its employees. The training covers various
areas including but not limited to:

° Chinese traditional culture;

° Engineering technology;

° Onsite safety management; and

° Laws and regulations related to construction sector.

In June 2024, the Group collaborated with the Yinzhou
District Human Resources and Social Security Bureau to
lead a pilot project titled “One Assessment, Two
Certificates”. This initiative combines the examinations for
title evaluation and skill level recognition into one
process. Candidates can be assessed once and receive
two qualification certificates. This approach encourages
more workers to enhance their skills, thereby improving
the Group’s competitiveness in the long run.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
R HERERERE (B

The performance indicators related to employee training BEEIMENEIIEZNT
are as follows:

Percentage of Trained Employees'® FIETHZE 2024 2023
As at 31 December R+=—HA=+-—H —E-lmEF —E=-=
By Gender & Bl

Male Es 100% 100%
Female ks 100% 100%
By Employment Categories TR B A A% Bl

Senior Management BREEAE 100% 100%
Middle Management FEEERAE 100% 100%
General Staff —RET 100% 100%
Overall a&t 100% 100%

Average Training Hours Completed

Per Employee'® F 1 Z 5 hF & 2024 2023
As at 31 December R+=-—BA=+—H —E-NE —E-=
By Gender R Bl
Male s 2.46 3.00
Female Z 2.45 3.00
By Employment Categories R B 4% Bl
Senior Management SREEAS 2.50 3.00
Middle Management FEZIEASR 2.50 3.00
General Staff —fRET 2.45 3.00
Overall &ast 2.46 3.00
15 Percentage of trained employees equals to the number of 15 ZIEBIBESEERETEEMNZINIE I
trained employees in the specified category divided by the B AMERSRRIFRE T8 -

number of employees in the specified category at the end
of the corresponding year.

16 Average training hours equals to the total training hours in 1 45 5 511 B S5 PR T KR 1 4R 85 B R B
the specified category divided by the total number of LATEE RIS RE THEE -
employees in the specified category at the end of the
corresponding year.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Labour Standards

The Group always respects and strictly complies with all
relevant labour laws and regulations in the place where it
operates, including but not limited to the Law of the PRC
on Protection of Minors, the Provisions on the Prohibition
of Using Child Labor of PRC and the Employment
Ordinance of Hong Kong. The Group has developed
rigorous and systematic measures for approving and
selecting employees. For example, Group obtains and
verifies their valid identity documents to avoid illegal
hiring of child labour and ensure that the employment is
in compliance with relevant laws and regulations. The
Group also schedules employees’ working hours in
accordance with the statutory standards and provides
paid leave and sick leave entitlements in compliance with
relevant labour laws. During the Year, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance case relating to
child labour and forced labour.

OPERATING PRACTICES

B5

Supply Chain Management

The Group has established relevant policies and systems
in force for supply chain management, including
procedures and criteria of selecting suppliers, and will
review and reassess such procedures regularly.

The Group procures its construction machinery, materials
and services through impartial and open competitions to
ensure that the selected products and service providers
can satisfy the needs and requirements. In addition to the
consideration of the quality of products or services as
well as business factors in its bidding process for
supplier selection, the Group prefers suppliers who
proactively fulfil their social responsibilities intending to
improve the sustainable development of the Group. For
suppliers with similar performance level, priority will be
given to suppliers with “Low Carbon Product
Certification” and “China Green Product Certification”.
New suppliers will be required to provide business
licenses and permits for opening, in order to verify their
scope of business and ensure the legitimacy of newly
signed contracts.

B4
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIR - B REBRRE (8

The Group is impartial to every product and service
provider to facilitate long-term cooperation. We review our
product and service providers regularly based on their
pricing, quality, aftersales service, reputation and their
ESG performance to ensure that it is provided with
high-quality products and services continuously. If
suppliers violate the Group’s provisions or any other
regulations, they will be blacklisted and their further
orders from the Group will be terminated.

The suppliers mainly provide raw materials, including soil
and rock, machinery, seedlings, steel, tubes and bitumen
for our projects. During the Year, there were 3,312
suppliers in total, of which 2,323 being new suppliers.
The number of suppliers by geographical locations is as
follows:

Geographical Location WV E
Zhejiang Province, the PRC REITTE

Other Provinces, the PRC'? PERHEME DT

Total &5t

i It includes Anhui Province, Beijing, Chongging, Fujian
Province, Guangdong Province, Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, Guizhou Province, Hebei Province,
Henan Province, Hubei Province, Hunan Province, Inner
Mongolia Autonomous Region, Jiangsu Province, Jiangxi
Province, Jilin Province, Liaoning Province, Shandong
Province, Shanxi Province, Shaanxi Province, Shanghai,
Sichuan Province, Tianjin, Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous
Region and Yunnan Province.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Project Responsibility

The Group is committed to providing high-quality services
and ensuring their compliance with relevant quality
standards and sustainability requirements. We also strive
for high standards for our projects. The Group strictly
abides by the laws and regulations related to health and
safety and project quality, for instance, Construction Law
of the PRC, Construction Project Quality Control
Regulation, Product Safety Law of the PRC, and the
Administrative Regulations on the Work Safety of
Construction Projects. In the Year, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations. As the Group does not produce physical
goods, issues relating to advertising and labelling have
no significant impact on the Group’s operations. The
Group has formulated related procedures and measures
relating to quality management, complaint handling,
intellectual property and customer data protection and
privacy matters, fulfilling the requirements stated in the
Law of the PRC on the Protection of Consumer Rights
and Interests and the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
of Hong Kong etc. The details are illustrated in the
following sections. The details of workplace health and
safety are mentioned in the section “B2 Health and
Safety”.

Quality Management

The Group has always been focusing on quality control in
project construction since its incorporation. In respect to
human resources, we have a team of experienced project

managers in undertaking various landscape and
municipal works construction projects. In respect of
systems, the Group owns a comprehensive quality

management system and is accredited with
ISO9001:2015 Quality Management System and GB/T
50430-2017 Code for Quality Management of Engineering
Construction Enterprises (in respect of the construction of
municipal engineering, construction conservation of
landscaping and correlative management activity). We
have also established a complete and constantly effective
management policy for management of technology,
operations, human resource and file management.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIR - B REBRRE (8

The Group have also carried out regular training and has
established a management system covering various
aspects including management of quality of construction
staff, quality control on raw material and site
management, to ensure the timely and efficient
completion of its projects.

Stringent quality control is critical to the Group’s
reputation and success. We have implemented
comprehensive quality control measures to ensure work
quality. The Group has in place an organisational
structure for quality control. The general manager is
responsible for setting the overall quality control
decisions, managing quality control matters and assessing
the effectiveness of the measures. The quality and safety
department is responsible for formulating and monitoring
the implementation of quality control policies, handling
reported quality control issues and making
recommendations to enhance work quality. At the project
sites, beside of the project manager, the quality
inspection officer(s) in each project primarily responsible
for daily monitoring and audit of the quality control
measures, such as supervising raw materials procurement
and carrying out work quality inspections. The following is
a summary of the key quality control measures
implemented by the Group:

° Inspection of raw materials: Incoming raw materials
are inspected in accordance with the Group’s
quality standards and the specifications of its
customers in the construction contracts. A product
certificate is required before using such raw material
for the construction projects;

o Training: Staff should attend training before work to
ensure their understanding of, and compliance with,
the Group’s quality standards. In addition, a daily
meeting is held with staff working on-site to review
construction safety measures and precautions;

° Standardised construction: Standardised construction
methods and technique are implemented in the
construction projects to facilitate the implementation
of such methods and technique by workers on-site;
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

° On-site inspections and rectification: Regular and ad
hoc inspections and spot checks are conducted on
the construction project sites, the Group’s personnel
are required to implement immediate rectification
measures if any quality control issues are identified.
Upon rectification, the quality control issues will be
inspected again to ensure that such issues have
been resolved. Independent construction supervisor
appointed by the customers will conduct periodic
inspections and spot inspections of the construction
projects; and

. Quality control review: After the completion of each
project and at the end of each quarter, a
comprehensive review and analysis of any quality
control issues is conducted.

The Group has set rules for the approval of completion of
construction projects as well as the repair and
maintenance during the warranty period.

Our Project Quality

During the Year, the Group received a total of 25
recognitions and awards at the provincial and municipal
level for its outstanding performance of our construction
projects. Please refer to the section headed “Awards and
Recognitions” for the full list of awards and recognitions
obtained in 2024.

Complaint Handling

The Group has standard procedures in place to deal with
the client’'s complaints. Upon receiving any complaint, it
will take timely action to keep track of its settlement,
ensuring every complaint being handled properly. During
the Year, the Group was not aware of any cases of
complaints.
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110 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Intellectual Property Management

The Group has been in strict compliance including but not
limited to the Patent Law of the PRC, Copyright Law of
PRC and intellectual property protection in the PRC. In
order to protect the intellectual property, the Group has
implemented protective measures covered various phases
of the project, such as, design, construction, etc.

Customer Information Protection and Privacy

The Group has formulated the Policy of Confidential
Information Protection (H&ZRREHIE). Only designated
personnel are allowed to access the filing room.
Personnel are required to obey the related regulations.
For example, they are prohibited to discuss the content of
the files with outsiders and review documents that are not
relevant to their job duties. Strict procedures are applied
when the archives need to be destroyed. If there are any
files missing or stolen, it must be reported to the senior
management in a timely manner.

Anti-corruption

The Group rigorously complies with the local laws and
regulations regarding anti-corruption and anti-money
laundering, including but not limited to the Criminal Law
of the PRC, the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC
and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong.
The Group has a series of practices and employees’
code of conduct against corruption and money laundering
in effect.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

The Group value honesty and integrity and avoid from
any corruption or violation of rules such as bribery,
money laundering, extortion and fraud. We believe that it
is necessary to enhance the morality in the Group, so as
to maintain its sustainability and to win the confidence of
its employees, customers, suppliers and other business
partners.

The Group always pays high attention to anti-fraud, we
have formed the corporate culture featuring integrity and
fairness inside the Group. It may unconditionally dismiss
any employee who is involved in corruption or bribery or
deceives the Group by means of forgery, and we will take
legal action against such person whether or not the
Group suffers from any loss due to such misconduct.

The Group has whistle-blowing policy in effect for
employees to report directly to the Group’s senior
management any misconduct and dishonest behaviours,
such as bribery, fraud and other offences.

Furthermore, the Group has specified in the employees’
handbook that it is entitled to terminate the employment
contract with any employee who is bribed with money,
gifts or commission, etc., and reserve the right to take
further legal actions against such person. Through
corporate  WeChat platform, the Group disseminates
information on anti-corruption occasionally to raise the
awareness among employees.

During the Year, the Group arranged an anti-corruption
training session for our employees, promoting a strong
stance against bribery and fostering a harmonious
society. The training session focused on the code
of clean conduct, and a total of 63 participants
attended. The Group had complied with the relevant laws
and regulations regarding anti-corruption and
money-laundering and had no concluded legal case
regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or
its employees.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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COMMUNITY

B8

112 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Community Investment

The Group actively participates in charitable activities in
communities and cities where our projects are operating
and constructing, and encourages employees to
participate in in-house or external community activities.

During the Year, the Group organised several volunteer
activities to support the community. During the national
college entrance examination period, we collaborated with
the Ningbo Housing and Urban-Rural Construction Bureau
and the Ningbo Construction Industry Association to
establish a “Love Service Station” at the entrance of the
examination center at Ningbo High School. For the
candidates, we prepared “Love Gift Bags” containing
stationery such as erasers, water pens, and 2B marking
pens. Additionally, we set up a rest area and provided
mineral water, heat-preventive medications, fans, and
raincoats to address the needs of candidates in case of
emergencies, as well as to accommodate parents and
security personnel. We created a favorable examination
environment, passed on love and positive energy to
candidates and parents, and sent our sincere blessings
to the young people.

In addition, the Group participated in the “Micro Wish”
initiative benefiting children in Muli Tibetan Autonomous
County, by purchasing and sending 55 sets of national
costumes to those eager to stand on stage and perform
in choirs. As a socially responsible company, we
recognize the importance of education for children’s
growth. We hope that through this donation, we can
provide more art education resources for the children in
Muli Tibetan, helping them become more determined and
confident on their journey to chase their dreams.

The Group also donated approximately RMB30,000, which
was allocated to the ‘Green Yinzhou Planting Hope’
universal seedling campaign of the Ningbo Shanyuan
Public Welfare Foundation, as well as a public welfare
cash donation to the Jinping County Red Cross in
Sichuan Province.
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AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS RIFEF T _
The Group's efforts have been recognised with numerous of ZAEEREBAE NER T RLEIENRA - B8 Qi
awards during the Year. The details are as follows: BN -
Award and Recognition Issuing Organisation
R IR A KB
2024 Zhejiang Province AAA Grade “Contract- Zhejiang Province Market Supervision Administration
keeping and Credit-keeping” Enterprise IEMSEEEER

2024 F T BEAAAR [ STERIEER I

Ningbo City 2024 the Second Batch of “Specialised Ningbo Economic and Information Technology Bureau
and New” Small and Medium-sized Enterprises ERTML&BENEELCR

BN 2024F EE —HIFERBEH /%

Ningbo City 2024 Quality Structure List Ningbo Yinzhou District Housing and Urban-Rural
ERT2024FBEHEEEE Construction Bureau
R T ER M R A BRI AR IR R
2024 Civilised Construction Environment of Housing  Ditto *
and Municipal Engineering Works [l -

2024k BEETH ITREXHMIIRE

2024 Safe Construction in the Field of Housing and  Ditto
Municipal Engineering il
2024F REEMHR TIZE R F L A2

2024 Excellent Enterprises in Quality Enhancement of Ditto
Housing and Municipal Engineering Projects [k

C24FEEMBMIEEE2RATIEESLE

2024 Yinzhou District Landscaping Vocational Skills  Yinzhou District Housing and Urban-Rural Construction

Competition Group Second Prize Bureau#B M [& 13 5 AL B2 % /B - Yinzhou District
2024 F HN @ EMAR B ER L HEE B 58 Human Resources and Social Security Bureau%k /1| [&
ANERMLERER
Excellent Site for Standardised Production Safety Yinzhou District Human Resources and Social Security
Management BureauE /N [& A 1 B RFI & (RFE B
TREESRLCERERIM
2024 Zhoushan City Construction Project Haishan Zhoushan Housing and Urban-Rural Construction Bureau
Cup (Quality Project) AL TE B 42 R

2024 F MR IS LM (BEITIR)
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Award and Recognition

RIFERT

2024 the Second Batch of “Municipal Safety
Production and Civilised Construction Standard
Sites for Construction Projects in Leshan City”

2024 E BRI TRERIEMARL 2 EEXAET
ZRL T i)

2024 National Municipal Engineering Excellent
Quality Management Group Category 1
Achievements

2024FE2BEMRIEEFEEEE NE—HKR

2024 Excellent Quality Management Team of
Zhejiang Municipal Industry
204 M TEMBITRBAEEEE/ ME

2024 Excellent Quality Management Group of Ningbo
Municipal Industry
204FEERTRITEBEAFLEEE /A

2024 Top 100 Enterprises in Ningbo and the 23rd
Excellent Entrepreneurs in Ningbo

204FERTEEXAREE _+T=EERTES
BEX

The 7th Council Members (Executive Committee)
FtEEEE(FBESE)

2024 Engineering Construction Integrity Typical
Enterprise
2024 FE T RERMEHRBPE

2024 “Ningbo Construction Cup” Outstanding Quality
Management Team Achievement ‘Improving the
Pass Rate of Pervious Concrete Sub-acceptance
for Pervious Concrete Ground Floor Construction’

04FE[BRERMN | BFEEER NMEAKR(RESE
KRR TEEETARKAERE)RE

2024 Credit Evaluation Result of Water Conservancy
Construction Market Entities(AA)

20245 KM B R IH LR ERFERR(AA)

114 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED #EZERERATF

Issuing Organisation

mEEE

Leshan Housing and Urban-Rural Construction Bureau
L mEFMMBERB

China Municipal Engineering Association
PETHRIRGE

Zhejiang Municipal Industry Association

HTEMBITXEGE

Ningbo Municipal Industry Association
BERTHRITRDE

Ningbo Enterprises Confederation ZjF it EB A& -
Ningbo Entrepreneurs Association ZF ¥R HE
Ningbo Federation of Industrial Economy %88 T %

T CRAANE=
KEBES

Ditto
[ E

China Association of Construction Enterprise
Management
TEEICEERERE

Ningbo Construction Industry Association

BRMEEEGE

China Water Engineering Associationd BEI/K ¥ Li2th& -
China Water Conservancy and Hydropower
Investigation and Design Association B 7K F|7K & 18
ZEHE ~ China Water Enterprises Confederation#
KFEEBE



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Award and Recognition
RIFERAT

Water Conservancy Construction Entity Credit
Rating (AA)
IKH e T E L5 B R EAAR

2024 Ningbo “Camellia Cup” Outstanding
Landscaping Project Award (Including Suburb)
2024 FEERM [ RN | BFREMITIZR(SHIN

2024 Hangzhou Landscape and Greening Project
Construction Safety Production Standardisation
Management Excellent Site

2024 F MM EMARC TREM I 2 £ ERELER
BRIM

Ningbo Survey and Design Industry Integrity Unit
R TSR RATIT RS B

Participating Unit of the “Technical Specification for
Construction of High-rise Assembled Steel
Structure Buildings”

(EERRAMAEEREE TRNRE)2REMN

Principal drafter of organisational standards of the
“Technical Specification for Construction of High-
rise Assembled Steel Structure Buildings”

(REFERAMEEREE IR BiEEEX T8
ZA

Corporate Credit Registration AAA Grade
EEFEELAAR

BE #HERELREE (8

Issuing Organisation

MBS

China Water Engineering Association

REKF TGS

Ningbo Landscape Architecture Association

BERTRREKGE

Hangzhou Landscape and Greening Industry Association

T BRI ITER S

Ningbo Association of survey and Design
ERTHERTHE

China International Association for the Promotion of
Science and Technology

FEIERR R RES

Standardisation Working Committee of China

International Association for the Promotion of Science

and Technology
PEBEREREESERECTIERZES

Fareast Credit Rating Co.,Ltd.
BRREEFHAERAA
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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The Stock Exchange “ESG Guide” Content Index

B CRE

HERERBREES)ATRS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Indicators

(“KPIs”)
IRER -BE

—REEREREMIER ((KPL)

Section/Statement

=i 1

TEHEA B

Subject Area A. Environmental

EEA1EEKRY

Aspect A1 Emissions

General Disclosure

— R

Information on:
BHAERIAE
MEEZEH

KA - FKRIHHEES BEREEEEY

(a) the policies; and

BR: &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.

ETHETABEAZENRBER RO ER -

Environmental
Sustainability
IRIBA BN

taken to achieve them.
HEREEEREZEEMNG L &M
FEIELBEMEINA LR -

APTET S EVRRE B AR M S

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
HERU R SR AR B EUE - 13587

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas | Emissions
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per | BEWY
unit of production volume, per facility).

B (8E1) ReERAEE (BE2) REREHNE (UEETE) & (0
BA)RE(WMUASESEN - FEZEIE) -

KPI' A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Emissions — Waste
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per Management
facility). e — BEEY
FEXEEREEYRE UEAE) X (ER) BE (WAEESEE | 518
7 - BIEREFHE) °

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Emissions — Waste
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per Management
facility). e — BEEY
FESAREEEYRAE UEAE) X (WER) BE (WASESEE | B8
7 - BIEREFHE) °

KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve | Environmental
them. Sustainability
ATV BEMEERERAEDELBEZMEM TSR - RIRAI AN

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are Emissions — Waste
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps | Management

B — BED
B8
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - ERERERE (B

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Indicators
(“KPIs”)
TEHE EEH - —REERBREXEZR (KPL)

Aspect A2 Use of Resources

EBEA2ERER

Section/Statement
BEfBH

General Disclosure

—RWE

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,
water and other raw materials.

BRERER(BREEER - KEEMRME) OBEK -

Use of Resources

BIRE A

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. | Use of Resources
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. | &JR{F M
per unit of production volume, per facility).
REMESNEE R SKBEEER(WE - [Rgoh) BFE (LTE
FTRHAE) REE (WA BEEE N - BHERBE)

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of | Use of Resources
production volume, per facility). — Water
BEKERTRE (WASEEHM - BIERETH) consumption

BRER — KHE#E

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps | Use of Resources
taken to achieve them. BERFEA
PRI MR AR S B E R RENE LB RMERM PR

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that | Use of Resources
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken | — Water
to achieve them. consumption
FACRBUE AR LA BERME - UEFAFTIHAKSIRZBER | ERERA — KEHE
REJNELAEMENN TR -

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) | It is not relevant to

and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
BN MATAREMENRE (AMETE) R (ER) FEEBMNG

=
B

the Group’s
business.

BN ER B R o

Aspect A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

BEHASRERAARER
General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the | The Environment
— MR EE environment and natural resources. and Natural
WIEBITAHBRERRAABRENEAFZENER - Resources
RIERRAEIR
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the | The Environment
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to | and Natural
manage them. Resources
M EBEBDHRRELAARERNEAZENDRRERBEUETE | BREERAEBR

MTTE) -
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N Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Indicators

,«> (“KPlIs”) Section/Statement
TEER -BEH - —REERBEREXERZR (KPL) B8 B9
Aspect A4 Climate Change
'\‘ EBEAIRERL
& General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- | Climate Change
— M= related issues which have impacted, and those which may | ®iz%& 1t
impact, the issuer.
B REHER LA HETAELARENERRGHEBEEEN
BUR ©
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have | Climate Change
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the | Rzt
i actions taken to manage them.
A

WREERAIGEEHBRTAEEZENEARREBEE - MEY
178 °

TEHEB. (g

Subject Area B. Social

Employment and Labour Practices

*‘ BREREREZEIER
a

Aspect B1 Employment

geographical region.

BIUER - FicARI R RE D EEE MK R

EEB1{E R
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
— PRI R BRFM RmE BERES  TERH RE TEHE 27T | ERE
b~ RIRAR DA K HoAth 15 38 S A8 F )
(a) the policies; and
BE M
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
BIFHETARERZENEBERELROINER -
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- | Employment
or part-time), age group and geographical region. (=
MR EEEE (N BSFHEE)  FiRER Mt RE D HEE L
o
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and | Employment

&R
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - ERERERE (B

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Indicators

(“KPIs”)

FTEHR -BH —REBEKBEAXES (KPL)

EBEB2EZRER2

Aspect B2 Health and Safety

Section/Statement
BEfBH

General Disclosure

—RWE

Information on:

FRAREZE2THEREMMRERERRBELBEN -

(a) the policies; and

BE: R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

BTHBTABEALSORMEERATNER -

Health and Safety
BEEZ S

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of | Health and Safety
the past three years including the reporting year. femme s
BEZF (DREERFR)BFRITHMWASB R E -

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
EATEERXITERE - BEEZ S

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures | Health and Safety
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored. femme s

AR A B R ERER 28E M L RBEERTRERTTX -

Aspect B3 Development and Training

EHEB3%# R R

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for | Development and

— MR EE discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. Training
BHRAERERITIEBRBENMBM IR A BR - B IES - | BHEREI

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee | Development and
category (e.g. senior management, middle management). Training
RUEMMEEEEN(NERERERE HREBEF) EASNIIE | BRLEI
8RN -

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender | Development and

and employee category.

BRI R EBERE Y  BREBTAZIEFHER -

Training

R K350l
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIR - B REBRRE (8

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Indicators

(“KPIs”)
IRER BEH  —REERBREREE (KPL)

Aspect B4 Labour Standards

[EEmB4% TR

Section/Statement

-1

General Disclosure
— M=

Information on:

BRA LE T kabI5 T :

(a) the policies; and

BR R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

BIHBITABEAYEORMEERAANER -

Labour Standards
TR

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to | Employment
avoid child and forced labour. &%
AR TR EM M EE AR P E T RRHIZT -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when | Employment

discovered.

Wl R IRE RIS RE B A RIS TR P B -

&R

Aspect B5 Operating

[EEB5 & E &S

Practices

General Disclosure
— M=

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.
EIRHERENRE N GRRER -

Operating Practices
EIEED

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Operating Practices

EwEE DR HEREE - — Supply Chain
Management
EIEEN — fEsE
B

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number | Operating Practices
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and | &3&1Z{l
how they are implemented and monitored.

MR B HERNED - mEARTEBEMNHEREE - A
NEREHRITRERTE -

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and | Operating Practices
social risks along the supply chain, and how they are | Z&:&1Z{I
implemented and monitored.

R BEHERHEREGERGNIRE R gRRAEN - LAKREHE
MITRERAE -
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally | Operating Practices

preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

A SRE R e 2 ARREm MRIBHEH - AKREER
TREREAE-

LEBED
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BE #HERELREE (8

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Indicators

(“KPIs”)
IRER BH —REERBRANER (KPL)

Aspect B6 Product Responsibility

Section/Statement
BEfBH

EEB6EREE
General Disclosure Information on: Project
— R BEAMREHEQMNRENREERELS B  BRHEMALBEEUR | Responsibility
R IT R - Emaft
(a) the policies; and
B - R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.
BITHBETABEATENEBERLROINEHR -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls | Project
for safety and health reasons. Responsibility
EERCELXERBHETEALHRREHMARKNBE DL EmEE
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received | Project
and how they are dealt with. Responsibility
EERNEMRLREORFEHE A REBETTE - EmEE
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting | Project
intellectual property rights. Responsibility
fit R N REB B EEFROED - EmEE
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall | Project
procedures. Responsibility
fi S SR E AR N E AR FF - EmEE
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, | Customer
and how they are implemented and monitored. Information
R EE ERHRE RFLBEE - WRAEERITRERTE - Protection and
Privacy

BEEBRERLE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIR - B REBRRE (8

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Indicators

(“KPIs”)

TEHE EE  —REERBREREZR (KPL)
Aspect B7 Anti-corruption

EEB7RES

Section/Statement

-1

General Disclosure

Information on:

Anti-corruption

— PRI R BRI B - BR - HEFROE B R&5

(a) the policies; and
B M

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.
BIFHETARERZENEBERELROINER -

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices | Anti-corruption
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting | R&EJ5
period and the outcomes of the cases.
RmEMAHETASIREEERAVEEENE THFARGHERE
BARMER ©

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing | Anti-corruption
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored. RES
M BEERRRET  URAEARITRERE -

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and | Anti-corruption
staff. RES
HmMEEREIRHORETEI -

Community

#HE

Aspect B8 Community Investment

EBEBSHTERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of | Community

— M= the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its | #t[&
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

BN RZ2ERTHREEMEMEFTENBREAZEK TG E R
BN R BR °

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental | Community
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). Investment
EIERER (WHE REFE  SIFK 2 X -85 | tEREKRE

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community
FEFTHEMBAMNER (NS EHEMH) - Investment

HERE
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LINKSFIELD

~——— CPA LIMITED

A

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHANHIGH HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Chanhigh Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 135 to 242, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024;

o the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Independent Auditor’s Report
WV 7RG S

LINKSFIELD CPA LIMITED
SEEREIMBBMERAR

Units 2001-02, 20/F., Podium Plaza, 5 Hanoi Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong

B IE LR A B 55 E B 5 H 0 201 2001-02F

BORBERARDBIMIKRR
(REEHESTMEATHERLA])
=R

FREBM(EF)EEX

REBEERARAR(EAR]) MEWNERR ([&

EEH ) HNFE13BEF242H VIR AMEHRE - H
BE:

e RIZFE-_MWEA-_A=t+—"BHZKEAUHK
I

s HEZALFEMNSABmIEMEZEK

s HEZHUFEMNFERSZEEHK

s HEZRULFEMNHKREAIRER UK

s HAMBHmERWE BREASFEEN
BN AR IEE A

EERR

BEERS Eﬂ%#&i‘%aﬁfmlﬁ’? st 2R

é%@ﬁlq /’iH'@,\EJ)ﬁﬁEE’JIF’Wﬂ“

i&%ﬁﬁl(Tlﬁy“ﬁﬁﬂ#&iﬁﬁlu)ﬁaﬁﬁ’&uﬂﬂ&
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

1. revenue from construction contracts and maintenance

services and recognition of contract assets; and
2. impairment assessments of trade receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets

124 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED ABEZERBERA A
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BYRBERE (&

Key Audit Matters
ARBEZREE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EEEBFENTHARELRSENEELR

Revenue from construction contracts and
maintenance services and recognition of contract
assets

ERENVREBRBRARGHNEERR

Refer to notes 5(a) and 23 to the consolidated
financial statements

A A TR EMN iEb(a)F123

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recognised revenue from construction contracts and
maintenance services (“Construction Services”) of
approximately RMB1,748,321,000. As at 31
December 2024, the Group’s contract assets as
arisen from the provision of Construction Services of
approximately RMB1,158,228,000.

HE-Z-_MF+_-_A=1+—BHILFE  SEEHER
BREEERE((BERRBDOKALNAARE
1,748,321,000 - BE ST -_WE+ A=+ —
H W B5ESSHREEIRBELESNEENAA
R #1,158,228,0007T °

Revenue from the Construction Services is
recognised over time. The Group measures
progress towards satisfaction of its performance
obligation using an input method based on the
proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the
estimated total contract costs.

ERBREWRAZBOEZE -—BRERAER - E5E
RARNAE(REBRZEERNEET BRA P &
BERNBEBHZREE -

Contract assets arise when the Group has
performed certain construction works for provision
of Construction Services, but the Group’s right to
consideration is not yet unconditional, based on
factors other than passage of time.

E BESECETHYERREEYEREE R &
REGFEEYE (KERERRD)  AELENEE -

We performed the following procedures to address
the key audit matter:

EERTUTEFAREAREZER

° Understood, evaluated and validated, on a
sample basis, the key controls over the
assessment process of revenue and cost
recognition from Construction Services and
recognition of contract assets, and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors such as
complexity, subjectivity, changes and
susceptibility to management bias;

o UDAHERETTABEAR © SRR B R R AR R AMK
AHERAREBNEENHBENRERES  WEBE
BAEET N E A2 A H 4 B A R b [ &= (an4E
MM B B2MBERRER ORI MK
ERFHEANBRNER R -

° Discussed with the project managers the status
of the projects, to identify any variations, claims
and provision on loss-making contracts, and to
obtain explanations for fluctuations in margins
and the expected recovery of variations, if any;

e HEARENWREABBERL BERMA)EBEL
B RENEBEHNZERBDE  RERFBK
B R AR BAMIA B 28 &) TR 8 R U IE
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Key Audit Matters
HRERSEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EEEFTTHARELSENEELR

Revenue from construction contracts and
maintenance services and recognition of contract
assets (Continued)

ERENREERBUARGNEERR (B)

We focused on this area because the magnitude of
revenue as recognised from provision of
Construction Services during the year and the
contract assets as at the end of the reporting
period are significant and determining the value of
the contract work completed to date for the
purpose of recognising revenue over time involved
significant management’s judgment and estimation.

EEEHMAINEE  REER : AFEEANEE
RBPWASEER REPRENEERBERE K
AEIAFRERANEE K ITREEENEESLE
B EE XA R ALE -

We performed the following procedures to address
the key audit matter: (Continued)
EERNTUTEFAEEBEEZEE  (£B)

° Obtained an understanding from management
and project managers about how the
percentage of completion and approved
budgets were determined and perform
retrospective review on approved budgets;

J RERBMEERLBEEEM T T HDLME &
TR A EE Iﬂaﬁt/ﬁﬁ’\ﬁﬁﬁ#ﬁﬁ@gﬁ’ﬁ%
%5

° Understood the reasonableness of key
management judgments in preparing the
budgets :

s ERIZEEEHRFBERMAFHENSIENE:

o Tested, on a sample basis, the actual costs
incurred on Construction Services during the
reporting period by tracing to the supporting
documents;

o DAmERE T NEEE WA T XM - AR REH
NERBRBELENBERKA

° Checked the mathematical accuracy of the
calculation of cost allocation and completion
progress of these Construction Services; and

s BMERRBRBRANERTTEESAENHILE
Bt R
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B BE R & (]

Key Audit Matters
ARBEXREE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EEEFNTHRARELSENEELR

Revenue from construction contracts and
maintenance services and recognition of contract
assets (Continued)

ERENVREERBUAREGNEERR (B)

We performed the following procedures to address
the key audit matter: (Continued)
FEERTUTEFUAREBAREZSEE : (B)

o Assessed the reliability of the approved budgets
by comparing the actual outcome against
management’s estimation of completed
contracts on a sample basis.

e DHEMNNTAKEREREEEEHETIAR
AR ETH R A EHEREN A SEM -

Based on the procedures performed, we found the
judgments and estimates adopted by management in
relation to the revenue recognition for provision of
Construction Services and recognition of contract
assets were supported by available evidence.

ERNELAEZESF  BFRSEEERERRHTEEZRR
BWARTER G LB EMNRR G LA S E 7] ez
MRIR
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
HRERSEE EEEFTTHARELSENEELRRA

Impairment assessments of trade receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets

ESRUNE BUREESRENEEZRE

Refer to notes 5(b), 6(b), 22 and 23 fto the We performed the following procedures to address

consolidated financial statements the key audit matter:
RiFEHBIENT5(0b) - 6(b) - 22%23 EERTUTEFAREEAREREZE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has gross o Understood, evaluated and validated, on a

trade receivables, retention receivables and contract sample basis, the key controls over the

assets of approximately RMB214,407,000, collection and the impairment assessment of the

RMB52,630,000 and RMB1,214,452,000, trade receivables, retention receivables and

respectively and provision for impairment of trade contract assets, and assessed the inherent risk

receivables, retention receivables and contract of material misstatement by considering the

assets of approximately RMB88,723,000, degree of estimation uncertainty and level of

RMB286,000 and RMB56,224,000, respectively. other inherent risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to

) BHE_Z-_NF+-_A=1T—H E5ENEZEFEK management bias;

i

HIE ERREESEANEERBIINGBARE
214,407,0007C * A R #52,630,0007T & A R # . DU R R - PR BEETESESGUE - B

1,214,452,0007C : ¥ BT IR AR E BB B D B4 & WIR B & KA R B B A 1 SRR B 7T (4 A9 BE g 4
AR #88,723,0007T + A R#286,0007T & A R ¥& & - WEBE EAF AT R E M 4 E A R
56,224,0007T ° SEE (ANEREM - TEM B ANEEERZED

BRRNE) MKERFFE B A H R E B AR -

° Assessed the grouping of trade receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets by
considering the nature of the debtors and their
credit risk characteristics;

s BREEEBANMENMEERREE  FEES
RUHRE  BRRESMENEENDE
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B BE R & (]

Key Audit Matters
ARBEZEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EEEFHHARELRSENEELR

Impairment assessments of trade receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets (Continued)

BEZREWRR - BRRESRENEE ZRBERE (5)

No specific credit period was granted to its
customers. Trade receivables, retention receivables
and contract assets relating to customers with
known financial difficulties or significant doubt on
collection of receivables are assessed individually
for provision for impairment allowance. Expected
credit losses (“ECL”) are also estimated by
grouping the remaining trade receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets based on shared
credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed
for likelihood of recovery, taking into account the
nature and size of the customer, and applying ECL
rates to the respective gross carrying amounts of
the trade receivables, retention receivables and
contract assets. The ECL rates are determined
based on nature and size of customer, historical
credit losses experience, ageing of overdue
receivables, customer’s repayment history, and are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information such as macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.

BERBERAEFPREABGERAY -HRENFENE
RESXUKFEERREBNES  EHBENE SR
RE RUERESRANEEAEBETREREBT
- BB HRKENE  BUREEREHEERR
AAGARRBENE SEEEEPHEEMAES
ARETERTGL  YHERDAREREYERE
K((RBEABLD)XUAGERRERELX - BHE
REAXNBEENEPHEERSAE ELEMRBX
Rh o BUWHEBMKEK FPEFRCEHRFAER I
REZEMRAEEERN (WEEREFPEERINEER
BRR)ETHE -

We performed the following procedures to address
the key audit matter: (Continued)
EERITUTREFARIBEREZEE : (B)

Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
completeness of the data used by management
to assess the credit risks and assessed the
reliability and relevance of that data, including
ageing analysis of trade receivables, by
checking to the relevant sales invoices;

DR 0 A SR E R RS E R E
RRBURR EEEMTT RN - AFHEEREAR - X
AHEELHE (BREE S RUGIRMKEK D) A
SEIEMMBRAE

Assessed the appropriateness of the impairment
loss methodology, testing the calculation of the
historical loss rates on a sample basis and
evaluating the reasonableness of the forward-
looking adjustments made to reflect current and
forecast future economic conditions with the
assistance of our external valuation expert;

A N EEFINER A E R B AP E
BAERKRIDERNEE M - ASE R BRL Rast
B - WA AR B E A TR B R R 80 B AR L 8O B
AR BN

Tested, on a sample basis, the subsequent
settlement of trade receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets against bank
receipts;

R T A E RN IR - BRRE S MA
#E E R YGRERITIIE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B B AR ()

Key Audit Matters
HRERSEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EEEFNTTHARELSENEELR

Impairment assessments of trade receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets (Continued)

EZRWFR  BRRESRENEE ZREE (5)

We focused on this area because the magnitude of
trade receivables, retention receivables and contract
assets and the estimation and judgement involved in
determining the ECL of the gross trade receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets.

BRMEHEILEYN REERE ZRKFIA - B
REERAHNEESREA BUHHEBHERBERDN
B 5 M E A fh T R I

We performed the following procedures to address
the key audit matter: (Continued)

EERTUTEFARERAREZEE : (&)

° Checked the mathematical accuracy of the
calculation of ECL provisions applying the
provision rates to the aging categories of the
trade receivables, retention receivables and
contract assets at the balance sheet date; and

s NEAREERBERAEZRYUFE RRERES
REMBERRRBHNNBEL X - mAFHEBRE
BERABENAEERIE &

° Evaluated the competence, capability and
objectivity of the independent, professional and
qualified valuer by considering their
qualification, relevant experience and
relationship with the Group.

o EBHMBUREEABRTHMNEE HEALR
RESENREE  ZEEBEED R ERKERT
Bt -

Based upon the above, we found that the estimation
and judgment made by management in relation to
the ECL of the trade receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets were supported by
available evidence.

HER LMBEZRERF  BERREEERE S RIEFIE -
EUWRE S REHNEEMFTIROBHMERERL - EM
Bt at S FI B35 A A] 2 E A IR IR ©
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other

information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

BYRBERE (&

Hit &

ERFIEFAHEMERAREEE - Hi0ERE
RERTAESNMEER  ETERBEEME
WRLE SR E H AR BEN RS

EEHEAMBRRFEMNBERL RBEEME
FEESTEEMEREREMTANZE SR o

RESERGAMBRRAMNE BSNAERH
BEMER WM EEEMENRERGEY
BRERXESEEZBRETERNENGFAEEXR
A HUFHEEEAERBRAL -

HEESFEREZRNTERASEMEMLRE
RERRL - BEERAREXZEE - BEHUMLE
EEHARS

EERBERZEERGREUBERZER

RAMESANREB LS B AEHZE
BB BRI RE B AT D2 RERE - &
ERUTIEHAEM AL 252 GAMBERE
YREERARREADBRRZ FERTEER
HREF R R T B 2 BA SRR 2 B P

EER-
EREGEMBEHRRE - BEAREFAAERN

i BEEENRFELERN  UREEFELE
ERNEHER) - RFEEHEN E5HE
B HFLLEE - SR 2L EEMERA
TR BRIESARAURERLE RERD

BRI ©
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B B AR ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.
o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’'s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B B AR ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Kong Wang.

Linksfield CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Chan Kong Wang

Practising Certificate Number: P04083

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

4o
joB

mEBRREME2E KSR
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-F —ET-=F
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
k3 AR¥ T ARMF T
Revenue WA 7 1,748,321 1,879,443
Cost of services rendered R R 8RR 12 (1,611,226) (1,731,367)
Sales related tax and auxiliary SHE MR T 2 KM
charges 12 (5,754) (6,670)
Gross profit EX 131,341 141,406
Other income, other gains and losses EUg A - Efh K2 Uz K &5 18 8 24,399 18,793
Administrative and other operating THRAEMEERS
expenses 12 (62,578) (61,780)
Provision for impairment loss on trade &5 - =ik K& H A B FIE &
and other receivables and contract BHEERERBEREE  F
assets, net e 6(b) (34,684) (26,925)
Profit from operations REFrBRA 58,478 71,494 e W
Finance costs B AR AR 10 (22,871) (27,937) \ﬁ
Share of profits of an associate FEAG B & 1 X 5 E 969 236
Profit before income tax BR P 18 B4 A & Rl 36,576 43,793
Income tax expense FrS R > 11 (9,204) (13,610)
Profit and total comprehensive FRBRFREZENEEE
income for the year 27,372 30,183
Profit/(loss) for the year and total UTATEEFERER,
comprehensive income/(loss) (BR)RERNZEKRE
for the year attributable to: (E18) & 8 :
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ =N 27,313 30,745
Non-controlling interests JEIE R RE = 59 (562)
27,372 30,183
Earnings per share BRER
Basic and diluted (RMB cents per AERXREE (BRARESD)
share) 16 4.4 5.0
The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other — Fili4R& 1855 F H fth 2 I U 25 7% & B2 T 5 — 0 B

comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the & °

accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e P BARR R

At 31 December 2024
RZZZWE+=A=+—H

2024 2023
—E_ME —E =4
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Bt i AR¥T AR®ET T
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment W - BB k&G 17 13,013 13,704
Intangible assets 18 25,734 73,720
Right-of-use assets 20 480 780
Investment in an associate 21 30,886 29,917
70,113 118,121
Current assets
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H A e W IR 22 371,186 616,393
Contract assets 25 1,158,228 1,175,371
Restricted bank deposits Rl ERITTF K 24 117,898 —
Bank and cash balances |ITRIB 2 EH 24 439,665 416,098
2,086,977 2,207,862
TOTAL ASSETS 2,157,090 2,325,983
EQUITY
Equity attributable to the owners AATEEAELER
of the Company
Share capital 25 5,487 5,487
Reserves 27 992,796 965,483
998,283 970,970
Non-controlling interests 6,146 6,087
Total equity 1,004,429 977,057
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 30 203 540
Borrowings Gl — 102,002
203 102,542
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
RE MR R R ()

At 31 December 2024
RZE-_ME+=_A=+—H

A%

2024 2023

—EomE —E-=F

Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
B aE AR® T ARKETT

Current liabilities REBEE .-'k

Trade and bills payables B 5 RENFRIBRENEE 28 385,840 406,624 g

Accruals and other payables FESTE B & H A A 5RIE 29 41,397 64,014 &

Contract liabilities AEHEE 23 39,769 66,733

Lease liabilities HEaRE 30 332 301

Borrowings &3 31 548,700 573,700

Current tax liabilities ENERF IR B & 136,420 135,012
1,152,458 1,246,384

TOTAL LIABILITIES =Rt it 1,152,661 1,348,926

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEREERE 2,157,090 2,325,983

The consolidated financial statements on pages 135 to 242 HNF13BE242EMGAMEBRRN T _HEF ;‘ |
were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 =A_-+/\HEEEgidE AU TALTKR

and were signed on its behalf by: EEERE:
Peng Yonghui Peng Daosheng
KR wEE
Director Director
BF EF

The above consolidated statement of financial position should — _F 4R & BA#5#R  5% & BR B 5 — HF B8 -
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERREER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_ZT_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

EATEE AEM
Statutory
Other surplus Non-
Share Share reserve reserve  Retained controlling Total
capital premium (note 27(i)) (note 27(ii)) earnings  Sub-total interests equity
EE
Hitif#E BHEE
A RARE (ME27() (KE27(i) REEF PEt FEREZE ERER
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARBTT ARRTRT ARETRT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2023 RZZ==%—A—8 5,487 457,366 (7,370) 65,105 419,637 940,225 6,649 946,874
Total comprehensive FREENSEE
income for the year = = = = 30,745 30,745 (562) 30,183
Transfer to statutory BAEERMRESR
surplus reserve = = = 7,013 (7,013) = = =
Changes in equity for the — FREZEH)
year — — — 7,013 23,732 30,745 (562) 30,183
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F
and 1 January 2024 +=ZA=+—-B8k
—Z_FE—F—H 5,487 457,366 (7,370) 72,118 443,369 970,970 6,087 977,057
Total comprehensive FRZEKRZLE
income for the year — — — — 27,313 27,313 59 27,372
Transfer to statutory BALERGRGEE
surplus reserve — — — 5,224 (5,224) — — —
Release of statutory MEABEHEHEE
surplus reserve upon BEAGEE
deregistration of a
subsidiary — — — (202) 202 — — —
Changes in equity for FAERET
the year - - - 5,022 22,291 27,313 59 27,372
At 31 December 2024 R-ZBE_ME
+=A=+-AH 5,487 457,366 (7,370) 77,140 465,660 998,283 6,146 1,004,429
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should AR & #E e B8 8) 3R & B2 Y 5 — GBI & -

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= S d—L
mEBHERER
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z_N&E+_A=+—HILHFE

_—_'."A:%%

2024 2023
—E-F —T_=F
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
k3 AR¥ T ARMF T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING E&EBFiESRLKE ¥
ACTIVITIES i
Profit before income tax B P15 A5 A& A 36,576 43,793 .
Adjustment for: AT SEMELFE
Provision for impairment loss on B REMBUGKERE L
trade and other receivables and BERREBERE - §
contract assets, net HE 34,684 26,925 \
Share of profits of an associate R {5 B 5 1> B 1) R (969) (236)
Depreciation of property, plant and W - BB RERETE
equipment 12 1,040 1,147
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 12 300 142
Amortisation of intangible assets B E 12 1,365 1,364
Loss on disposals of property, plant LEWE - BE REED
and equipment &8 8 — 235
Loss on deregistration of THEMBAREE  F8 ‘_\ﬁv
subsidiaries, net 8 142 = =
Gain on termination of concession IR ET R a
rights 8 (5,246) -
Interest income A B WA 8 (16,951) (15,117)
Finance costs B 7% AR 7R 10 22,871 27,937
Operating profit before working capital & i& & & & B) §i 4 & ' 7
changes 73,812 86,190
Decrease in inventories Tﬁ)ﬁ — 1,353
Decrease in trade and other 5 N EL A JE U SR TR R
receivables 235,983 104,719
Increase in contract assets A KRB BN (1,624) (80,281)
(Increase)/decrease in restricted ZR|ITFR GG M),
bank deposits Vi (110,872) 26,711
Decrease in contract liabilities aRBERD (26,964) (33,998)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and B SR HRERENEE
bills payables (R4, (20,784) 46,726
Decrease in accruals and other FEET & R R B b & 3RIE
payables Vo (22,759) (21,096)
Cash generated from operations KRR ® 126,792 130,324
Income taxes paid B PT1S (7,796) (8,575)
Net cash generated from operating BEFREMSHE TR
activities 118,996 121,749
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

RERERER (K

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_A=1+—HBLL=EE

2024 2023
—E_lmEF ZT==%F
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
bt AR¥T T AR®ETTT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHFBASRE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and BEVE WERHK
equipment 17 (349) (739)
Purchases of intangible assets BEEFEE — (6,889)
Investment in an associate HEEPEZIRE - (4,500)
Decrease in amount due from an JrE WA Bgt i 1D 5 SR IR R A
associate 8,024 4,500
Proceeds from disposals of property, H&EWE  BEMREE
plant and equipment FIE — 283
Proceeds from termination of WItEEEEMGHRIEA
intangible assets 18 51,867 —
Increase in deposits with initial terms  ##AEAR BB =1E A 27X
of over three months 3 10 24 (10,500) (86,584)
Interest received 22 2,234 15,117
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEFBME (TR BEE
investing activities FEE 51,276 (78,812)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHMERERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEFNE 32(a) (81) (49)
Principal elements of lease payments BNHEE A3 (% 32(a) (306) (81)
Interest paid B F & 32(a) (22,790) (29,188)
Borrowings raised EEER 32(a) 608,700 534,700
Repayment of borrowings EEER 32(a) (735,702) (525,000)
Net cash used in financing activities B & /EEFTAIR & F 58 (150,179) (19,618)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH R&RBESEEYEMFER
EQUIVALENTS 20,093 23,319
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FORERBASZEEY
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 252,572 229,253
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EXRBRERACEEYN
AT END OF YEAR 272,665 252,572
Add: restricted bank deposits i ZRIBITER 24 117,898 7,026
TOTAL CASH AT BANK AND ON RITREFHESHAR
HAND 24 390,563 259,598

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability. The address of its registered office
is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands. The address of its
principal place of business is 17th and 18th Floors, Cang
Hai Industry Building, No. 3388 Cang Hai Road, Yinzhou
District, Ningbo City, Zhejiang Province, China.

The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The Company is an investment holding
company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set
out in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, as at
31 December 2024, Mr. Peng Daosheng, Ms. Wang
Sufen, Mr. Peng Yonghui and Mr. Peng Tianbin (the “Peng
Family”) are the ultimate controlling parties (the “Controlling
Shareholders”) of the Company.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in thousands of units of Renminbi (“RMB’000”) unless
otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”).
IFRSs comprise International Financial Reporting Standards
(*IFRS”); International Accounting Standards (“IASs”); and
Interpretations. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

e M mRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HILFE

—REH

RARRIRAEHEFMRZIAEREAR
7] o AN & #) 5 it #% = B Hb 4k & Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands * T EZEE MU NP BEMIEE
BT EB N R R BB 33885 RIB EHENE7
K 181E o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_ZT_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

(@) New standards, amendments to standards and

interpretation adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments to
IFRSs issued by the IASB for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning
on or after 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements:

IAS 1

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non current

(Amendments)

IAS 1

IFRS 16

IAS 7 and IFRS 7

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (Amendments)

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback (Amendments)

Supplier Finance

Arrangements
(Amendments)

The application of these amendments to IFRSs in
the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial position and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(b) New and amended standards and interpretations
not yet adopted

The Group has not early adopted the following
amendments to standards that have been issued but
are not yet effective:

ARE B ER R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_ZTZ-_M&E+_A=+—HItEE

AN
BRAN T B B BR B F 3R 5 E RIME AT

(nﬁ)

(b) [ERERAKFR REETEARZE

AEBARIZATERA NFIE R M IER R
HE R B R B 7 S S ERMERT R

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on or after

iNESER I EEE S
%2 1BEN
IAS 21 and IFRS 1 Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments) 1 January 2025
BIREat LR E 215 R BhZ A R (185]) —E-RFE—H—H
Eﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ%h}i
IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Classification and Measurement of Financial 1 January 2026
Instruments (Amendments)
BRI B mERRNFEIRR @RI A EHEE (BF]) —EZRFE—H—H
ETH
IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9, Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting 1 January 2026
IFRS 10 and IAS 7 Standards
BRI ERERE 15 - BERMBREERNFESCE —EZRFE—H—H
BB s S R 7
55 - BIRR B H R S e RIS
955 » B FR B 75 ¥ 5 % Al
F109% R EIBR &R
ET5
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 1 January 2027
Statements
BRI i 5185, B HRR A5 mEL R 5 —E-t+F—H—H
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: 1 January 2027
Disclosures
BRI B mERERFE195% TAAAHAFEUNFARA : REEX —ET_+F—-H—H
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an To be determined
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
(Amendments)
Iﬁfr%ﬁﬁ%iﬁiﬁ,u%mf& REEREBMEPERGEPECHNEELERX 5 7E
R e A RIS 285% ‘A EET)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(7n7 BHE_Z-_NF+_A=+—HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(b)

144 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

New and amended standards and interpretations
not yet adopted (Continued)

In July 2024, IASB issued IFRS 18 which is effective
for the Group’s annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2027, with early application
permitted. IFRS 18 introduces significant changes
to the presentation of financial statements, with a
focus on information about financial performance
present in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, which will affect how the
Group present and disclose financial performance
in the consolidated financial statements. The key
changes introduced in IFRS 18 relate to (i) the
structure of the statement of profit or loss, (ii)
required disclosures for management-defined
performance measures (which are referred to
alternative or non-GAAP performance measures),
and (iii) enhanced requirements for aggregation
and disaggregation of information. The directors of
the Company are currently assessing the impact
of applying IFRS 18 on the presentation and the
disclosures of the consolidated financial statements.

Except from the above, the directors of the
Company have assessed the financial impact
on the Group of the adoption of the above new
standards, amendments to existing standards and
interpretations. These standards, amendments and
interpretations are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group in the future reporting periods
and on foreseeable future transactions. The Group is
currently revisiting their accounting policy information
disclosures to ensure consistency with the amended
requirements. The Group intends to adopt the above
new standards, amendments to existing standards
and interpretations when they become effective.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires the management to exercise
its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgments or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in note 5.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

4.1 Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries
are entities over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The Group has
power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly
affect the Group’s returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.1

146 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Consolidation (Continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting
rights held by other parties. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability
to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that
results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of
the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill and any accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised
profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly,
to the Company. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in
equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between the non-controlling
shareholders and owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

41

4.2

Consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling shareholders
even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment loss, unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale). Cost includes
direct attributable costs of investments. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBERRME (&)

For the yearended 31 December 2024
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.3

148 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of an entity but is not control or
joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible, including potential
voting rights held by other entities, are considered
when assessing whether the Group has significant
influence. In assessing whether a potential voting
right contributes to significant influence, the Group’s
intention and financial ability to exercise or convert
that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity
method and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable
assets and liabilities of the associate in an acquisition
are measured at their fair values at the acquisition
date. The excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill which is included in the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is
not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.3

Associates (Continued)

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profits or losses and other comprehensive income is
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. When the Group’s
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in the associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate. If the associate subsequently reports
profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of
those profits only after its share of the profits equals
the share of losses not recognised.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.4 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

150 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial
statements of each of the Group’s entities
are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is
the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated into the functional currency on initial
recognition using the exchange rates prevailing
on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at
the exchange rates at the end of each reporting
period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
The transaction date is the date on which the
entity initially recognises such non-monetary
assets or liabilities. Non-monetary items that
are measured at fair value in foreign currencies
are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates when the fair values are determined.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.5

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including land and
buildings, held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative purposes,
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration
is allocated between the leasehold land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair
values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented
as ‘right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement
of financial position. When the consideration cannot
be allocated reliably between non-lease building
element and undivided interests in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
are recognised in profit or loss during the period in
which they are incurred.

4.5
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_A=1+—HBLL=EE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.5

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost
less their residual values over the estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. The principal useful
lives are as follows:

Land and building

EXREHBEEE (B)

45 Y% BERRE (EH)
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ZalERAFHET

Over the shorter of the term of the lease, and 25 years

T REF MHE 255 -

Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the terms of lease or 3 years
£ HEHNIF - A&

Plant and machinery 5-10 years

TR 55 B % 25 5-10%F

Office equipment, furniture and fixtures 5-10 years

WMARE KAREKE 5-104F

Motor vehicles 5 years

_E 5%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate,
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
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EFTEBRFERIURKEEASR -
HEWE  BEMRBNREERELE

ISR HEERMELH
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prospective basis. The gain or loss on disposal
of property, plant and equipment is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.6

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

(i) The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s), the
Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for
all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily laptops and office furniture. When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised
as an expense on a systematic basis over the
lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(7n7 BHE_Z-_NF+_A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.6 Leases (Continued)

()

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over
the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments to
be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement
of the lease liability. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method.

Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred. To determine
the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

— where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual
lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received;

— uses a build-up approach that starts
with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for
credit risk for leases held by the Group,
which does not have recent third-party
financing; and

— makes adjustments specific to the lease,
e.g. term, country, currency and security.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE MRS R R MY o (48

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_ZTZ-_M&E+_A=+—HItEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4.
(CONTINUED)

46 #HME (&)
EEEEBEBEA ()

4.6 Leases (Continued)

(i) The Group as a lessee (Continued) (i)

If a readily observable amortising loan rate
is available to the individual lessee (through
recent financing or market data) which has a
similar payment profile to the lease, then the
group entities use that rate as a starting point
to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise,
right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered
as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.6 Leases (Continued)

()

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or there is a
change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from
the reassessment of whether the Group will
be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the
lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using
a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification. The only exceptions are
any rent concessions which arose as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and which satisfied the conditions set out
in paragraph 46B of IFRS 16 “Leases”. In
such cases, the Group took advantage of the
practical expedient not to assess whether the
rent concessions are lease modifications, and
recognised the change in consideration as
negative lease payments in profit or loss in
the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the rent concessions occurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.7

Intangible assets

The Group’s intangible assets include separately

acquired construction

licenses, copyrights and

concession rights.

()

(i)

(iii)

Construction licenses

Construction licenses are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Amortisation is calculated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives of 25 years.

Copyrights

Copyrights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 10
years.

Concession rights

The Group engages in a service concession
arrangement in which the Group carries out
construction work for the granting authority
and receives in exchange a right to operate
the assets concerned in accordance with the
pre-established conditions set by the granting
authority. The assets under the concession
arrangements may be classified as intangible
assets or receivables from the granting
authority according to their arrangement
nature.

If the Group receives a right to charge users of
public service, with an undeterminable amount,
the assets are classified as intangible assets
and the Group recognises revenue at the same
time in the “concession rights” under intangible
assets included in the consolidated statement
of financial position. Once the underlying
infrastructure of the concession arrangements
has been completed, the concession rights will
be amortised on a straight-line basis over the
term of concession of 10 years granted by the
granting authority.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.8

158 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract assets are recognised when the Group
recognises revenue before being unconditionally
entitted to the consideration under the payment
terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for expected credit losses (‘ECL”) in
accordance with the policy set out in note 4.25
to the consolidated financial statements and are
reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional. A contract
liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on
a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method.

Concession right

As mentioned in note 4.7(iii), the assets under the
concession arrangements may be classified as
intangible assets or receivables from the granting
authority according to their arrangement nature. The
Group recognises revenue and a contract asset
or a financial asset to the extent that it has an
unconditional contractual right to receive a specified
or determinable amount of cash or another financial
asset from the granting authority, or to receive
the shortfall, if any, between amounts received
from users of the public service and specified or
determinable amounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.9

Construction contracts

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group
as a construction contract when the contract relates
to work on real estate assets under the control of
the customer and therefore the Group’s construction
activities create or enhance an asset under the
customer’s control.

When the outcome of a construction contract can be
reasonably measured, revenue from the contract is
recognised over time using the cost-to-cost method,
i.e. based on the proportion of the actual costs
incurred relative to the estimated total costs. The
directors of the Company consider that this input
method is an appropriate measure of the progress
towards complete satisfaction of these performance
obligations under IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts
with Customers”.

The Group becomes entitled to invoice customers
for construction work based on achieving a series of
performance-related milestones. When a particular
milestone is reached, the customer is sent a relevant
statement of work signed by a third party assessor
and an invoice for the related milestone payment.
The Group has recognised a contract asset for any
work performed. Any amount previously recognised
as a contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables
and retention receivables at the point at which it is
invoiced to the customer. If the milestone payment
exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the
cost-to-cost method then the Group recognises a
contract liability for the difference.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.9

160 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Construction contracts (Continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to
the customer for more than 12 months, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction with the customer, and interest income
is accrued separately under the effective interest
method. The Group takes advantage of the practical
expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15 and does
not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of
financing is 12 months or less. A significant financing
component in construction contracts with customers
is recognised if the period between the recognition
of revenue under the cost-to-cost method and the
milestone payment is more than 12 months.

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual
bonuses for early completion or suffering contractual
penalties for late completion are taken into account
in making these estimates, such that revenue is only
recognised to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be
reasonably measured, revenue is recognised only
to the extent of contract costs incurred that are
expected to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B EmRME (R)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. BASHEEEE (H)
(CONTINUED)

4.10 Recognition and derecognition of financial 410 BRREBUEER ST A

instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on trade-date, the
date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.11 Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented
as a contract asset. If the collection of accounts
receivable is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business, if longer),
they are classified as current assets. Otherwise, they
are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables and retention receivables are
recognised initially at the amount of consideration
that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at
fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables and
retention receivables with the objective of collecting
the contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for ECL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.12

4.13

4.14

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are
classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument under IFRSs. An equity instrument is
any contract that evidences a residual interest in
the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the reporting period.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.15

4.16

164 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade and
other payables are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business, if longer). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the
rendering of services in the ordinary course of the
Group’s activities.

If contracts involve the sale of multiple elements,
the transaction price will be allocated to each
performance obligation based on their relative
stand-alone selling prices. If the stand-alone selling
prices are not directly observable, they are estimated
based on expected cost plus a margin or adjusted
market assessment approach, depending on the
availability of observable information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B EmRME (R)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. BASHEEEE (H)
(CONTINUED)

4.17 Revenue (Continued) 4.17 Wz (&)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and
is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
services may be transferred over time or at a point
of time.

Control of the goods or service is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

° creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the asset.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

4.17 Revenue (Continued)

Construction contracts and maintenance service

Construction contracts mainly included landscape
and municipal works. Landscape construction
includes planting of trees, modifying the layout of
land, carrying out foundation work for landscape
construction, building and construction of parks.
Municipal works construction includes municipal
road construction, water and lighting works.
Construction contract will provide a significant
integration service including purchase of materials,
arrangement of subcontractor and labour for the
provision of services and the goods and services
within the contract will be highly dependent on or
highly integrated with other goods or services. As
such, different elements of a construction contract
are accounted as a single performance obligation.
The Group treated all of the construction contracts as
a single performance obligation, as the construction
works are not capable of being distinct.

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised in
accordance with the policy set out in note 4.9 above.

Maintenance services include plant maintenance,
repairing facilities and removal and replacement of
dead plants. Revenue from maintenance services
is recognised over the period that the service is
rendered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.18

4.19

Other income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method. For financial
assets measured at amortised cost that are not
credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied
to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate
is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as
an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the
asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4.
(CONTINUED)

EXREHBEER ()

4.20 Employee benefits 420 EEREF

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of the dates when the Group can no
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits,
and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs and involves the payment of termination
benefits.

168 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED AEZERERAF

(i) Employee leave entitlements () ESEZRH
1 Employee entitlements to annual leave and EEMNFRERARBE RN E
long service leave are recognised when they BREEZARTUER - BHE
accrue to employees. A provision is made for WEMREREMEHORY
the estimated liability for annual leave and long mEERNFEREEARBEERLY
service leave as a result of services rendered HEtBErIREE -
by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.
Employee entitlements to sick leave and EEHNRBRERNEEKRR
maternity leave are not recognised until the R R -
time of leave.
(i)  Pension obligations (i) EHhELEMF
g The Group contributes to defined contribution AEERMAERERE R ERM
F -'i§ retirement schemes which are available to all REARTE - AKEREESH
employees. Contributions to the schemes by TR ER TR E B ERNE
the Group and employees are calculated as a eHEEB LFTE -BiEm
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The MR &R IREFIFT B A Th3E
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to REBENZEESHER -
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by the Group to the funds.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4.
(CONTINUED)

4.21 Borrowing costs 4.21 R

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally
and used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying
asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset.
The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of
the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of
the Group that are outstanding during the period,
other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. Any specific
borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of
capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.22

4.23

170 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will
be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred
and recognised in profit or loss over the period
to match them with the costs they are intended to
compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
recognised in profit or loss because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) e
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. BASHEELSE (H)
(CONTINUED)

4.23 Taxation (Continued) 4.23 HiiE (&)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit and at the time of transaction
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is
recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.23

4.24

172 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and
liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority and the Group intends to
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is
written down as an expense through the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income to its estimated recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets. If this is the
case, recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual
asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated
future cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit.
Present values are computed using pre-tax discount
rates that reflect the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit whose
impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are
allocated first against the goodwill of the unit and
then pro rata amongst the other assets of the
cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases in the
recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they
reverse the impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. BASHEELSE (H)
(CONTINUED)

425 TREERGNEERE

4.25 Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
trade and other receivables and contract assets. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition
of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables, retention receivables and contract
assets. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date, including time value
of money where appropriate. For trade receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets that
contain a significant financing component, the Group
recognises ECL by the general approach.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance
for that financial instrument at an amount equal to
12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_A=1+—HBLL=EE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

4.25 Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument
at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries
in which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained
from economic expert reports, financial analysts,
governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of
various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information that relate to the Group’s core
operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular financial
instrument;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B EmRME (R)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. BASHEELSE (H)
(CONTINUED)

425 TRMEEREGNEERE (H)

4.25 Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

— significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor; or

— an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if:

(i)  the financial instrument has a low risk of
default;

(i)  the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term; or

(iiiy adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.25 Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to have
low credit risk when the asset has external credit
rating of “investment grade” in accordance with the
globally understood definition or if an external rating
is not available, the asset has an internal rating of
“performing”. Performing means that the counterparty
has a strong financial position and there is no past
due amounts. The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase
in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria
are generally not recoverable:

— when there is a breach of financial covenants
by the counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. BASHEELSE (H)
(CONTINUED)

425 TRMEEREGNEERE (H)

4.25 Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

— the lender(s) of the counterparty, for
economic or contractual reasons relating to
the counterparty’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the counterparty a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

— it is becoming probable that the counterparty
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, including when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables and
retention receivables. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made
are recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.25 Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information as described above. As for the exposure
at default, for financial assets, this is represented by
the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting
date, together with any additional amounts expected
to be drawn down in the future by default date
determined based on historical trend, the Group’s
understanding of the specific future financing needs
of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is
estimated as the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines
at the current reporting date that the conditions for
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures
the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets
for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. BASHEELSE (H)
(CONTINUED) (CONTINUED)

4.26 Financial guarantee contracts 4.26 BMKERER

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that
require the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due,
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured
initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

o the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with IFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised over the guarantee period in
accordance with the principles of IFRS 15.

The allocation of the remeasurement of financial
guarantee contract between revenue and impairment
losses depends on whether the financial guarantee
contract is measured at the unamortised amount
or the ECL amount at the beginning and end of
the reporting period as well as whether impairment
losses recognised in prior periods are reversed
in the current period. The revenue allocated is
recognised as other income, other gains or losses
and impairment losses is recognised as impairment
loss on trade and other receivables and contract
assets, net.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.27

4.28

180 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and
a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditures expected
to settle the obligation. The discount rate used to
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
increase in the provision due to the passage of time
is recognised as interest expense.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot
be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed
as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide
additional information about the Group’s position at
the end of the reporting period or those that indicate
the going concern assumption is not appropriate
are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the
reporting period that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments (other than those involving
estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts
recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies,
the directors of the Company have made the following
judgment that has the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements (apart from those involving estimations, which
are dealt with below).

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 4.25, ECL are measured as an
allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or
lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves
to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition. Significant increase in credit risk is
assessed by comparing the risk of default of an exposure
at the reporting date with the risk of default at origination
(after considering the passage of time). ‘Significant’ does
not mean statistically significant nor is it reflective of the
extent of the impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset
has significantly increased the Group takes into account
qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable
forward looking information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED)

“THEFZA=FT—HLEFE

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(a)

182 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Revenue and profit recognition of construction
contracts

As explained in notes 4.17, revenue from
construction contracts are recognised over time.
Such revenue and profit recognition on uncompleted
projects is dependent on estimating the total
outcome of the contract, as well as the work done
to date.

The Group recognised revenue by measuring
the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation at the reporting date.
The progress was measured by the percentage
of completion, with reference to the proportion
that contract costs incurred for work performed
to date bear to the total budgeted contract costs.
Management reviewed and revised the estimates
of contract revenue and contract costs for each
contract as the contract progresses. Management
used significant judgments and estimations
to determine the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation at the
reporting date. In addition, actual outcomes in terms
of total cost or revenue may be higher or lower
than estimated at the end of the reporting period,
which would affect the revenue and profit recognised
in future years as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.

During the year, approximately RMB1,716,493,000

(2023: RMB1,846,230,000) of revenue from
construction contracts was recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

Impairment assessments of trade receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets

The Group uses practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables, retention receivables and
contract assets do not contain significant financing
component, at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, using
a provision matrix. The provision rates are based on
aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors
taking into consideration the Group’s historical
default rates and forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered. For
trade receivables, retention receivables and contract
assets that contain a significant financing component,
the Group measures 12-month ECL individually under
the general approach for those trade receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets which
have no significant increase in credit risk since the
initial recognition. For those balances which have
significant increase in credit risks since the initial
recognition, lifetime ECL are provided.

The management of the Group estimates the amount
of impairment loss for ECL on trade receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets based
on the credit risk of trade receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets. The amount of the
impairment loss based on ECL model is measured
as the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. Where
the future cash flows are less than expected, or
being revised downward due to changes in facts and
circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

(c)
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Impairment assessments of trade receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

The information about the ECL and the Group’s
trade receivables, retention receivables and
contract assets are disclosed in note 6(b). As at
31 December 2024, the carrying amount of trade
receivables, retention receivables and contract
assets is approximately of RMB125,684,000,
RMB52,344,000 and RMB1,158,228,000
(2023: RMB225,436,000, RMB40,751,000
and RMB1,175,371,000) (net of allowance for
doubtful debts of approximately RMB88,723,000,
RMB286,000 and RMB56,224,000 (2023:
RMB75,702,000, RMB100,000 and RMB32,844,000)),
respectively.

Current and deferred income tax

Significant judgment is required in determining the
provision for income tax. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate determination is uncertain. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such
difference will impact the current tax and deferred
tax assets and liabilities in the period in which
such determination is made. Deferred tax assets
relating to certain temporary differences and tax
losses are recognised when management
considers it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. The
outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.
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6.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance. The Group did not use
derivative financial instruments to hedge its risk exposures.

(a)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the Group entities. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets
and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

The table below summaries the changes in the
Group’s consolidated profit after tax and total equity
in response to reasonably possible changes in the
foreign exchange rate of Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”)
and United States dollar (“US$”), referred from the
trend in foreign exchange rate of HK$ and US$ in the
corresponding reporting period, to which the Group
has significant exposure to the foreign currency risk
at the end of the reporting period, with all other
variables constant.
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186 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not
meet its obligations under a financial instrument
or customer contract, leading to a financial loss.
The Group is exposed to credit risk from its
operating activities (primarily trade receivables,
retention receivables, bills receivables and contract
assets) and from its financing activities, including
deposits with banks and financial institutions,
foreign exchange transactions and other financial
instruments. The Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from restricted bank deposits and bank
balances is limited because the counterparties are
banks and financial institutions with high credit-rating
assigned by international credit-rating agencies, for
which the Group considers to have low credit risk.

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require
the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

A 12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that
the specified debtor will default has increased
significantly since the guarantee is issued, in which
case a lifetime ECL is measured. The same definition
of default and the same assessment of significant
increase in credit risk as described in note 4.25

apply.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group was involved in a financial arrangement with
a related company amounted to RMB81,500,000
(2024: RMB NIL). The estimated fair value of the
relevant arrangement was immaterial, and no liability
was initially recognised. Such an arrangement
subsequently ended in 2024 and did not cause the
Group any material financial impact.

The Group monitors the credit risk of financial
guarantee arrangement and reassesses ECL for the
arrangement as necessary. Given the strong credit
history of the involved party and that the ECL is
considered immaterial, no provision of ECL for the
arrangement was recognised as at 31 December
2023 (2024: N/A).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables, retention receivables, bills
receivables and contract assets

Customer credit risk is managed by each business
unit subject to the Group’s established poalicy,
procedures and control relating to customer credit
risk management. Individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’'s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which
the customer operates. The Group’s trading terms
with its customers are mainly based on the contract
terms. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables, retention receivables, bills receivables
and contract assets, at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL, which is calculated using a provision matrix.
For trade receivables, retention receivables and
contract assets that contain a significant financing
component, the Group measures 12-month ECL
under the general approach. Trade receivables,
retention receivables, bills receivables and contract
assets relating to customers with known financial
difficulties or significant doubt on collection of
receivables are assessed individually for provision
for impairment allowance. ECL is also estimated by
grouping the remaining trade receivables, retention
receivables, bills receivables and contract assets
based on shared credit risk characteristics and
collectively assessed for likelihood of recovery,
taking into account the nature and size of the
customer, and applying ECL rates to the respective
gross carrying amounts of the trade receivables,
retention receivables, bills receivables and contract
assets.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6. HMEEREBRER(HE)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) FEERK(H)
Trade receivables, retention receivables, bills EBESENSIE - EBKREZ - BKZE
receivables and contract assets (Continued) BURSHEE (48)
The following table provides information about the TEREBAEER-_ZT-_OER =T
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade =F+-A=1+—BHERZE S EMK
receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023: BRERERRENEERENEE

R LEREEBERNEEER

2024
—E-nE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss

loss rate amount allowance
AHEEE IREAE EiERE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR¥T T AR¥T R

*_ Trade receivables: ES5EWAE :

0-90 days past due 0Z 90K Hj 2.19 42,781 (939)
91-180 days past due 91 E 180K H1 1 0.38 14,809 (56)
181-365 days past due 1815 365K 68.09 8,832 (6,014)

Over 1 year but less than 15 A BB DR 258 B
2 years past due 68.43 30,471 (20,851)

Over 2 years but less than 2F DA ERDR3F A
3 years past due 45.04 19,689 (8,867)
Over 3 years past due SE L #E 53.15 97,825 (51,996)
214,407 (88,723)
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fRE MRS R R MY o (48

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6. HBEKRERE(E)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) FERR(E)
Trade receivables, retention receivables, bills ESEKIE  EWRE L - ERE
receivables and contract assets (Continued) BURESHEE (#)
2023
—TE-=HF
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
BHIBEX RHEBE RS
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARETT ARBTFT
Trade receivables: B S EWIE :
0-90 days past due 0Z 90K 781 Hj 212 89,140 (1,890)
91-180 days past due 91 180K B 1 5.38 5,170 (278)
181-365 days past due 181365 K 15 3.29 42,840 (1,410)
Over 1 year but less than 1A BB D R2E 8 1
2 years past due 38.87 43,208 (16,795)
Over 2 years but less than 2P ERDRIF 5 Hf
3 years past due 48.25 54,957 (26,517)
Over 3 years past due SEIA LA 43.77 65,823 (28,812)
301,138 (75,702)

For the calculation of loss allowances using provision
matrix, expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past 4 years (2023: 4 years).
These rates are adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

For the calculation of loss allowance using individual
assessment, trade receivables, retention receivables,
bills receivables and contract assets relating to
customers with significant doubt on collection
of receivables are assessed individually. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, individual
impairment assessment was performed on trade
receivables and contract assets with gross
balances of approximately RMB81,872,000 and
RMB42,896,000 (2023: Nil and RMB30,133,000)
and impairment allowances of approximately
RMB65,396,000 and RMB42,896,000 (2023: Nil and
RMB30,133,000), respectively, have been provided.

ERBEEREEEBRRE  BAHE
BERLRBEBEAF (T _=F : 4
FINERBELRSE - ZFHLX
SEHARNARRE EEE L HEDN
HIR O A ARL ~ BRI R AN B
i EUWIR TR B R B BN B
HHER -

FERAEE AR IB R EEE -
HROWGEEERREENTFHEH
NE S ERIE - BWRES - B
ZERENEEDETEBTG - &
E-_ET_NMF+_A=+—HILF
B AEBYHEmMAESNAAR
#81,872,0007T & A R # 42,896,000
THE SRR BRANEE(ZS
— =4 E& AR ®¥30,133,0007T)
H1T T EERERE - 2RIETRRAE
B AR #65,396,000T 2 A R
42,896,000C(=F — =ZF : M A
R #30,133,0007T) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

T BE_Z-_WNFT_A=T+—HIEEE
S

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables, retention receivables, bills
receivables and contract assets (Continued)

To speed up the collection process, the Group has
been continuously communicating and negotiating
with responsible officers of local governments or top
management of state-owned enterprises of relevant
projects. In consideration of maintaining a good
relationship for long-term business development,
the Group would continue to commit its effort in
the communication flow to facilitate their payment
approval processes. Legal action would be taken
as the last resort by the Group if no significant
improvement on the collection process from these
entities is identified.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6.

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables, retention receivables, bills
receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Movements in the loss allowance account in respect
of trade receivables and contract assets during the
year are as follows:

A B EHRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—_Z-_NME+_-_A=+—RAILtEE

f%EREE (K)
(b) FEERRGE

ESEKNE BUREZ BKRE
BUREHEE (#)

FRR S HEAR At E
BREEZDMT

12-month 12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL ECL
+t-EREH +-@EAEH 2HIES 2HES
FEE#E FEE#E FEE#E FEF#E
Trade Contract Trade Contract
receivables assets receivables assets
B2 EWHE EHNEE EIZEWHE BHREE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARB TR ARB TR ARB TR ARB TR
As at 31 December 2024 RZEZNF
+-A=+—8
At the beginning of the year REA 371 2,711 75,331 30,133
Provision for impairment loss (B &5 1B & & 5,659 10,617 7,362 12,763
At the end of the year RER 6,030 13,328 82,693 42,896
12-month 12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL ECL
+Z@EAEH TEAEH 2 HITE AR > HITE AR
=EEE =EEE =EEE =EEE
Trade Contract Trade Contract
receivables assets receivables assets
g 5 ElRIE EHEE EHEERE EHEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT
As at 31 December 2023 R-T-=F
+-A=+—H
At the beginning of the year REA 402 4,382 78,889 15,488
Provision for/(reversal of) REEERE,
impairment loss (Bfam ) (31) (1,671) (3,558) 14,645
At the end of the year RER 371 2,711 75,331 30,133
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_A=1+—HBLL=EE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6.
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables, retention receivables, bills
receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets with
significant financing components (12-month ECL)

As at 31 December 2024

M E s EE (F)
(b) FERER (&)

ESEKHNE  BERREE  BERE
BUREHEE (&)

BEEXLBA S E ZIERERT R
BHEE (T —1ABHEEER)

As at 31 December 2023

R-ZB-_NE+=-A=+-H0 HW-_T_=F+-A=+—H

Trade Contract Trade Contract
receivables assets receivables assets

EZER B SRR
EQL BREE ;A BREE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARET R ARETTT ARETT
Gross carrying amount BRESBERE 62,692 1,171,556 146,479 1,178,082
Loss allowance BIEEE (6,030) (13,328) (371) (2,711)
Net carrying amounts FREE 56,662 1,158,228 146,108 1,175,371
Expected loss rate TEHIBE X 9.62% 1.14% 0.25% 0.23%

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
changes in loss allowance on trade receivables and
contract assets with significant financing components
were due to the deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. increase in credit
spread.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6.

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables, retention receivables, bills
receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets with
significant financing components (lifetime ECL)

A B EHRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—_Z-_NME+_-_A=+—RAILtEE

B EREE ()
(b) FERM (&)

ESEKNE BUREZ BKRE
BUREHEE (#)

BEEXZ DB E 5 R R R
BHEE (2 HERIZEER)

As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 December 2023
R—ZF-_MNFE+=-A=+-H RZZE_=F+=-A=+—H

Trade Contract Trade Contract
receivables CECEIEE Receivables assets

BESER B 5 e
IE EHEE FIE EHNEE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥ETH BUNGE:EENGS:S
Gross carrying amounts RE®ERE - 42,896 = 30,133
Loss allowance E R — (42,896) — (30,133)
Net carrying Amounts FREE — — . -
Expected loss rate TBHIEE X N/A FEH 100%  N/A TEA 100%

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
changes in loss allowance on contract assets with
significant financing components were due to the
increase in balances with significant doubt on
collection.

HE—_Z-_W&E+_-_A=+—HIHF
B BEEALREENGNEEY
BEEGEZHNREEAREEAR KR
% B RREBIL IN ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_A=1+—HBLL=EE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6.
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables, retention receivables, bills
receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets without
significant financing components (lifetime ECL)

B EREE ()
(b) FEREPM(H)

ESEKZE  ERREE  BERE
BUREHNEE (&)

TEE EA SR 50 E S W
RAWEE (RHAHEEEE)

As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 December 2023
R-ZZ-_MNE+=-A=+—-8 RZT-=F+-A=+—H

Trade Contract Trade Contract
receivables assets receivables assets

EZER BN
I EREE IR BEHEE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NGNSl AR T T ARETT
Gross carrying amount RESERE 151,715 — 154,659 =
Loss allowance BIEEE (82,693) — (75,331) —
Net carrying amounts FREE 69,022 - 79,328 —
Expected loss rate TBHIBE X 54.51%  N/A 7EH 48.71%  N/A TEH

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
changes in loss allowance on trade receivables
without significant financing components were due
to the decrease in settlement of trade receivables.
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6.

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A B EHRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—_Z-_NME+_-_A=+—RAILtEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6. HMERRERE (HE)
Credit risk (Continued) (b) FEERAR(E)
Trade receivables, retention receivables, bills ESEWKSE  BREREZ - ERE
receivables and contract assets (Continued) BURESHEE (#)
Retention receivables (12-month ECL) FEKAREI 2 (=18 A BRIz EE 1)
Movements in the loss allowance account in respect ERRESEEBRERESOT
of retention receivables are as follows:
2024 2023
—E-F —T=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® Tt ARETT
At the beginning of the year REY] 100 —
Provision for impairment loss BEE RS 186 100
At the end of the year RE R 286 100
Bills receivables (12-month ECL) JEWZ 15 (+ = (8 A AR = BB 75)
Movements in the loss allowance account in respect JEREBRBERERZSHOT -
of bills receivables are as follows:
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARMT T
At the beginning of the year NG 2,624 639
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment  J&{EE 18 (B 05 Bt
loss (38) 1,985
At the end of the year RER 2,586 2,624
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

™ HE_T-_ME+-_A=+—ALLFE
S

6.

196 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables, retention receivables, bills
receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Other receivables (12-month ECL), including amount
due from an associate (lifetime ECL)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
amount due from an associate has a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition and
impairment loss of approximately RMB10,792,000
was recognised. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the directors of the Company
consider that no additional impairment was required
after considered the repayment of certain amount of
outstanding balances in current year. Except for the
amount due from an associate, all of the Group’s
other receivables are considered to have low credit
risk, and the loss allowance recognised during the
year was therefore limited to 12-month expected
losses. These other receivables are considered to be
low credit risk when they have a low risk of default
and the issuer has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.

Movements in the loss allowance account in respect
of other receivables are as follows:

6.

MEERERE (&)

(b) EEREE)
ESENKNE BKRREE ERE
BURSHEE ()

HEWHE (+ - 1AARHEEE
R BREKEETEETE(ZHE
HEEERR)

BE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HLEHF
&+ FEURES & 1 3 5K B VIR FERR &

10,792,000 TCHBEBLK - HE-F
—NE+=—A=+—HILFE AR
REBEER T AFESD REHE
MEEBRE REETBEIIE
SRAE o BhFEUES & (b FRIESN - A&
E R FTE M ERIES R AER
BB ER - F AT ERERAIE K%
HERNt_@EAEHEAEX - B
ELHMBEWHRIBBZNORRRE B
BEEABBRENESHRNETES
EIRESMERGE  ELEMmEKK
HW R AERRRRIE -

HipEB R EBREERESH T -

2024 2023

—E-mEF —ET=%F

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBETTT

At the beginning of the year REH] 18,320 2,865
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment  J{EE1E (BRI #) B

loss (1,865) 15,455

At the end of the year RER 16,455 18,320

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
changes in loss allowance on other receivables were
due to a reduction in the gross balance of other
receivables.

RIBERERAE

HE_ZT-_WF+-A=1+—HIEF
- HAh W SIARRE A EREE T (28
BEMERESEER GRS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ARE B ER R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_ZTZ-_M&E+_A=+—HItEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6. HBEKRERE(HE)
Liquidity risk (c) #"EBELEK
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current N ER B A IR 7 E HABA SR IR R K 78 B
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that HRBIESHE - UHEREEEREE N
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its ERNEHERRARSDESTENE
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. iEMm o
The maturity analysis based on contractual ERAEKESESTESRABENERK
undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s BRI RE B BT
non-derivative financial liabilities is as follows:
Total
On demand contractual
or within Between Between Over undiscounted Carrying
1 year 1and 2 years 2 and 5 years 5 years cash flow amount
RERY AFBEH
—FR 15 22F 2FE5F BB5SE ReRan SERE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARBTT ARETT ARETFT ARBTFT ARETT
At 31 December 2024 R-E-mME+=-A=+-H
Trade and bills payables BORNTERENRR 169,321 74,766 141,753 - 385,840 385,840
Accruals and other payables — fE:FE A R E R F0E 12,844 — — — 12,844 12,844
Lease liabilities HEBE 388 209 - - 597 535
Borrowings BAER 558,863 - - - 558,863 548,700
741,416 74,975 141,753 - 958,144 947,919
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+-A=1+—H
Trade and bills payables B S RENTIERENRE 219,162 77,132 110,330 — 406,624 406,624
Accruals and other payables — FEFFE A R E fin fE 1 508 41,051 — — — 41,051 41,051
Lease liabilities HERE 382 382 206 = 970 841
Borrowings RITER 591,011 26,547 72,761 18,958 709,277 675,702
851,606 104,061 183,297 18,958 1,157,922 1124218
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

™ HE_T-_ME+-_A=+—ALLFE
S

NE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6. HMBEEBRER ()

(d) Interest rate risk (d) F=E@EK
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises AEEEERRERITHFREIBITER
from its bank deposits and bank borrowings. HAERR ZEFERRERAEE
'\ These deposits and borrowings bear interests at BT AR Z BRI ET B o
variable rates varied with the then prevailing market
condition.

Consolidated profit after
income tax for the year

FEGREMBHENR

2024 2023
ZEZNF —T=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Interest rate Fl = AR®T T ARETTT
Variable — rate bank balances B A K ERITERRE
+/-100 basis points +/—1001E & +/-1,796 +/-3,537
*«*“ Variable — rate bank borrowings FENFRRITER
+/~100 basis points +/~100 1B £ & —/+4,664 —/+5,743
The sensitivity analysis above indicates the net Lt REDMHAREZNEE &
impact on the Group’s consolidated profit after HAMBWARAXEEFILEE - F
income tax for the year that would have arisen REB AL AEEF N EBRFTE
assuming that there is an annualised impact on T mAEENFZE -
interest income and expense by a change in interest
rates.
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6.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE ISR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_MF+_-_A=+—HLEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6. R EE (F)
(e) Categories of financial instruments at ) RT-A=+—HHE@MITAEEH
31 December
2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AREFTT
Financial assets SRMEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 RkEAMEIFRIA 274,917 397,265
Restricted bank deposits SR HIER1TIE R 117,898 —
Bank and cash balances R17T MR & H sk 439,665 416,098
Financial assets measured at REREATESREE
amortised cost 832,480 813,363
Financial liabilities sHasE
Trade and bills payables B S EMNFIARENZE 385,840 406,624
Accruals and other payables TEET B R Kk B Ab FE S IR 12,844 41,051
Lease liabilities HEAE 535 841
Borrowings BN 548,700 675,702
Financial liabilittes measured at RERKATESREE
amortised cost 947,919 1,124,218

()

Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
assets and financial liabilities as reflected in
the consolidated statement of financial position
approximate their respective fair values.

(H 2F¥E

AEEEREERERABNEEN
Bk R PR BRE(E R E % 5 A

RFEEE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 &3 199

A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

™ HE_T-_ME+-_A=+—ALLFE
S

NE

7. REVENUE 7. WA
The Group’s revenue represents the revenue derives from REBEBRAEBFRNRERZEGHOREER
construction contracts and maintenance services over time B RERNHBA RN E — KR #ER
and agency income at a point in time for the year. R EB A o
'-‘L-._I (a) Disaggregation of revenue (a) ZDHFWA
_ Disaggregation of recognition of revenue from FRERBERBEARRESHEP
1 contracts with customers by service line and timing BHWADTFAT

of revenue for the year is as follows:

2024 2023
—E-mE —EC-=fF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARB TR ARBET T

Revenue from contracts with [ R Bt 75 3 5 ZE B 281555
customers within the scope HERNEFEHWA
of IFRS 15
= Disaggregated by service line AR T 4R 0 I
a — Revenue from construction — BESHWE
contracts 1,716,493 1,846,230
— Revenue from maintenance — KEERBUA
services 31,828 29,570
— Agency income — RIBIA — 3,643
1,748,321 1,879,443
Timing of revenue recognition ON ST
— Services transferred over time — BERFEER A RS 1,748,321 1,875,800
— Services transferred at a point — X BREBORY
in time — 3,643
1,748,321 1,879,443
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—_Z-_NME+_-_A=+—RAILtEE

7. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 7. WA(E)

(b) Transaction price allocated to the remaining (b) PEBEEFEARABRTEAEEN
performance obligation for contracts with REE
customers
The transaction price allocated to the remaining RZBE-_NE—T-_=F+=A=+
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially —B - 9BREKRTEAEE CRTK
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 and EHARTTAK) HIRZ 5 E R TE R
the expected timing of recognising revenue are as WARRAT :
follows:

Construction contracts Maintenance services
BEEN RS

2024 2023 2024 2023
TECNF il T N4 e
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T EUNGLEwE ARYT T NG S

Within one year —FR 1,391,454 2,911,218 41,868 21,058

More than one year but —FE
not more than two years BORME 1,156,392 970,406 - 7,019
More than two years MF A E 1,156,392 970,406 — 7,019
3,704,238 4,852,030 41,868 35,096

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 % 201

A%



N$

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year

ended 31 December 2024

T BE_Z-_WNFT_A=T+—HIEEE
S

8. OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

HWA - Hftt s K &8

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETIT

Interest income on bank deposits IR171F A B U A 2,234 1,699
Interest income arising from contract revenue & %)Mz F B UA

(note (a)) (H1i#(a)) 14,717 13,418
Total interest income MBI A 4R ZE 16,951 15,117
Bad debt recovery ZER I E — 545
Gain on termination of concession rights REFTRE 4% E e es

(note 18) (H15%18) 5,246 —
Compensation income BB IR A — 104
Government incentives and awards R B K 22 B (472t (b))

(note (b)) 1,820 2,509
Exchange gains b 5 e 135 116
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries, net OGS =] SR bk (142) —
Loss on disposals of property, TEYE - HEREHEER

plant and equipment — (235)
Others Hh, 389 637

24,399 18,793
Notes: HaE -

Interest income arising from contracts revenue which
provide the customers with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of construction services to the customers.
The promised amounts of consideration for construction
services are adjusted using the discount rates that reflect
the credit characteristics of the customers.

Government incentives and awards mainly related to
the incentives and awards received from the municipal
government authority of the PRC for the achievement of the
Group and Employment Support Scheme provided by the
Government of Hong Kong with no unfulfilled conditions
attached before recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE MRS R R MY o (48

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HILFE

jop

SEGMENT INFORMATION 9. HIEER
The Group has four operating segments as follows: REBB A TOELRLEDES
Landscape construction — Variety of municipal and private landscaping projects such as

planting of trees, modifying the layout of land, carrying out
foundation work for landscape construction, building and
construction of parks, etc.

B MR ER — BEMBRLABEMNELS  flAREGR SR tiniRE - ETE
MEROWETRR  BERERREF -

Municipal works construction — Mainly municipal or local government works such as municipal
road construction, water and lighting works, etc.
MR TR R — FERMBEM AT BFLIE  flmmBRERER KERBEALRR
% o
Building works — Construction of gas stations, auto repair shops, office building
and temporary warehouse, etc.
BETRR — EREERBTES
Others — Maintenance, heritage restoration services and undertaking “*if} Z
renovation works and agency income for trading of materials. :
Hit — RERGBEEECERBAREAEREIERMENEZIREBKEA -
The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business REEKT 2H D BB AR EER KR
units that offer different products and services. They are EHREERKEMN  MARSEELTE
managed separately because each business requires DRI Rl & & SR S - N B VB ETTE IR -

different technologies and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the FRE DA = FTBUR B 5T 4 P i 3 AR
same as those described in note 4. [ o

Segment revenue is measured in a manner consistent with DEWANGFESRNBELGEBEEREME
that in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other HEzaR—5 e

comprehensive income.

The directors of the Company assess the performance of RABESREBEH D FEENTETEHL
the operating segments based on a measure of segment 25 2B E’]i\%fﬁ DEEBETEERD W
results. Unallocated income, unallocated corporate AKOBRABIAET BHHKA - TE/R
expenses, finance costs, income tax expense and other 7 S'Z&J%E’\ﬁi&%%«% MHENEMEE
major items that are isolated and non-recurring in nature BH -

are not included in segment results.

Segment assets mainly consist of current assets and DEEEETEREAREMBRRERMEE
non-current assets as disclosed in the consolidated HmEIEERIERBEE  MHERDBERTT
statement of financial position except unallocated bank and RIRSHERUAREMARD EEEERIN

cash balances and other unallocated assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_A=1+—HBLL=EE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. AHER(F)

DHMEEIERERE MBI RMEE
MRBEE  EEEMRREE (5 B85
Ko Bt FE A SRIEUA B Eo At R 2 B B B RR S

Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities
as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial
position except current tax liabilities, borrowings, trade and
other payables and other unallocated liabilities.

ot

|
L}

-

(i) Information about operating segment profit or (i) FELEIBERZ BEEREGBNE
loss, assets and liabilities: e
Municipal
Landscape works Building
construction  construction works Others Total
EAER THIRER BEIR Hith A&t
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
AR¥ETT ARET R AR¥ETT ARET R AR¥ETRT
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-2-MmE
TZR=t-ALEE
External revenue ShERUR A 97,476 811,663 790,719 48,463 1,748,321
Segment results DEEE 12,194 72,727 36,502 9,918 131,34
Cost of materials MR A (39,917) (344,072) (361,053) (14,469) (759,511)
Staff costs BIRA (24,283) (236,666) (263,545) (18,606) (543,100)
Short-term lease payments RHASMY (5,300) (44,129) (44,355) (2,634) (96,418)
Additions to segment non-current assets JEnEEE D LM - - - 739 739
Disposal of segment non-current assets FRBEESPHE - (46,621) - - (46,621)
At 31 December 2024 R-B-ME
+=-A=+-A
Segment assets PBEE 246,833 576,581 500,052 12,791 1,336,257
Segment liabilities PBARE (6,990) (13,825) (16,253) (2,701) (39,769)
Municipal
Landscape works Building
construction construction works Others Total
BEMER WHRIRER BETR Hity G
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-T-=%F
+ZA=t-RALFE
External revenue EIN:1ON 187,077 691,265 942,411 58,690 1,879,443
Segment results DEEE 18,159 67,984 41,623 13,740 141,406
Cost of materials R AR AR (83,855) (332,770) (477,288) (15,362) (909,275)
Staff costs BIMA (51,784) (165,136) (300,032) (20,963) (537,915)
Short-term lease payments REHMEERS (23,093) (85,328) (116,485) (7,245) (232,151)
Additions to segment non-current assets FRBEEDIEM = 7,279 = 1,661 8,940
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=%F
+ZA=1—H
Segment assets DEEE 306,547 527,920 559,128 8,374 1,401,969
Segment liabilities AHaE (16,809) (9,278) (40,639) @) (66,733)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9.

(i)

Reconciliation of operating segment revenue and

profit or loss:

%

ARE B ER R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_MF+_-_A=+—HLEFE

2 &P

1

(i) BEsBURERBFHHE:

2024 2023
—E-MIF —E=F &
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 E:
AR¥ET AREF T J
i
Revenue KA |
Total revenue of reportable segments 7] 2 {5 ZPUL A 4B 58 1,773,418 1,880,706
Elimination of intersegment revenue 7 EBE WA E 5 (25,097) (1,263)
Consolidated revenue RE W 1,748,321 1,879,443
Profit and loss Bx
Total profits of reportable segment Al 235 Fim F B EE 131,341 141,406
Unallocated amounts: RAOMEFE -
Interest income FMEHA 16,951 15,117 s
Government incentives and awards AT 55 B K 22 ) 1,820 2,509 \*’
Gain on termination of concession BIEFT LG
rights 5,246 ==
Loss on deregistration of DY EENCI = E= S
subsidiaries, net (142) -
Depreciation of property, plant and M BEREETE
equipment (1,040) (1,147)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE (300) (142)
Amortisation of intangible assets | B EE (1,365) (1,364)
Finance costs B FS B AR (22,871) (27,937)
Staff costs B TR (32,087) (32,483)
Research and development s
expenditure (7,593) (876)
Impairment loss on trade and other B 5 kA MW RIE RS
receivables and contract assets, WEEREBEBE
net (34,684) (26,925)
Others H b (18,700) (24,865)
Profit before income tax bR BT 15 5 Bl & A 36,576 43,793
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

1

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9.

(iii) Reconciliation of segment assets and liabilities

(iv)

BHE-_Z-_M&F+=-_A=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

(iii)

2 EPE R (&)
THEERAENHIR

2024 2023
—E-@mF —ET=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTIT
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments AI2RoBEERE 1,336,257 1,401,969
Restricted bank deposits SR HISRITIE K 117,898 —
Bank and cash balances R17T MR & gk 439,665 416,098
Prepayments and other receivables TE {5 FRIE B H b fE U FR I8 193,157 389,795
Intangible assets B EE 25,734 73,720
Investment in an associate B3 7 30,886 29,917
Others HAth 13,493 14,484
Consolidated total assets REBEPR 2,157,090 2,325,983
Liabilities 8fE
Total liabilities of reportable segments 7] 25 28 & (S48 58 39,769 66,733
Trade and bills payables B S RN RIERENEE 385,840 406,624
Accruals and other payables FEET & A K B b & 3RIE 41,397 64,014
Lease liabilities HEAE 535 841
Borrowings B 548,700 675,702
Current tax liabilities BIEfFRIE B 1E 136,420 135,012
Consolidated total liabilities mEBaERRE 1,152,661 1,348,926
Geographical information (iv) #HEZEFR

Based on the locations of the customers, all the

revenues are earned in the PRC.

The information about the Group’s non-current assets

by location of assets is detailed below:

REBZPREN  ERABREH

o -

AEBRBEEMEDMAT

pLpZ 2023

—E-MEF —E_=F

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR T T ARET T

Hong Kong BB 858 1,089
PRC except Hong Kong R (BABBRIN 69,255 117,032
Consolidated total non-current assets  3ERENEE A% 70,113 118,121
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9.

10.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ARE B ER R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_T-_ME+_A=+—HALtFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. AHTER (&)
(v) Revenue from major customers (v) EEEFEFWHKA
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of BERMAEBRABI0%HES :
the total revenue of the Group is as follows:
2024 2023
—E-MEF —B_=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’'000
AR%®T T AR¥ETTT
Municipal works customer A MHIZEFA 216,466 N/AA i A
Building works customer B BETEEFB 204,664 N/AZ 38 FB
Building works customer C BEIREPRC N/ATE A 314,993
FINANCE COSTS 10. BER X

2024 2023
—E-E —T-=fF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETF T

Interest expenses on bank borrowings RITERMNEEH 22,790 29,188
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEAEBNEER

(note 20) (#tit20) 81 49

Total borrowing costs B AR5 22,871 29,237

Amount capitalised Bt e — (1,300)

22,871 27,937

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the capitalisation BT =F+-_A=1+—BHILEE "

rate on the bank borrowings was 4.3% per annum.

RITERFERNEERR4.3% -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 &3 207

@
S
Q

¥ ]

v



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_A=1+—HBLL=EE

11.

208 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11. S8
2024 2023
—E-@OEF —E_=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®BFT T ARKETTT
PRC Enterprise Income Tax: PRI ZERER
Current income tax expense BVHA B 1S 7 5 2
Provision for the year FNEE 9,224 10,597
(Over)/under-provision in prior years NEFEGRERE)
BiET e (20) 3,013
9,204 13,610
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is required since ARAEEBAFEE L EERTOER - HEER

the Group has no assessable profit for the year (2023: Nil).

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“PRC EIT”) has been provided
at a rate of 25% (2023: 25%).

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, one
of the subsidiaries of the Company, Zhejiang Zhanhai
Industrial Company Limited (IR ESEZER A A)
(“Zhejiang Zhanhai”), is qualified as a small and low-profit
enterprise in the PRC. Zhejiang Zhanhai is assessed the
PRC EIT on the following basis: if its annual taxable income
is less than RMB1.0 million, the applicable enterprise
income tax rate determined by the relevant authority
is 5% (2023: 5%); if its annual taxable income is more
than RMB1.0 million but less than RMB3.0 million, the
applicable enterprise income tax rate is 10% (2023: 10%).

One of the subsidiaries of the Company established in
the PRC, Zhejiang Chanhigh Construction Limited (T8
BERAMR AR (“Chanhigh Construction”) obtained the
qualification of High and New Technology Enterprise with
a validation period of three years starting from 2023 (2023:
three years starting from 2023). The applicable income tax
rate for Chanhigh Construction is 15% (2023: 15%) for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

RBERERAT

IEBNEVARER (ZF_=F 8) -

FEEARMTREMEMASHR ([HE
LREHR)BERBUHER(ZE =4 :
25%) 5 & °

HEZZ-_NMER-_FT-_=F+=-A=+
—BLEFE  ARRWNBARMNIREE
¥ERAR(HNIRE]) BB R B/
FILEER T ESRATERE R
Bl{¥FTEH  MRFERERBAERA
R¥1.08 &L BARSEERAENEA
DEMEBHEAS% (ZE-=4%F:5%) ; {0
RFEEEMBABAARBI0EELER
RARKBIOEEL  BRCEMEBMRESL
10% (ZZE =4 : 10%) °

ARRABIRAF B HH BRI R EE
BEBRAR(NREER]) BESHEME
ERT BT _NFERARH=F(=F
Z=F BB =FR=F) HE-ET
—ME+ A=+ HIEFERSERE
BB RREE15% (ZE==F :15%) °



11.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and
the product of profit before income tax multiplied by the
PRC EIT rate is as follows:

ARE B ER R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_ZTZ-_M&E+_A=+—HItEE

FriS®ip 2 ()

FIT 15 758 78 2 BB FT 15758 A a M SR A B 1
EFMSMMEMERBEOERNOT

A%

)28

2024 2023 )
—EomE —E-=F )
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 B
AR® TR ARETT
Profit before income tax ¥k BT 15 75 A& A1 36,576 43,793
Tax at the PRC EIT rate of 25% 1R25% MR B (b PTG X
(2023: 25%) FFERIE
=4 :25%) 9,144 10,948
Tax effect of different tax rates TRABENRGZE (5,936) (5,771)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable 7R AR A WA B B 7S 2 22 (4,837) (2,752)
Tax effect of expenses that are AAHRAZNR G E .
not deductible 10,853 8,172 Loz
(Over)/under-provision in prior years NAFE (BEBRE)/ [
BHEr R (20) 3,013
Income tax expense FTig B 9,204 13,610

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with undistributed
earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised is approximately
RMB26,533,000 (2023: RMB25,474,000). No liability has
been recognised in respect of these differences because
the Group is in a position to control the timing for reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that such
differences will not reverse in foreseeable future.

R-ZE-_NMF+_A=+—H8" EfBRQ
AIADIKABNEBEVERRELTIER
BERE R EZEARELN B ARE26,533,000
T(ZEZ =% : AR®25,474,0007T) °
MEAERZSEZHERER  DHERAE
EERE NI A TR EEARRRZE
ZEN T R AR gE N2 RO -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ma

B R R AR MY AL ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_ZT_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

12.

13.

EXPENSES BY NATURE

12. AXBEUEESE

2024 2023
—E-@ImF —T=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETTT
Auditor’'s remuneration =AD& 1,786 1,220
Subcontracting expenses HBEER 118,323 15,110
Direct materials and other costs BEME RE MR 1,294,610 1,435,573
Sales related tax and auxiliary charges SHE MR T 2 R M 5,754 6,670
Employee benefit expense BT RHAMZ 40,648 45,025
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - B REETE
equipment (note 17) (Htez17) 1,040 1,147
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 18)  EEE B (F:£18) 1,365 1,364
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 20) {fBEEENE (#F20) 300 142
Bad debts written off 128 BR 961 8 10 2,003
Legal and professional fee FREREEEH 5,057 6,313
Research and development expenditure R = 7,593 376
Short-term lease payments SHEERY 96,418 232,151
Waste disposal expenses REEYRIEE 11,121 8,477
Entertainment expenses X HEFER 4,735 6,278
Transportation expenses EHER 45,616 5,120
Others HAth 45,182 32,848
Total direct costs and administrative and BEERATITE R H AL &
other operating expenses Fix 45 1,679,558 1,799,817
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 13. EEEFFEX
2024 2023
—E-@IEF —E-=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETIT
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e~ TEAL NEBRL 33,139 37,303
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RKRE T ET B3R 7,509 7,722
40,648 45,025
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(a)

Pensions — defined contribution plans

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement plans which are available for eligible
employees in the PRC and Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC, the Group has joined defined contribution
retirement schemes for the employees arranged by
local government labour and security authorities
(the “PRC Retirement Schemes”). The Group makes
contributions to the PRC Retirement Schemes at the
applicable rates based on the amounts stipulated by
the local government organisations. Upon retirement,
the local government labour and security authorities
are responsible for the payment of the retirement
benefits to the retired employees.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485
of the laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the laws of Hong Kong).
The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
plan administered by independent trustees. Under
the MPF Scheme, the employer and the employees
are each required to make contributions to the plan
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to
a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, the Group had no forfeited contributions under
the PRC Retirement Scheme and MPF Scheme and
which may be used by the Group to reduce the
existing level of contributions. There were also no
forfeited contributions available at 31 December
2024 and 2023 under the PRC Retirement Scheme
and MPF Scheme which may be used by the Group
to reduce the contribution payable in future years.

e MR R E ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE_Z-_WF+-_A=1+—HLEFE —

13. EEH/EAFAX (&)

(a)

BAE — BRGNS

AEESTEREENAERBERIE
HEBEHFRINGEIALSEMFK -

AEECERPEARLME R EREE
SERER - 2B ERIT S ERE
#BFI R B ZBE R E B FUR KA 8
(TFBIRRGTE]) - AEBIZERE
X REMTRFASREN SRR
R ER RGBSR - BEIRIKR - it
HTRIFSBIRIEEFI A R RZERIKE
B X RRREA

RNEBIBIEGRFIMERTES T EEG)
(BB EBIE485%) - BECEBE
BARBINE B EBIF57E) EEEHE
NXEMNEEERATEATESFTE
([BEesTE]) - LB TR
HERRETE - BBV SEAERE -
BIERELTE  EEREEBEZH
BEBEEBWANSKAGTEIHR
B& A AW AR LR A30000%8
=

HE_ZS_NFR-T-_=-F+_A
=t+—HIEFE  AEERFERK
SrEI RaES AT - WEEQ U ¢
Al AR FRRIR B HFOKTFE - B =
EoMFERE=F+ A =+—
B AEBRPBERAKTS KBRS
FTEIT - TER BRI R REF R
HMEBRHERWER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_A=1+—HBLL=EE

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 13. EERAFAX (&)

(b) Five highest paid individual

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during
the year included two (2023: one) director(s) and
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented in note 14. The emoluments of the
remaining three (2023: four) individuals are set out

(b)

TEREHFMAL

AEERFANTEEZSHFMALE
B (CE-_=%F: —R)EFH
MENME1425 00T R - 8
T=R2(ZZ-=%F:1U%&) AL&B
SEINWT

below:
2024 2023
—EWE —E=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET AR®EF T
Basic salaries and allowances HEAE S KER 776 1,353
Retirement benefit scheme BRARE R FT B K
contributions 106 262
882 1,615
The emoluments fell within the following band: EHMEBERATEHE :

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = %1,000,00078 7T

Number of individuals
A"

2024 2023
—E-UEF —E-=F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a)

14.

The emoluments of each director are as follows:

Fees

g
RMB’ 000
ARBFT

A B EHRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—_Z-_NME+_-_A=+—RAILtEE

ESwEARES
(a) BESHMEWT :

Salaries and  Discretionary
bonus

allowances

FaREH
RMB’ 000
ARBTR

BiERA
RMB’ 000
ARMT R

Retirement
benefit
scheme
contributions Total
RARR
TEIMR A&t
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR%T T

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-E-@mE
TZA=t-BLEE
Executive directors HIES
Peng DaoSheng Yk - 239 - — 239
Peng Tianbin N - - - - -
Peng Yonghui (Chief Executive Officer) kg (1THER) - 316 - 9% 40
Non-executive director FHTES
Wang Sufen E-9°N - 70 — — 70
Independent non-executive directors BUFNTES
Shi Weixing i - 70 - — 70
Yang Zhongkai B sl - 70 - - 70
Chan Lap Ip (appointed on 16 July 2024) R (R-T-mEF
tA+ABRZEA) - 35 - - 35
Fan Rong (resigned on 19 April 2024) BE(RZZZmF
M A+ BBE) - 18 - - 18
- 818 - 94 912
Retirement
benefit
Salaries and  Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonus  contributions Total
RIER
fizka e R [l=pizs BE 570 Ch
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARBTFT
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-T-=F%F
+-A=t-RLEE
Executive directors HES
Peng DaoSheng [k — — - = -
Peng Tianbin ERA = = = = =
Peng Yonghui (Chief Executive Officer) kg (TTHEH) = 323 = 93 416
Non-executive director FHTES
Wang Sufen B8 = 70 = = 70
Independent non-executive directors BUFRTES
Fan Rong (resigned on 19 April 2024) BR(RZZZmF
M A+ B BHE) = 70 = = 70
Shi Weixing HRE = 70 = = 70
Yang Zhongkai B sl = 70 — — 70
— 603 — % 696
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BHE—

“THEFZA=FT—HLEFE

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

The emoluments of each director are as follows:
(Continued)

Note:

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to the directors of the Company as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office. Mr. Peng Tianbin waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: Mr. Peng Daosheng and Mr. Peng Tianbin waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director
of the Company and the director’'s connected party
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year (2023: Nil).

Director’s termination benefits

None of the directors of the Company received
any termination benefits during the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company did not pay considerations to any third
parties for making available directors’ services (2023:
Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, bodies corporate
controlled by and entities connected with such
directors

As at 31 December 2024, there are no loans, quasi-
loans or other dealings in favour of the directors,
their controlled bodies corporate and the directors’
connected entities (2023: Nil).
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14. EEEANRER (&)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

BEESHMEWT : (8)

X

RER  AERBERARRDEELE
] B <2 1 7% 0 B8 2 0 B2 7R 4R [ 14 ) 22 B =k
1 R RER A (E ?ﬁ*x “EoNEF A=
THLEFEA  ZRULEEREXR BN
EETT@N%(—T—:i TBEXELER
ZRMEENELRE BSZ%{EH@M%)

ESRXRSZ REFAEGHTHEK
R

RERKERNTEMEGERESESDH
REFBEBNEARS THRAY
MEARARKAER—F LS ARAR]
EEREENBESIREPEESH
BHBEAER(ZT_=F &)

EEZmERER

HE_Z-_NE+-_A=+—HItF
B ARRREBHRKBNE ML LEF
H(ZT-=F: &)

RERUESREMAF=FTRHEN
ZR

BE_Z_ME+_A=t+—HLLF
EA - $ A Ep Rt E = RS

EHF=AXNRE(ZFT=_=5F:
&)

BARANRES RHZHNEAR
BURELESABNEENER
BEERNEMTZHER

BE-_T-_NF+-_A=t—H0 ¥
Eﬁﬂﬂ%% H%Z ?&Al%&%
ENMEERNER EERNEHA
RHp(ZFE_=F:|)-



15.

16.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

DIVIDEND

The directors of the Company do not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
is based on the following:

ARE B ER R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_MF+_-_A=+—HLEFE

15. RE

ARAREETERREHE T _HF+
A=t HUEFENEARE (2T =
F:F)e

16. BRER
BRERRESRNIRE T BIEAE

2024 2023
—EomE —E-=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR T ARETT

Earnings &R
Profit attributable to the owners of the ARFTESRERRT K
Company, used in the basic and diluted BERARN 2 ARIFMEE
earnings per share calculation FEAG F)E 27,313 30,745
2023
S =
‘000
F i
Number of shares R4 & E
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FREHE&FREKRAEF K
used in basic and diluted earnings EERMNNBE BT R
per share calculation IEFEHHE 618,502 618,502

The weighted average numbers of ordinary shares used as
denominators in calculating the basic and diluted earnings
per share are the same. As at 31 December 2024, the
Company had no dilutive potential ordinary shares (2023:
Nil).

AEFEEREAREBERT S HNL R

BMETFEHE—H R T _MF+ A
=10 ARRAEEFEEETEAR (=
T=FiE)o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

™ HE_T-_ME+-_A=+—ALLFE
S

NE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. X -BERRE
Office
equipment,
Land and Leasehold Plant and furniture and Motor
buildings improvement  machinery fixtures vehicles Total
BHARE
3 TiREF % HEREE HKARKE bt &t

RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE ARETT ARETE ARETT ARETE AR%TR

"
Cost 2%
1] At 1 January 2023 R=E-=%—f—H 13,387 4,532 12,759 3,315 4,032 38,025
Additions RE — 371 — 38 330 739
o Disposals & = = = - (1,004) (1,094)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
13,387 4903 12,759 BK858) 3,268 37,670
Additions — — — 78 271 349
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-mF+=-A=+-H 13,387 4,903 12,759 3,431 3,539 38,019
Accumulated depreciation RiRE
“ At 1 January 2023 R=ZE-=%—f—H 1,612 4,494 12,232 2,962 2,095 23,395
.y N Charge for the year FREHR 509 62 1 166 409 1,147
*‘ Disposals He — — — — (576) (576)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
2,121 4,556 12,233 3,128 1,928 23,966
Charge for the year FREHR 508 139 1 61 331 1,040
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-mF+=A=t+—-H 2,629 4,695 12,234 3,189 2,259 25,006
Carrying amount &AE
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-mE+=A=1+—-H 10,758 208 525 242 1,280 13,013
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=4+-A=1+-H 11,266 347 526 225 1,340 13,704
Note: Depreciation of property, plant and equipment of M BEZT_NF+-_A=+—HIFE "
approximately RMB1,040,000 (2023: RMB1,147,000) was Y% - BE REETEL AR 1,040,000
included in “administrative and other operating expenses” T(ZEZ=%: AR%1,147,0007T) 5/
during the year ended 31 December 2024. ATTER R EME SRS ] -
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost
At 1 January 2023
Additions

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE B R R MY R (4])

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_MF+_-_A=+—HLEFE

18. E|IELEE

Construction Concession
licenses Copyrights rights Total
BEFATE i RARER &%
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETT

B
R-Z-=%#-F—H 33,726 150 39,342 73,218
NE = = 7,279 7,279

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

RZFZ=4+-A=1—H

R=—T-mE—A—8 33,726 150 46,621 80,497
Disposals HE = — (46,621) (46,621)
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-mF+=A=1—H 33,726 150 — 33,876
Accumulated amortisation Rit#es
At 1 January 2023 R-Z-_=%—A—8 5,358 55 — 5413
Amortisation for the year F R E 1,349 15 — 1,364

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

RZTZ=F+-A=1+—H

kZZ-mE-A—H 6,707 70 = 6,777
Amortisation for the year FREE 1,350 15 — 1,365
At 31 December 2024 RZFZmF+=A=1—H 8,057 85 - 8,142
Carrying amount BEE
At 31 December 2024 RZE-MF+=A=1—H 25,669 65 — 25,734
At 31 December 2023 R=ZF=Z=%+-A=1—H 27,019 80 46,621 73,720
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R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

T BE_Z-_WNFT_A=T+—HIEEE
S

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The breakdowns of the net carrying amounts of
construction licences as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
are as follows:

r Construction Projects qualification

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

18. |IELEE (&)

BHE_Z_NEFR-_FT-_=F+=-_A=+
—HRNEEERBFIREmSEHDT

2024 2023
—EC-NE —E-=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARET T

First-Grade General Contractor for Housing T2 TAEBZ

10,260 10,801

Second-Grade General Contractor N TREpE T BB ER &
for Highway Construction Projects KFPKE LR LFEE

qualification and Second-Grade General B
Contractor for Water Works and
Hydropower Projects qualification

10,106 10,652

Grade-A Professional Contractor for REBREMIERTEBRRL

Landscape Construction Design Projects

* qualification

5,303 5,566

25,669 27,019

The construction licenses and the copyrights are amortised
on straight-line basis over an estimated useful life of 25
years and 10 years respectively. The average remaining
amortisation period of the construction licenses and
copyrights are 19 years and 4 years (2023: 20 years and
5 years) respectively.

218 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED &/EZERERAF
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18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The concession rights were related to a service concession
arrangement with Public and Private Partnership Project
Services Centre of Fuyang, Hangzhou (/M &5
BEHREFNMtEERSGHEERE REF L) (“PPP Project”),
in which the Group carried out construction work for
the granting authority and receives, in exchange, a
determinable amount of cash and a right to operate the
assets concerned in accordance with the pre-established
conditions set by the granting authority for a period of
10 years. As the Group received a right to charge users
of public service when the PPP Project was completed
and ready for public use, the assets were classified as
intangible assets. The carrying amount of concession
rights was measured with reference to the construction
and other cost incurred by the Group plus estimated profit
margin. During the year ended 31 December 2024, after
the comprehensive reconsideration of the development
of the PPP Project, the granting authority terminated the
PPP Project with the Group. A total cash consideration
of approximately RMB203,504,000 was received from the
granting authority for the termination of the PPP Project,
of which approximately RMB151,637,000 was used to
settle the outstanding contract assets and reimbursement
of expenses arising from the termination of the PPP
Project, and the remaining amount of approximately
RMB51,867,000 was attributable to the concession rights
under the PPP Project. As a result, a gain on the termination
of the concession rights of approximately RMB5,246,000
was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income and included in note
8 “other income, other gains and losses”.

18.

e MR R E ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE_Z-_WF+-_A=1+—HLEFE —

AN

BREE (&)

IR A RE L — T AL TH = B & R AT A1
MtEEARNSIEEBRBEF L (TPPPIER )
RRIGFFEELTHRR - TP -
rEBARTIRERERKLIE  WiEAK
WwES—TeENRE  UREAEZRR
BT TELERERGME - E10F R A E
EHRBEEE - AR ASEEPPPIEA T I
AEARERAR - EETRAEREER
BWENEN Bt ELEERREAE
FEE -BHEEENRAERRL2RBA
SEEANERKNAREMEZA - I E
BRI ERRFEN - EHZE - =Y
F+ZA=+T—HWEER ' EHPPPIE
BRERBAETEZEENTGE BT
HEIETHAEEWNPPPEE - AEERE
PPPIEE R IERE T HE WA D ARE
203,504,000 IR ¥E - ERHARE
151,637,000t AR EE R EENEREE
IARHERPPPIEEKRIEMEENER « F
49 A R #51,867,0007T 5% B 7 PPPIE H
THEFRFAEERE - At - EiRaBEREM
PHEHBERFPER T HOARYS,246,0007T
R RS RFAC AR F R es - Wt AW RES[ &
A - Etlas R EEIIEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_ZT_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

19.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December

2024 are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

Particular of issued

Name establishment share capital

28 AR H Y B BRTRAFE

Directly held:

HEEER:

Chanhigh Investments Limited British Virgin Islands United States
(“Chanhigh Investments”) Dollar 2

RERBERAR(NAERE] EBRLHES 2%

Indirectly held:

BEEs:

Chanhigh Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong HK$1
(“Chanhigh HK")

REEBBERAR(NAEEE] & 1B

Zhejiang Chanhigh Construction Limited The PRC RMB182,264,000
(“Chanhigh Construction”)*

MLRBERARAR ([AERR))"™ alc AR%

182,264,0007T

Zhejiang Chanhigh Industrial Investment The PRC HK$235,000,000
Co., Ltd*

FLRBEXREERRE" i 235,000,000/ 7T

Ningbo Chanhigh Small Town Investment ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000
Management Limited*

ERRAENEREERERBEAA" HE AR #10,000,0007

Ningbo Yinzhou Zhanhai Enterprise The PRC RMB25,000,000
Management Limited*

ERSMNRELCXERERAR i AR #25,000,0007C

Zhejiang Hai Sui Xin Mao Construction The PRC RMB69,800,000
Management Limited*

LB XRERERERAR i AR #69,800,0007C

Zhejiang Zhanhai Industrial Limited* The PRC N/A (Note)

WIREEXZARAR i Tam ()
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REBERERAR

19. RMBEARNKRE

R-ZE-_NWFE+=-_A=

NEIMFEBWT

Equity interests attributable
to the Group

REEESLRE
2024 2023
—E-ME —T-=F
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
89.8% 89.8%
100% 100%

T—H XEWES

Principal activities

TEEH

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

RE R

Provision of services of
municipal work and
landscape construction
and related services

REZRARRETHRIRE
R E R R PR R AR R
PR

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Provision of construction
and related services

RERRRABRY

Provision of agency
services

RERERS



19.

20.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 19.

The above list contains the particulars of subsidiaries
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results of the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive
length.

G These subsidiaries are registered in the PRC with limited
liability.
* These subsidiaries are wholly foreign-owned enterprise.

Note.: The registered capital of Zhejiang Zhanhai Industrial Limited
is RMB100,000,000. As at 31 December 2024, the Group
has contributed RMB Nil and the capital commitment is
RMB100,000,000 (2023: same).

%

ARE B ER R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_MF+_-_A=+—HLEFE

RE2RAWERE (&)

LRREHEARRNEERRIBEREF
NEERBRAEEEEFERASOD
MEBARNHE ARBNEERR  =BHE
HfB AR NFBE R EERARTIE -

# ZEETRELRIMBARIRAREE -

- HZEREEHERIEDLE -

Bt IR EEERATNIMERAAR
#100,000,0007C - HE T Z_MHF+=
A=+—H AEEHKRETLEE  BEX
HAHEEE A AR #100,000,000T (2 ==
F - A8R) °

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20. EFAREE s F‘if
[ £
Leased properties
HEWE
2024 2023
—E_mE B
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR¥ETFTT
At 1 January n—H—H 780 —
Additions NE - 922
Depreciation e (300) (142)
At 31 December R+—A=+—H 480 780

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3 221



ma

For the year ended 31 December 2024

20.
A
i |
21.

BHE-_Z-_M&F+=-_A=+—HILFE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B R R AR MY AL ()

20. EREEE (&)
AT RFAARENEHEE

2024 2023
—E-WOmF —T=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETTT
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 300 142
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEARMNEER
(included in finance costs) (BEEMBKA) 81 49
Short-term lease expenses (included in cost EHAEER (B3 ER M
of services rendered, and administrative RISHIAA - RATE R
and other operating expenses) (Note) H @2 ) (M) 96,418 232,151

Note: The lease expenses were mainly incurred for the use of pile
driver, excavator, drilling machine and other machineries
used during the construction projects.

Details of total cash outflow for leases are set out in note
32(b).

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

PG REE

Share of net assets

Wi HEERTERRERLEAA I MEE
FITHEH - R - B R MR
mELR

HER SR ARAENNH E32(b) B E -

21.
2024 2023
—®-lmE —F-=
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR®T AR®ETT
30,886 29,917

Details of the Group’s associate as at 31 December 2024
and 2023 are as follows:

Particulars of

Place of issued sharing
incorporation/ capital/paid-up
Name establishment capital
SR AR 3L/
8 FR L3t B BRITRAFE
China Railway First Group East The PRC RMB11,500,000
China Construction
Engineering Co., Ltd.
(“CRFG Construction”)
FE-REEERERIREEARAF FH AR#11,500,0007T

([ERER)

222 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED g/EZRERAR

AEEBECERN _FT_NFER_FT—_=
F+_A=+—B&=HBEOT :

Equity interests attributable

to the Group Principal activities

KEE LR E TEEK
2024 2023
“E-MEF —T=F
45% 45% Provision of
construction and
related services
45% 45% HRUEERRIEH

k7%



21.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A%

ARE B ER R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_ZTZ-_M&E+_A=+—HItEE

)28

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED) 21. BELEER (E)
The following table shows information on the associate that NTHEBENANEEERN 2 BHEDEER -
is material to the Group. The associate is accounted for bRE B TSR R A RE 2 R B 2 D FEAEBR TS
in the consolidated financial statements using the equity BRIE - TR RELM B ER B &6
method. The summarised financial information presented FIRBEBR B RRERROTEHRE -
is based on the IFRS financial statements of the associate
prepared in accordance with IFRSs.
B
CRFG Construction
ERER
2024 2023
—E-OF —T=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARMT T
At 31 December: Rt+=—A=+—8":
Non-current assets IERBEE 54,762 57,821
Current assets mENEE 95,569 62,254
Current liabilities mEEE (81,695) (53,593) L.
[«
Net assets FEE 68,636 66,482
Group’s share of carrying amount ZN£2 [ A {5 #E 25 R E (B
of interests 30,886 29,917
CRFG Construction
ERER
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARKETTT
Year ended 31 December HEt+-_BA=+—RHI&EE
Revenue WA 152,732 47,435
Profit after income tax B TS5 AR 1& K1) E 2,154 645
Other comprehensive income H b 2 R s — —
Total comprehensive income 2EN R B 2,154 645
Dividend received from an W B Bt i 1 2R B
associate — -

As at 31 December 2024, the bank balances of the
Group’s associate in the PRC amounted to approximately
RMB36,332,000 (2023: RMB7,113,000). The remittance of
these funds out of the PRC is subject to the rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by
the PRC government.

R-ZEBE-_WNME+-_A=+—8 K&H
BMECEEPRRRAZBRITHRENEA
R#36,332,000 L (ZE_=%F: AR
7,113,0007T) °» ZE & ¢ EH P HBERNAEE
5P AR B AT B 4 B SNEE B AR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-T-_MF+-_A=+—HILtFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

22. EFREMEBKRRE

2024 2023
—E-_NE —E-=4F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR% T AR¥ETTT
Trade receivables, retention receivables EWESEXN - BEWRES
and bills receivables FMEKRREE
Trade receivables fEUE FER R 214,407 301,138
Loss allowance E BB (88,723) (75,702)
125,684 225,436
Retention receivables e W AR [E & 52,630 40,851
Loss allowance B R (286) (100)
52,344 40,751
Bills receivables W EE 2,586 3,786
Loss allowance E BB (2,586) (2,624)
— 1,162
178,028 267,349
Other receivables H 1t & WK
Construction contracts performance BESHBORBER RIEE
guarantees and deposits for tender RES 56,712 34,832
Receivables for demolition expenses paid in & W& {5 & 5} 18
advance — 32,075
Amount due from an associate JE B & 1 SRR
(note 36(a)(ii)) (K15£36(a)(ii)) 20,379 28,403
Others HAth 55,542 52,830
132,633 148,140
Loss allowance B R (16,455) (18,320)
116,178 129,820
Prepayments and deposits EARMERE
Advance to suppliers and other TE A P S EL M TR AT 5K
prepayments 76,882 219,128
Rental deposits HERS 98 96
76,980 219,224
Total e 371,186 616,393
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ARE B ER R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_MF+_-_A=+—HLEFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 22. EZ Kk H{tEWFIE (&)
Trade receivables, retention receivables and bills BREZER  BRRE S REREEE
receivables represented the construction contracts and REREBBERERE ORI RS EK
rendering of services receivables from the customers at EPRIE AEEEXPHNESBEREE
each of the reporting dates. The Group’s trading terms with RS KRR o AN 55 B B AR 22 il AR Wk
its customers are mainly based on the contract terms. The B EWEIE - URMEEERR - XRARES
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding EHET B AR -
receivables to minimise the credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by the directors of the Company.
The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other REBEWE SR EAMmEKFIARTER S
receivables is all denominated in RMB. UAREEETE ©
The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the BEEZELIRENS QGRIEL RN E
contract terms for the works certified, net of loss allowance, WEZEFBERERREKEZERNE
is as follows: BT
2024 2023
—E-gE —E-=4F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR% Tt ARETTT
0 to 90 days 0E 90X 41,844 87,250
91 to 180 days 91E 180k 14,753 4,892
181 to 365 days 181E 365K 2,818 41,430
Over 1 year but less than 2 years 1FE A EBEDR2F 9,620 26,413
Over 2 years but less than 3 years 2F LA FIBDR3E 10,823 28,440
Over 3 years 3FELE 45,826 37,011
125,684 225,436
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_ZT_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The aging analysis of retention receivables is as follows:

22. EFREMEBRE

XIE (48)
JEURIRE € MRE DT ¢

2024 2023

—E-@OmF —E_=F

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR%T T ARETT

Not yet due REIHA 37,697 30,055
Within 1 year 1F R 3,558 1,506
Over 1 year but less than 2 years 1FE A EBDR2F 2,205 2,150
Over 2 years but less than 3 years 2F LA FBEADR3E 8,884 7,040
52,344 40,751

The gross balances of trade receivables and retention TEEHE —F A LN E R B 5 e IR

receivables that are expected to be recovered after more
than one year are approximately RMB118,957,000 and
RMB41,254,000, respectively (2023: RMB131,295,000 and
RMB30,055,000).

Details of information about the exposure to credit risk and

ECL for trade and other receivables are set out in note

6(b).

226 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED g/EZRERAF

FEVRESNERSRBERED FIOEA
R #118,957,000 7cH0 A R ¥ 41,254,000 7T
T =4 AR¥131,295,0007TF A
R #30,055,0007T) °
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23.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) o
o0
fRE B R R MY R (4]) %

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE-F-MEt-A=1 ALEE

CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23. BHEE EHEE
Contract assets EHEE
2024 2023
—E-MF —EZ=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 &
AR¥F T AR®EF T :
Arising from performance under EAA "
— construction contracts — EEAEY 1,209,041 1,207,686
— maintenance services — MR 5,411 529
1,214,452 1,208,215
Loss allowance a1 (56,224) (32,844)
1,158,228 1,175,371
Comprising: B/iE .
Unbilled revenue of construction contracts KRB EEEA L 1,152,828 1,174,842 feal
Unbilled revenue of maintenance services oK A BS 4 RE RS 5,400 529 ?i'- %
1,158,228 1,175,371
Amounts relating to contract assets are balances due from HENEERBNSESEERASEIRE

customers under construction contracts that arise when
the Group recognised contract revenue from customers
in line with a series of performance related milestones.
Contract revenue for maintenance services is recognised
until the maintenance services are complete and therefore
a contract asset is recognised over the period in which
the maintenance services are performed to represent the
Group’s right to consideration for the services transferred
to date.

No revenue is recognised during the year from
performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied)
in previous period.

The amount of contract assets that is expected to be
recovered after more than one year is approximately
RMB1,032,703,000 (2023: RMB1,022,053,000).

Details of information about the exposure to credit risk and
ECL for contract assets are set out in note 6(b).

— R EBENAMNIAR BREEERES

BRWAR - B K E SN EYERR &
%E MRS & DU ATE M E RIS AR

B Ak EREERBATHERRAR
BE URFASEHERGEZAHNE
EAE -

AERLBHARBAMACEIT (LD
BIT) BRRTRMA -

BB - FREENENEESBEOR

AR#1,032,703,0007C (CE-=F: AR
#1,022,053,0007T ) °
BHEAYBEMEENEBRRM O KL
TEHEE BB FAE S H N E6(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_ZT_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

23. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23. BHEE EHEE A
(CONTINUED)

Contract liabilities EREE
2024 2023
=F-mE —F=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AREBT AREEFTT

Billings in advance of performance BITEBHIRAIEE

obligation

— construction contracts — BEE54 37,347 66,733

— maintenance services — HER 2,422 —

39,769 66,733

Contract liabilities relating to construction contracts are HBEZESNEANGRNEGRERNER
balances due to customers under construction contracts. RIFEES ARIRREE - IREFE EIRE NGB
These arise if a particular milestone payment exceeds the B S BIERIBRAEREEROLA -
revenue recognised to date under the cost-to-cost method. AlgEAE LT -
Movements in contract liabilities: EHEEES :

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%T T AR®ETTT

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of EFJFABRKIEE -
recognising revenue during the year was ARG & A R A

included in the contract liabilities at the MEBR L& NEE

beginning of the year (51,011) (87,095)
The amount of contract liabilities that is expected to be EHHE—FAL&ENERAESEOA
settled within one year is approximately RMB28,741,000 AR#28,741,000L (ZEZ=F : AR¥
(2023: RMB51,011,000). 51,011,0007T) ©

228 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED &/EZERERATF



24.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE B R R MY R (4])

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_MF+_-_A=+—HLEFE

_—_'."A:%%

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK AND CASH 24. SR4ISBTEF SHITRELE
BALANCES
2024 2023
—E-E —T-=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT Y
Restricted bank deposits (Note (i) PR B RIT R (M2 (1)) 117,898 — i
Bank and cash balances: RIT RIS B4R -
Cash at banks and on hand (Note (ii) RITIRE LFEIRS \
(K7 (i) 272,665 259,598 t
Deposits with initial terms of ML ERR BB =1 A NFER
over three months 167,000 156,500
439,665 416,098
557,563 416,098
Note (i): As at 31 December 2024, bank balances amounting to Batd) : R=ZZTZWF+=_A=+—1 ' R174

BRA A R #5117,898,0007T R Al AR 2
RNEETIZIAR

i) W—F-_=F+"A=+—H R
ﬁ?ﬁzﬁAE%7026OOOE/\HEﬁHEA§$
wNIEETRIER -

approximately RMB117,898,000 are restricted for use in
construction and building works projects.

Note (ii). As at 31 December 2023, bank balances amounting to
approximately RMB7,026,000 were restricted for use in
construction and building works projects.

R-ZE-_NME+—-A=+—H AEEYH
}\Eﬁ%sﬂmooom:z:_i AR
#415,149,0007T) BRI T4 54 (B35 SZRR

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank balances
including restricted bank deposits, of approximately
RMB557,112,000 (2023: RMB415,149,000) were deposited

with banks in the PRC. The remittance of these funds out RITHER) ERAFEBRARIT - ZFES
of the PRC is subject to the rules and regulations of B AR B35 P 78 8 ST AR I AT A8 46 O SN E
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC B AR

government.

The interest rates on deposits with initial terms over three MR BER=—EANTRIRNEE=S =

mE+=-—A= + Etif‘ﬁﬁiﬂ <A F
1.4%FE21% (ZBE_=F 1.7%5E3.4%) °

months were 1.4% to 3.4% (2023: 1.7% to 3.4%) per
annum for the year ended 31 December 2024.

AEEZRHBITERRIBITRASE
B RREE A THIE R EHE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s restricted bank
deposits and bank and cash balances are denominated in
the following currencies:

2023
—E-=4F

RMB’000

AREEFTT

RMB AR¥E 557,124 415,365
HK$ BT 438 732
Us$ ETT 1 1
557,563 416,098
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBERRME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_A=1+—HBLL=EE

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. R
The Company
b N/N|
No. of
ordinary
shares Amount
EBERMEE S8
‘000 HK$'000 RMB’000
T TET ARETRT
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, R=—ZT—_=F—H—H"
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 “E-=F+-A8
=+—H -ZZZ@mF
—A—BR=-T-mE
+=-A=+—H 2,000,000 20,000 17,733
Issued and fully paid: ERTRERE:
S At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, RZEZ=F—H—H"
e, 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 “T-=F+_-AH
’ =t+-B -2-mf
—A—BER-T-m&
+=ZA=+—8 618,502 6,185 5,487

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maximise the return to the shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to
risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue new
shares, buy-back shares, raise new debts, redeem existing
debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group reviews the capital structure frequently by
considering the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. The Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debts, redemption of existing debts or selling
assets to reduce debts.
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AEBEREANBERNEBEB(CERE
BN FERRERNEERFELEHEES
R RAERBR @

AEERBEERKREEATHE AKEHE
BEAER  UYRELERINZ(CME
BREEMNRRFEETHE - BEFNH
BEARGEE  AEEATHEREXNMN - BT
AL - EREAD - BRMES - BERAR
5k & & B DAR AME R o
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25.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total debt (comprising
lease liabilities and borrowings) divided by total equity
attributable to the owners of the Company. The gearing
ratios as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

25.

ARE B ER R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_ZTZ-_M&E+_A=+—HItEE

B ()

AEBRBEABBULEREZHEER -3
ERTmAaE(BREEEREREN) K
AARRREBEANEBIEEREFE -R-F
TMER—F_=ZF+t-_A=1T—HWE
ABELRMT

;l\ft

2024 2023
—E-MF —EZ=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AR®ET T

Lease liabilities HEAE 535 841
Borrowings & 548,700 675,702
Total debt BEAR 549,235 676,543
Total equity attributable to the owners of RNRRGER AL EER

the Company 998,283 970,970
Gearing ratio BERBEHEZE 55% 70%

The Group overall strategy of gearing remains unchanged
during the year. The decrease in gearing ratio was mainly
due to the repayment of certain amount of borrowings in
current year.

FASENEREERERIEIE &
EREENTRIZRHANAEFEEET
—TEHREMER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_ZT_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

26.

RARNMBRARKHFEEED

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (a) AT2XFART=ZA=+-—HEHBEMRRE
as at 31 December
2023
—EZ=F
Notes RMB‘OOO
Bz ARET T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R BRARHIKRE 19 —* —*
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H {th e U 5RI8 228 —
Amounts due from subsidiaries A ENGIE S 421,366 424,259
Bank balances SR1T 4554 836 893
422,430 425,152
TOTAL ASSETS EEHAE 422,430 425152
EQUITY B
Equity attributable to the owners KR AI#EA AR
of the Company
Share capital [N 25 5,487 5,487
Reserves 1 26(b) 415,990 418,506
Total equity RSP 421,477 423,993
LIABILITIES 8E
Current liabilities RBEE
Accruals and other payables FERT B PR R B FE (S 5k 953 1,159
953 1,159
TOTAL EQUITY EEkEEHEE
AND LIABILITIES 422,430 425,152

- Less than RMB1,000

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March
2025 and were signed on its behalf by:

Peng Yonghui
%K IE
Director

EF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Reserve movement of the Company

A%

ARE B ER R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_ZTZ-_M&E+_A=+—HItEE

)28

26. ARFNHBRREREFHEESD ()

(b) FRFRRFBEEE

Share  Accumulated !
premium losses Total §
B 13 % 8 Rt BB et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 i

ARETT ARETT AREFT

27. RESERVES

(M)

(i)

At 1 January 2023 W-B-=#-A-R 457,366 (36,050) 421,316

Total comprehensive loss for the year A2 EKHEE — (2,810) (2,810)

At 31 December 2023 W-B-=f+-A=+—8H 457,366 (38,860) 418,506

At 1 January 2024 R-ZE-_W&E—A—H 457,366 (38,860) 418,506

Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ FRAZE K EEE - (2,516) (2,516) L -

[«
At 31 December 2024 RZTE-_WFE+=-A=+—H 457,366 (41,376) 415,990
27.
Other reserve (i) HfFE

Other reserve arose as a result of the group
reorganisation and represents the difference between
the consideration of repurchase of equity interests
in Chanhigh Construction by Chanhigh HK over the
registered capital of Chanhigh Construction.

Statutory surplus reserve

The statutory surplus reserve, which is
non-distributable, is appropriated from the profit after
income tax of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries (except
where the reserve balance has reached 50% of the
paid-up capital of the respective enterprises) under
the applicable laws and regulations in the PRC.

HtFERASEEEAMELE R SRS
FEEERBERRENKERRS
EREMEAR ZHMEE -

(i) ZEEEBHRREE

AEBBRETANIK - JIRET E
BRERMERBAEETEKNE
RERRR PTG IEE R AP BT - BR3F
RESREDEERCENENELRN
50% °

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 F£3# 233



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_A=1+—HBLL=EE

28. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 28. BEZENRERESERE
The aging analysis of trade and bills payables, based on BZRNFBERENEERZKEREY A
the date of receipt of goods, is as follows: RERER DT ¢
2024 2023
—E-IEF —T=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARKETTT
0 to 90 days 0E90K 60,002 96,355
91 to 180 days 91EF 180k 25,900 39,593
181 to 365 days 181E 365K 83,419 83,214
Over 1 year but less than 2 years 1FE A EEDR2F 74,766 77,132
Over 2 years but less than 3 years 2F LA FBEDRIE 43,015 55,606
Over 3 years 3ELE 98,738 54,724
385,840 406,624
The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and bills AEEBESRENFRBRENEENERETDE
payables are all denominated in RMB. IAAREEETE -
29. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 29. ErEARHEMEMNKE

2024 2023

ZE-NF —T=F

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARETTT

Accrued staff costs fEst 8 TR 21,478 31,395
Accrued expenses FEETRX 4,652 4,178
Other tax payables H b fET AR 7,075 5,478
Deposits from suppliers HERIZS 8,192 22,963
41,397 64,014
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—_Z-_NME+_-_A=+—RAILtEE

30. LEASE LIABILITIES 30. HEEE

Present value

Minimum of minimum
lease lease
payments payments
REHRE

REHEX M XRE
2024 2024
—ENE —E-mEF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR%®TR ARBT R

Within one year —FR 387 332
More than one year, —FAEETBB-F
but not exceeding two years 209 203
596 535
Less: future finance charges M AR IEA (61) N/A R~EH
Present value of lease obligations MEAERE 535 —
Less: amount due for settlement within MR : tZEARNENESE
12 months (shown under current liabilities)  (ZIR AREBAE) (332)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months + AR B EN S5
(shown under non-current liabilities) FIRBIERBEER) 203
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_A=1+—HBLL=EE

30. LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 30. HEES®E (HE)
Present value
of minimum
Minimum lease lease
payments payments
=EMEE
REBEELZ S HEE
2023 2023
—ZE-=F —EC-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTT

Within one year —F A 382 301
More than one vyear, —FUEERNBB=F
but not exceeding two years 588 540
970 841
Less: future finance charges k- RARP TG A (129) N/A i
Present value of lease obligations HEAERE 841 —
Less: amount due for settlement within HER - T ZEARNENESE
12 months (shown under current liabilities) — (BII/R&REN & &) (301)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months + =B REE & E

(shown under non-current liabilities) GIRAERBEE) 540
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied HE_ZT-_NF+-_A=+—HIFEE
to lease liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2024 BREEBENMEFEIEE ERFAER
was 12% (2023: 12%). 12% (Z B = =4 : 12%) o
All lease liabilities are denominated in HKS. FIEHEaEREERBT
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31.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE B R R MY R (4])

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_MF+_-_A=+—HLEFE

%

BORROWINGS 31. X
2024 2023
—E-mE —E=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR% Tt ARKETTT y
[ |
Bank borrowings RITEX 548,700 675,702
!
The borrowings are repayable as follows: FEEEMERADT ¥
Within one year —FURN 548,700 573,700 \
More than one year, —F LA BB M {
but not exceeding two years — 21,000 \
More than two years, M LA _EB R R
but not exceeding five years — 63,000
More than five years RERE — 18,002
548,700 675,702
Less: Amount due for settlement B 1218 A R B EE R
within 12 months (shown under FIEGIRREBE “\ﬁ;
current liabilities) HT) (548,700) (573,700) -

' VEl

Amount due for settlement after 12 months
(shown under non-current liabilities)

1218 A & 2 B (B8 1) 3R

BIRIERBEE) — 102,002

The carrying amount of the Group’s borrowings is
denominated in RMB.

AREBFRHOEAEAARBE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_A=1+—HBLL=EE

31.

238 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The average interest rate per annum at 31 December is
as follows:

Bank borrowings BITE

31.

RTZA=+t—HANFEFHXRMT :

2024 2023
—ENE —E_=fF
4.08% 4.38%

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings of
RMB548,700,000 (2023: RMB675,702,000) were carried at
floating rates and expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. Bank borrowings of RMB497,700,000 (2023:
RMB497,700,000) were secured by a corporate guarantee
from a related company, Chanhigh Holdings Group Limited
("CHHG") of RMB520,000,000 (2023: RMB560,000,000),
the remaining bank borrowings of RMB51,000,000 (2023:
RMB56,000,000) are secured by guarantees of the
directors of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, bank borrowings of
RMB122,002,000 are secured by a corporate guarantee
that provided by a subsidiary of the Group, Chanhigh
Construction, with the maximum guarantee amount of
RMB254,000,000.

RBERERAT

R-ZE-WME+-A=+—H KEEH
R1TE A AR ¥548,700,0007T (— & =
=4 AR¥675,702,0007T) * IRFEFR
R SASEEBEEEREFNERRAR -
IRITERAREE497 - 700,700 (==
£ AR#497,700,0007T) B B EE A TR
BIEREEERAR(ASERER] IR
HZEER ARKS520,000,000T(=ZZ =
=4 AR¥560,000,0007T) * 4 FRITE
HKARMES51,000000(ZTE=-=4%:
AR #56,000,00070) AR A= BRER
AEHEAR o

R-_BE-=%+-A=+—8 #H7&
AR #122,002,0007T B A EBE A — K
MBARASERRELCERERARE
254,000,0007T ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) A
- 80 L.
RS B I IR R MY (4]) R\

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_T-_ME+-_A=+—ALFE —

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 32. SREHRE&EREBXRMFE

CASH FLOWS ¢
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (a) BIETBHELENEEHE
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s TRAMBETHERNAEEEE
liabilities arising from financing activities, including e EHEeRIFRSEH - BE
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising EHELENEBARNAEBGERS
from financing activities are those for which cash MERNDEARBTHMERERE
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in MR eRESRRRERENEE -

the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as
cash flows from financing activities.

At Interest At

1 January Financing expenses 31 December
2024 cash flows (note 10) Additions 2024

S

hiS —E2R-QmEF

—EomE FEMX +=A
—A—H BMERESR (HtzE10) 40 Eqr=1g
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR¥T R AR¥TR AR¥ET R AR¥ET R AR¥T R

Bank borrowings RITERK
(note 31) (H15£31) 675,702 (149,792) 22,790 - 548,700
Lease liabilities HEBE
(note 30) (K1a£30) 841 (387) 81 — 535
676,543 (150,179) 22,871 - 549,235
At Interest At
1 January Financing expenses 31 December
2023 cash flows (note 10) Additions 2023
» —T-=%F
—TZ=F FEFAZ +=A
—A—H BERER (FzE10) & Eqr=l=
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTIT
Bank borrowings RITIE K
(note 31) (H1E£31) 666,002 (19,488) 29,188 — 675,702
Lease liabilities HEEME
(note 30) (H7a£30) — (130) 49 922 841

666,002 (19,618) 29,237 922 676,543
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

mn HE—T-NE+-A=t+—HILFE
S

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 32.
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Total cash outflows for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of

FeaRERERME (&)

(b) HERSRESE
BehkireRenskPNEERS

\‘a cash flows for leases comprise the following: MEREMT -

i)

2024 2023

1 =t ELEl -z

i RMB’ 000 RMB’'000

| AR TR ARBFTT

Within operating cash flows BEEKLERTRN 96,418 233,109

Within financing cash flows BEERERER 306 81

96,724 233,190

These amounts relate to the lease payments.

*" | 33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 33.
Contingent liabilities in respect of legal claims

A subsidiary of the Group is defendant in a number of
claims, lawsuits and potential claims relating to employees’
compensation cases and personal injuries claims related
to construction contracts. After due consideration of each
case and with reference to the legal advice, historical
records, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
such existing claims and legal proceedings against the
Group have no material financial impact to the Group as
at 31 December 2024.

34. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 34.

The Group as lessee regularly entered into short-term
leases for office equipment and offices. The lease
commitments for those short-term leases are similar to the
short-term lease expenses recognised for the year. The
corresponding short-term lease expenses of the portfolio
of short-term leases during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 were disclosed in note 20.
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35.

36.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Except for disclosed in elsewhere, the Group did not have
any significant capital commitments as at 31 December
2024 and 2023.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to those related party transactions and
balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with its related parties during the year:

(i) Related party transactions

Rental expenses and building
management fee paid to
a related company

ARE B ER R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_MF+_-_A=+—HLEFE

35. BEARKIE

BREFEEIN RZZE_MFR_T_=F
+—A=+—H AEEETFHEREARN
FRHE o

36. BHAIXS

(a) BRMBEMREMEBOMERENZER
B RS REHRI  AEERFAD
HHBM A ETATRS

XNTHEBARNES
A RETERE

() BBLIXS
2024 2023
—®-lF —T-=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETT
739 883

Peng Family is interested in the transactions
above to the extent they are ultimate beneficial
shareholders of the related company.

TRREERFY REE QA
M REESZEROBR TR E
MR AR

(ii) Related party balance (i) BTG EER
2024 2023
—E-lmEF —T=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREETTT
Amount due from an associate & U & > E FA
(note 22) (HtzE22) 20,379 28,403
Loss allowance a1 (7,743) (10,792)
12,636 17,611

The balance as at 31 December 2024 and
2023 is unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

T BE_Z-_WNFT_A=T+—HIEEE
S

37.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R MBHRRME ()

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 36. BHL XS (&)
(b)  The remuneration of directors and other members of (b) RERN EFREMFEEEAEN
key management during the years is as follows: T
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBET T
Salaries and other benefits e Rk EMER 818 603
Retirement benefit scheme RIRTEFET & 5K
contributions 94 93
912 696
(¢) The related company, CHHG has guaranteed () RZZE-WF+=—A=+—QH @
bank borrowings made to the Group totalling NERBEREBRETAREEAR
RMB497,700,000 (2023: RMB497,700,000) at TEREREF AR 497,700,000
31 December 2024. CHHG is related to the Group to T(ZZE = =% : AR® 497,700,000
the extent that Peng Family are the ultimate beneficial TL) o BEIEREEERNEBEEE
shareholders of CHHG (note 31). HAATRREAEZKE SRR (M
#£31) °
(d) Peng Daosheng and Peng Yonghui, the directors (d) RZZEZWOF+—A=+—8H AR
of the Company, have guaranteed bank borrowings AIESFTEAENZKERNERE R
made to the Group totalling RMB51,000,000 (2023: AR #51,000,000C(=ZF ==
RMB56,000,000) as at 31 December 2024 (note 31). A R #56,000,0007t) R 17 & ZUR i
R (H3E31) -
COMPARATIVE FIGURES 37. LEREE

Certain comparative figures have been represented to
conform with current year’s presentation.
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“Acting-in-Concert
Confirmation”

[—HiTEERE]
“‘AGM”
[BRBEANE]

“Articles of Association”

(AR E A2 4R

“associate(s)”

(B EA

“Audit Committee”

[B%EREe
“Auditor”
K% Gl

“Board Committees”

=

“Board of Directors” or
“Board”
=30

“BVI
[(RBRELEHS]

“Cayman Islands
Companies Law”

[FEERRNE]

“CG Code”
[{EER<FA

Definitions

e

an acting-in-concert confirmation dated 20 March 2011 executed by Mr. Peng
YH, Mr. Peng TB, Mr. Peng DS and Ms. Wang SF whereby the Peng Family
confirmed that, inter alia, it has a common control and influence on the
management, operations and voting rights of Chanhigh Construction and its
subsidiaries

HEKEBEEE ZREAE ZEELRERTFEZFLEE _LE']E!HHﬁ'jfT__i
ZSAZTHO—BTIHIAE  BUZRIGER (KT EE) HHYREERLE
MBARKER LERRERBEEARZEHLTE

the annual general meeting of the Company

ARBNBRRBFRE

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time
KARERTNARREZEIRZAE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

HB ETRAE FZANRE

audit committee of the Company, comprising all the independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan lap Ip, Mr. Shi Weixing and Mr. Yang
Zhongkai

RAARBEZREZEG  AEBBEIERNTEREK IR ESLE  HMEELRER
Bl &

Linksfield CPA Limited
SEERETAEHEMBERAA

the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Strategy Committee
%*Z /\E ﬁFﬁMl;/\E ?E%é/\a Eg;%

i3

the board of Directors

59

the British Virgin Islands
REBRELHS

the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands

FEREARFR2E(RAEN—NRN—FFRIFED - KERA RIER)

Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
FHRAETEOEREPEE AT
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A

Definitions (Continued)

B (3

“Chanhigh Construction”

IR

“Chanhigh HK”

REEE]

“Chanhigh Investments”

RBRE]

“CHHG”

REEREE ]

“China” or “PRC”

[

“close associate(s)”
[EHBEA

“Company”

VNG

244 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Zhejiang Chanhigh Construction Limited (HTREEZRERAF]), formerly
known as Zhejiang Chanhigh Municipal Landscape Construction Limited (3#)T
BT HEMERARAR), Yin County Shanshui Landscape Engineering
Limited (88 LI7KEM TIEBBRAF]), Ningbo Shanshui Landscape Construction
Limited (2 & IL/KBEMEZR AR A7) and Ningbo Shanshui Construction
Limited (2K IL/KZEFRARAF]), a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 22 February 2001, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Chanhigh
HK and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

LA BEZER AR (AIEAMIAEMBBEMERER AT + 2 ILKEMN
ITRERAA  BRILKBEMEZERATRERILKERBRAR) » —KR
ZEEFRAFTZHAEFRBRKINBERAT  BRAEEANEENBARR
RArREEEZENB A A

Chanhigh Hong Kong Limited (&8 &% GR A H]), a limited liability company
established in Hong Kong on 30 March 2016, which is wholly-owned by
Chanhigh Investments

REBEBERAR  — KRB R"E=ZA=+BEEFERINARLIGF - AR
BRETERA

Chanhigh Investments Limited (881 & B R A7), a limited liability company
established in the BVI on 15 March 2016, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company

BEREBRAR —FRZE—"F-A+ABERBELBESKNINERA
A RARFNEENB AR

Chanhigh Holding Group Limited (/8% E B BR A F]), formerly known as
Ningbo Chanhigh Investment Ltd. (228K EHER A7) and Ningbo
Chanhigh Holding Group Ltd. (A EIZEREEBR AR, a limited liability
company established in the PRC on 26 April 2005, which is owned as to 30%
by Mr. Peng TB, 20% by Mr. Peng DS and 50% by Ms. Wang SF, and a
connected person of the Company

BEEREBEERAR (AIBRERAEREARAFRERABEREEFR
AR KR ZEZERFMNA -+ RNBEFEKINEGRAR] - AZRELE -
TREAERERTESZIHEE30%  20% M50% s - ARNARIBEAL

the People’s Republic of China, which for geographical reference only,
excludes Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the
People’s Republic of China and Taiwan

PEARKENE  HHMEBEL2EMNS  TREES -

ol AN
YN E=

g AR AR BDR P4 BITT IR

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB ETRAE FZFANKE

Chanhigh Holdings Limited (B/&IEREMR A F]), an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 1 April 2016
BEERBRAR  —ZR_ZE-—AR"FOHA-BEREHETMKXINEREE
(NG

REBERERAR



“connected person(s)”

[BAEAL]
“Controlling

Shareholder(s)”
[ RR IR 3R ]

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“EIT”
[ XMREH

“EIT Law”
[ EHA]

“ESG”
R EER]

“‘ESG Guide”

[REEEEIRIES

“ESG Report”
[REHGE RS

“Global Offering”
[2IREE]

“Group”
[R&EHE |

“Hong Kong” or “HK”
&%)

“Hong Kong dollars”,
“HK$” or “HKD”
[l

“Hong Kong Share
Registrar”

[BEEHET LR

“Listing”
=

Definitions (Continued)

B (3

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB R T % e R &
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and unless the context
requires otherwise, refers to the Peng Family, Vast Base and TEUR

AEBLETMRAMETZANBENRGEXESEMEIN  AIEZRKER  EREERE

the director(s) of the Company
KRRES

the PRC Enterprise Income Tax

BT PSR
the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (FZEARKEMBLEMERZE), as
amended or supplemented from time to time

(PEARKMBEEEMBRZE) @ BTEEFTRAER

Environmental, Social and Governance

R g RER

Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide”

EmRAMES -+ ECGRE L2 RERREIES)

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE g RERWE

the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Placing
ERAABENRBEREE

the Company and its subsidiaries

ARRFREWBE AT

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
FEBEBFENTHR

Hong Kong dollars and cents, respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
D RIEEREE BB TR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
BEBPREAZELCLARAA

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
PR An B 3Z AT £ AR TR
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A

Definitions (Continued)

B (3

“Listing Rules”
[ Em AR A

“Main Board”
[ F 4]
“Model Code”
[fRZE<P Al

“Mr. Peng DS”

[ZEE KL

“Mr. Peng TB”

EZ S

“Mr. Peng YH”

ZKERAE

“Ms. Wang SF”

[FRZFLt]

“Nomination Committee”

[fREZEE

“Peng Family”

EZEN

“PRC government”

[ BB

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

B FRE S LA A

the stock market (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operated in parallel with GEM
B PTEENRETS (TREHAETS) - BUNGEMBEHE FITEE

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
FHARAIME TS ETRITAESETERR HNIRESTA

Mr. Peng Daosheng (¥3i&4), the founder and an executive Director, a
member of the Peng Family, spouse of Ms. Wang SF, and father of Mr. Peng
TB and Mr. Peng YH

Bl ARNITESZEE RS
B 525K 8 5 A B SRR

ZRREKKE ETRFLIHRBRZREEE

Mr. Peng Tianbin (¥K3#l), an executive Director and chairman of the
Company, a member of the Peng Family, son of Mr. Peng DS and Ms. Wang
SF, and brother of Mr. Peng YH
ARRAITEEREIFZRBEE
RFARZKEEENRL

ZRRGKE ZBEAERERFLLHN

Mr. Peng Yonghui (¥7K}), an executive Director and chief executive officer
of the Company, a member of the Peng Family, son of Mr. Peng DS and Ms.
Wang SF, and brother of Mr. Peng TB
RABMITESRITRARZ ABLEE -
TH R F R RZ R K LN

ZRREKKE ZEBEXERTIRFX

Ms. Wang Sufen (£Z%7%5), a non-executive Director, a member of the Peng
Family, spouse of Mr. Peng DS, and mother of Mr. Peng TB and Mr. Peng YH
FBTEETTRSZL T TREBEKE TEETENRRG  ZREEERZK
1R W R

nomination committee of the Company, comprising two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Shi Weixing and Mr. Yang Zhongkai and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Peng YH

ARFIRABEZE S AMEBBUIFNTEFTHRBZLERGHILEAR—BH
TEEZ B EEK

Mr Peng DS, Ms. Wang SF, Mr. Peng TB and Mr. Peng YH
BESE  FEHFLLT  ZRERERZKELE

the government of the PRC including all political subdivisions (including

provincial, municipal and other regional or local government entities) and their

instrumentalities thereof or, where the context requires, any of them

TEBAT  BEMBEBADXHB(BFEEAR TRAREMRIM T RAFEE)
R EARM - AN EFTE - B ER—IE
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“PTB Family Trust”

[EZZSUEN S

“PYH Family Trust”

[ZXIRRIEIEFE]

“Remuneration Committee”

(FrEE e

“RMB” or “Renminbi”

AR

“SFC”

(g

“SFO”

&7 MR RA

“Share(s)”
[ ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ A% 2R

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bk 22 Py |

“Strategy Committee”

[(REEZE S

“subsidiary(ies)”
GENEN

Definitions (Continued)

B (3

The Peng Tian Bin Family Trust, a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Peng YH,
the beneficiaries of which shall include Mr. Peng TB and his descendants
who carry the “PENG” (¥) surname

ERBRGET AT KEEERINEEER XEaABBZREEERA
[ 1185

The Peng Yong Hui Family Trust, a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Peng YH,
the beneficiaries of which shall include Mr. Peng YH and his descendants
who carry the “PENG” (¥) surname

ZXBREETR AT KBEEERINEEER XEaABERZXERERA
[ 1185

remuneration committee of the Company, comprising two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Yang Zhongkai and Mr. Shi Weixing and one
executive Director namely Mr. Peng TB

ARBFWEE S HMEBLFATESLHILTENREHELEAR B
TEFZRMEEEK

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

PEOEEERARE

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong
EREFIHNEEBERTES

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BERED BN E(EF RBRERODETRERT - R IAE AT )

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company

AR B RO AR ) 5 A

holder(s) of the Share(s)
ERESEEDN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERMARXIBR AT

strategy committee of the Company, comprising two executive Directors,
namely Mr. Peng TB and Mr. Peng YH, and one independent non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Chan Lap Ip

RARAFIRBEES  AMBRTEFTZRBRERZKEREAR—ZBIIEH
TERRURTEEK

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BB EWRAETZANRE
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Definitions (Continued)

B (3

“substantial

shareholder(s)”

[EERR]

“TEUR”

[REE]

“Trustee”

[ZFEA

“Vast Base”

[V&72 ]

“Year”

[AEE ]

“YZ1B”

EZNFS-

wop»
[ %]

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BB ETRAE FRANEE

TEUR Holdings Limited (R&#ERRBRAR]), a company incorporated under
the laws of BVI with limited liability on 15 March 2016, and is wholly-owned
by Mr. Peng YH as the Trustee of the PTB Family Trust

REFERBERAR  — KR ZEBE—R"F-AThHERBREBRE XS EEZMK
YHERARF  AZERBREEENXTEAZKELE2ERSR

Mr. Peng YH, the trustee of the PYH Family Trust and the PTB Family Trust
CAKEBEREEEREZRBREETENRTAZKIELE

Vast Base Investments Limited (&123#% & HGR A7), a company incorporated
under the laws of BVI with limited liability on 15 March 2016, and is wholly-
owned by Mr. Peng YH as the Trustee of the PYH Family Trust
ERREBRAR — KR ZE—RNF-A+AERBERBELES AETMEK
VHBRARF AT KEBEREEENXTEAZKELELZERESR

the year ended 31 December 2024
HEZZ-_NME+_A=+—RHLFE

Ningbo Yinzhou Tianbin Trading Limited (EFEMEMRXEEZESHERAF), a
company owned as to 90.18% by CHHG and as to 9.82% by Ms. Wang SF
ERMBMAREESBRAR —HHRAESEREEREIZSZTHAESR
90.18% [ 9.82% X #EH) A &

per cent.
Bkt
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